Essays on Finance and Labor Markets

by

Alex Xi He

B.A., Tsinghua University (2013)

Submitted to the Department of Economics in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

at the

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

June 2019

(c) Alex Xi He, MMXIX. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium now known or hereafter created.

Signature redacted





.

77 Massachusetts Avenue Cambridge, MA 02139 http://libraries.mit.edu/ask

DISCLAIMER NOTICE

The pagination in this thesis reflects how it was delivered to the Institute Archives and Special Collections.

Essays on Finance and Labor Markets

by

Alex Xi He

Submitted to the Department of Economics on May 9, 2019, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Abstract

This thesis consists of three chapters in corporate finance and labor economics. The first two chapters study the interaction of the financial sector and labor market, and the last chapter focuses on corporate R&D investment.

The first chapter (co-authored with Daniel le Maire) studies how the market for corporate control disciplines managers who pay high wages. We construct a manager-firm-worker matched panel data set covering the population of Denmark from 1995 to 2011 and develop a framework to measure manager styles in wage-setting by tracking workers and managers across different firms over time. We find that individual managers do matter for wages, and variation in manager fixed effects can explain a significant part of wage differences between firms. Using a comprehensive sample of over 3000 M&As, we show that mergers target high-paying managers and reduce wage premiums but not employment at target firms, and that the effect is stronger in less competitive industries. Establishments with high wage premiums due to generous managers are more likely to be acquired, and experience higher manager turnover and larger wage declines after acquisition. Lower wages have little effect on firms? productivity, and therefore represent a transfer from workers to shareholders. We show that increased market power in product markets or labor markets cannot account entirely for these facts. The reduction in wages accounts for about half the shareholder gains in all M&As, suggesting that rent extraction might be a major motive for merger transactions.

The second chapter (co-authored with Daniel le Maire) investigates the effects of liquidity constraints on employment and earnings by exploiting a mortgage reform in Denmark in 1992, which for the first time allowed homeowners to borrow against housing equity for non-housing purposes. Liquidity-constrained homeowners extracted housing equity, increased debt levels and experienced higher earnings growth after the reform. In contrast, the reform had little impact on employment and earnings of homeowners with high liquid asset holdings. Consistent with models of job search with risk aversion, the option to borrow against housing equity allows individuals to seek jobs that have higher earnings growth but higher unemployment risks. This effect is larger for low-income and older individuals. The results imply that relaxing liquidity constraints can increase

output, and policies restricting mortgage refinancing during economic distress may backfire in recessions.

The third chapter studies the spillovers of corporate R&D investment across different technological fields. I build a measure of technological distance between firms using the citation-based innovation network, which incorporates knowledge spillovers from upstream technological fields to downstream technological fields. I then use this measure to estimate the impact of technology spillovers using panel data on U.S. firms. I find that spillovers from firms innovating in upstream fields are quantitatively as important as spillovers from firms innovating in same fields. Consistent with the idea that firms innovate more when there is more past upstream innovation to build on, firms' R&D investments respond positively to R&D investments of firms in upstream fields, but not to R&D investments of firms in downstream fields or in the same fields. Smaller firms on average operate in more upstream technological fields and generate more spillovers and higher social returns, which is contrary to the findings of previous research.

JEL Codes: G34, J30, D22

Thesis Supervisor: David Autor Title: Ford Professor of Economics

Thesis Supervisor: Daron Acemoglu Title: Elizabeth and James Killian Professor of Economics

Acknowledgments

I am deeply indebted to my supervisors, David Autor, Daron Acemoglu and David Thesmar for their support and advice over the last six years. David Autor has started to advise me from the first day I entered the program, and his continuous presence, prompt intuition and open mind made it possible to extract the best out of me. Daron Acemoglu's breadth of knowledge and many insights have always inspired me to develop interesting research questions and have crucially influenced my thinking and research. David Thesmar's advice and comments on my work have been of great help for completing this thesis and he has more than anyone taught me to love being a finance researcher and helped me find my calling there. I feel very privileged to have worked under their supervision, and their devotion to intellectual excellence and rigorous scholarly research will inspire me throughout my career as an economist.

In addition to my supervisors, I thank Simon Jäger, Nancy Rose, Antoinette Schoar, John Van Reenen, and Mike Whinston for engaging with my research and offering valuable advice. I would like to thank Sydnee, Chen, Roman, Fei, Sophie, Brendan, Ernest, Yan and all my close companions from MIT for their friendship. Outside of MIT I thank Sabrina Howell, Tania Babina and Pian Shu for their extensive support. I would also like to thank my coauthor of the first two chapters, Daniel le Maire, who helped me get involved with the Danish administrative datasets. I'm grateful for the generous financial support from the George and Obie Shultz Fund and the Washington Center for Equitable Growth. I'm also grateful to the staff at MIT economics and Statistics Denmark for their help.

Prior to graduate school I first learned my love for economics from my undergraduate mentors at Tsinghua and UC Berkeley, including Yingyi Qian, Ping He and Stefano DellaVigna. Thank you for encouraging me to pursue economics research and for the support over the years.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my parents for bringing me up in the love for study and research, and for sending their love and support from half a world away. I am especially grateful to my soon-to-be wife, Shenlu, for always brightening my day, for being my first research assistant and my first proofreader of every project, and for sharing the ups and downs of this journey. Her

confidence in me has given me the strength to do my best in the pages that follow.

This thesis is dedicated to the memory of Cara Anne Nickolaus, whose kindness and dedication inspire me to be a better person every day.

•

Contents

1	Mergers and Managers: Manager-Specific Wage Premiums and Rent Extraction in				
	M&As				
	1.1	Introduction	1		
	1.2	Theoretical Framework	6		
	1.3	Data and Empirical Setting	11		
	1.4	Do Individual Managers Matter for Wages?	15		
	1.5	Manager Styles and Wage Changes Following M&As	24		
	1.6	Robustness	38		
	1.7	Conclusion	42		
	1.8	Figures	44		
	1.9	Tables	53		
	1.10	Appendix	72		
	1.11	Appendix Figures and Tables	77		
2	How	Does Liquidity Constraint Affect Employment and Wages? Evidence from Dan-			
	ish Mortgage Reform 97				
	2.1	Introduction	97		
	2.2	The 1992 Mortgage Reform in Denmark	02		
	2.3	Conceptual Framework	04		
	2.4	Data and Research Design	05		

	2.5	Results	111
	2.6	Mechanisms	117
	2.7	Conclusion	121
	2.8	Figures	123
3	Cor	porate R&D Spillovers and Investment in the Innovation Network	143
	3.1	Introduction	143
	3.2	The Network Measure of Technological Proximity	145
	3.3	Empirical Strategy	148
	3.4	Data	154
	3.5	Empirical results	155
	3.6	Robustness and Extensions	160
	3.7	Which Firms Generate and Receive the Largest Spillovers?	164
	3.8	Figures and Tables	169

Chapter 1

Mergers and Managers: Manager-Specific Wage Premiums and Rent Extraction in M&As

1.1 Introduction

A growing literature suggests that manager-specific preferences and styles play an important role in shaping a variety of corporate decisions (Bertrand and Schoar 2003). Some managerial preferences can lead to diverging interests between managers and value-maximizing shareholders. In particular, managers often enjoy private benefits from paying workers higher wages (Bertrand and Mullainathan 2003; Cronqvist et al. 2009). In this case, managers who tend to pay workers higher wages may result in lower shareholder value, and thus one would expect the market for corporate control to discipline those managers with non-value-maximizing styles (Manne 1965; Martin and McConnell 1991). The link between manager styles and wage setting has important implications for the labor market and corporate governance, yet we have little empirical evidence on whether there are manager-specific styles in setting wages and how market forces discipline them.

In this paper, we show that some managers are "soft" and pay all workers higher wages than

other managers conditional on productivity, and that these soft managers are the targets of mergers and acquisitions (M&As). The novel contribution of our paper is to introduce the manager dimension in wage setting and to demonstrate that it is a major driver of M&As. Manager fixed effects on wages partly explain differences in wages between firms highlighted in recent studies such as Card, Heining, and Kline (2013) and Song et al. (2015), and are a principal component of manager styles that are uncorrelated with manager fixed effects on firms' productivity and capital structure that previous papers have studied. Our findings show that paying high wages is a major type of managers' non-value-maximizing behavior targeted by corporate takeovers, and that replacing soft managers contributes to about half of the combined firm's profit gains in M&As.

We start by outlining a theoretical framework with an imperfectly competitive labor market and managers who derive private benefits from higher wages. Managers differ both in productivity and in the degree of private benefits. We define "softer" managers as managers who pay workers higher wage premiums conditional on productivity and other firm characteristics.¹ We show that mergers that replace soft managers with tough managers reduce wages, whereas mergers that increase productivity or monopoly power increase wages. The model also predicts that firms with softer managers are more likely to be acquired and those soft managers to be replaced, which leads to wage declines after acquisitions.

Following predictions from the model, we estimate managers' styles using a two-step approach. In the first step, we estimate time-varying establishment-specific wage premiums using a two-way fixed effects regression similar to Abowd, Kramarz, and Margolis (1999, AKM for short). In the second step, we estimate manager fixed effects in explaining the wage premiums conditional on firm fixed effects and productivity. Manager fixed effects are identified by manager mobility across firms as in Bertrand and Schoar (2003). We construct a manager-firm-worker matched panel data set covering all firms and all workers in Denmark from 1995 to 2011.² The largest connected set covers more than 75% of the workers and contains over 100,000 managers.

¹Accordingly, "tougher" managers are managers who pay workers lower wages. Empirically the "softness" of a manager is measured by a continuous measure of manager fixed effects on wage premiums.

²Managers are defined as top managers of establishments (every establishment has one manager).

We find that individual managers do matter for wages and that manager styles are transferrable across firms. Wage residuals (above and beyond any firm effect) at a new employer are strongly correlated with residuals at the prior employer for a given manager. Manager fixed effects explain more than 30% of the variation in establishment-specific wage premiums, and a move from the 10th to the 90th percentile in the distribution of manager fixed effects is associated with a 21% increase in workers' wages. To address the concern that manager mobility is correlated with time-varying shocks to firms, we conduct an event study of wage changes in companies experiencing exogenous manager turnovers due to natural retirements and find stable wages before the retirement and large wage losses (gains) after departures of soft (tough) managers.

Managers' wage fixed effects are uncorrelated with managers' productivity or financial policy. We measure productivity using total factor productivity (TFP) and value added per worker, and for both measures we do not find that soft managers are more or less productive. Soft managers also do not have higher financial leverage or fire workers more. This is consistent with our theoretical assumption that heterogeneity in manager styles in wage setting is due to heterogeneous private benefits. Consistent with the prediction that managers in less competitive industries can enjoy a "quiet life" more without incurring negative profits,³ we find that the distribution of manager fixed effects is wider and has a longer upper tail in less competitive industries.

We then test whether M&As discipline managers who pay high wages. We first find that mergers and acquisitions reduce wage premiums at target establishments. We identify M&As using firm identifiers following Smeets et al. (2016), and our sample covers over 3000 mergers and acquisitions within the universe of Danish firms from 1995 to 2011. We track the behavior of workers and establishments before and after merger deals, and compare them to a carefully constructed control group of similar establishments that are not acquisition targets during the period. Within our sample, following mergers the employment at target firms declined by 2-3% initially, but grew back to the original level afterward. However, workers staying at target establishments experienced a per-

³ "The best of all monopoly profits is a quiet life" (Hicks, 1935). Bertrand and Mullainathan (2003) suggest that managers enjoy a quiet life by paying high wages and therefore buying peace with their workers.

sistent 2% wage decline relative to workers staying at control establishments.⁴ The negative wage effect cannot be accounted for by the selection of worker exits, and holds for various alternative matching estimators. Young and low-skilled workers experienced the largest wage declines. There was little change in wages at the acquiring firms after mergers.

We show that the lower wages at target firms after M&As are due to the replacement of soft managers. First, both wage premiums and manager fixed effects at target establishments are about 2% higher than at establishments of similar productivity, industry, and region. This indicates that mergers target establishments with high wage premiums resulting from soft managers. In contrast, acquirers on average have lower wage premiums and tougher managers. Second, soft managers are much more likely to be replaced when their firms are acquired, whereas at control establishments turnover rates are similar for soft managers and tough managers. Third, workers experienced large wage declines at target establishments that had soft managers before the merger, especially after soft managers were replaced. In contrast, workers at target establishments that had tough managers prior to the merger experienced no significant wage changes regardless of whether managers were replaced or not. Fourth, since there is a larger room for wage discretion in less competitive industries, target firms in less competitive industries have softer managers and reduce wages more after being acquired.

The reduction in wages accounts for a major part of profit gains in merger transactions. We combine the balance sheets of target firms and acquirer firms before mergers to create a firm panel, and find that merging firms experience an increase in return on assets (ROA) of 1 to 1.5 percentage points. Assuming that target firms replace soft managers with average managers with a probability equal to the observed manager turnover rate, we infer that this leads to a 0.63 percentage point increase in the ROA of the joint firm, accounting for 42% to 63% of the total increase in profitability.

We consider a number of alternative explanations for our results. First, efficiency-enhancing

⁴We focus on wage changes of stayers in the firm to control for changes in worker composition. Previous studies that have studied wage effects of M&As include Conyon et al. (2002), Huttunen (2007), Li (2013), Lichtenberg and Siegel (1990), Davis et al. (2014), and Ma et al. (2017). However, most of these studies used firm- or establishment-level average wages, which is also affected by changes in worker composition.

mergers may target firms with unproductive and inefficient managers who happen to be soft. We show that the differences in manager productivity measured by TFP or value added per worker are statistically insignificant from zero between target firms and acquirer firms. This indicates that M&As discipline managers paying high wages but not managers with low productivity. Second, mergers may reduce wages due to increases in labor market concentration and monopsony power. We take several approaches to measure the impact of mergers on monopsony power⁵ and find that the majority of mergers in our sample has little effect on monopsony power. We also find large and significant wage declines, even for mergers that supposedly have no impact on labor market power. Third, the wage decline could result from "value-destroying" mergers or mergers that eliminate product market competitors to preempt competition. However, we find similar wage declines for horizontal and non-horizontal mergers, and for production and non-production workers. We also find little change in target establishments' employment levels and exit rates, and an increase in the profitability of combined firms, which suggests that value-destroying mergers are exceptions rather than the norm. Fourth, manager styles and wage reductions are not driven by firms' different propensities to automate or outsource, since we observe large wage declines even for workers whose work could not be automated or outsourced.

Our paper builds on previous literature on how managers affect various corporate practices (Bertrand and Schoar 2003; Bennedsen et al. 2017) and worker productivity (Lazear et al. 2015; Frederiksen et al. 2017). Our paper is closest to Cronqvist et al. (2009) and Bach and Serrano-Velarde (2015), both of which study the effects of CEO characteristics on workers' pay. Our paper is the first to systematically study the role of individual manager styles in redistributing rents between workers and shareholders, and to show that manager styles are disciplined by the market for corporate control.

Our paper offers a new perspective on how M&As create shareholder value and provides empirical support for the claim that M&As transfer rents from workers to shareholders (Shleifer and Summers 1988). While most existing studies find higher stock market returns and better perfor-

⁵We measure the impact of mergers on firms' monopsony power using several approaches following Naidu et al. (2018).

mance for the combined company following mergers (Bradley et al. 1988; Andrade et al. 2001; Moeller et al. 2004; Betton et al. 2008),⁶ the sources of this value creation are less clear. A large literature in industrial organization and corporate finance studies the effects of mergers on monopoly power, productive efficiency, and vertical foreclosures.⁷ Several papers suggest that a large part of synergy in mergers comes from replacing management in poorly managed targets (Lang et al. 1989; Wang and Xie 2009). Our paper is the first to empirically disentangle the redistribution of wealth among workers and shareholders from efficiency improvements using a comprehensive data set of mergers. Our paper also complements the literature on the negative relationship between labor protection and merger returns (John et al. 2015; Dessaint et al. 2017) by providing direct evidence of how acquirers benefit from employment and wage adjustments.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 presents the theoretical framework that motivates our empirical analysis. Section 3 describes the empirical setting and data sets used in the analysis. Section 4 discusses identification of manager styles and presents results on how managers affect wages. Section 5 presents empirical tests of whether mergers discipline soft managers. Section 6 discusses threats to validity and alternative explanations, and Section 7 concludes.

1.2 Theoretical Framework

In this section, we introduce a simple two-period wage bargaining model between a firm's manager and a homogeneous group of workers. We use the model to show how individual managers' styles—by which we mean their propensity to pay above-market wages—affect wage setting and

⁶Another strand of literature finds that most mergers fail to create shareholder value for the bidding company (see, e.g., Malmendier et al. 2016). The two findings are not mutually exclusive, since the acquirer often overbids, but mergers still create value on average when taking into account the effect on the acquired company (Kaplan 2016).

⁷See, for example, Farrell and Shapiro (1990), Kim and Singal (1993), Dafny (2009), Hoberg and Phillips (2010), Ashenfelter et al. (2014), Blonigen and Pierce (2016), Miller and Weinberg (2017) on the effects of mergers on monopoly power; Ordover, Saloner, and Salop (1990), Hortaçsu and Syverson (2007) and Houde (2012) on vertical foreclosures; and Pesendorfer (2003), Braguinsky et al. (2005), Devos et al. (2008), Siegel and Simons (2010), Li (2013), and Sheen (2014) on productivity and efficiency. Other papers have looked at automation (Olsson and Tåg 2016; Ma et al. 2017), financial constraints (Erel et al. 2015), preempting competition (Cunningham et al. 2018), talent and innovation acquisition (Ouimet and Zarutskie 2011, Phillips and Zhdanov 2013), and growth options and investment opportunities (Levine 2017) as motivations for M&As.

profits. We then show how mergers create value by replacing inefficient managers, and disentangle the effects of various channels—efficiency, monopoly power, and rent extraction—on employment and wages. Finally, we develop an empirical measure of manager styles based on the relationship between manager turnovers and changes in wages and productivity.

The economy has a large number of firms and a large number of workers. Each firm has one manager. For simplicity, we assume that firms operate a production technology that uses labor as the only input. The production function is $Y_j = T_{jm}F(L_j)$, where L_j is the number of workers employed at firm *j*. T_{jm} denotes firm *j*'s total factor productivity (TFP) when it is managed by manager *m*. We assume that F(.) is strictly increasing, strictly concave, and continuously differentiable in *L*. The timing is as follows: in period 1 managers bargain over wages with the workers. The managers then make production decisions and hire workers in period 2. We solve for a subgame perfect equilibrium of this model.

At period 2, demand for firm j is given by $q_j(p_j)$, and the corresponding inverse demand is $p_j(L_j) = q_j^{-1}(T_{jm}F(L_j))$. Firms solve the following profit maximization problem (note that wage rate is assumed to be exogenous in this period):

$$\max_{L_j} \pi_j = p_j(L_j) T_{jm} F(L_j) - w_j L_j$$
(1.1)

The first-order condition is:

$$w_j = \left(1 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon_j}\right) p_j T_{jm} F'(L_j) \tag{1.2}$$

where $\varepsilon_j = -\frac{\partial q_j}{\partial p_j} \frac{p_j}{q_j}$ is the price elasticity of demand and $\varepsilon_j > 1$.

At period 1, managers bargain with their respective unions over wages. We assume that the solution is characterized by a generalized Nash bargaining outcome given by the following program:

$$\max_{w_j} (w_j - b_j)^{\beta} (\pi_j + \phi_m w_j \overline{L_j})^{1-\beta}$$

where β is workers' bargaining power at firm j and b_j is the outside option of workers at firm j. The union maximizes the wages paid to workers.⁸ We assume that managers maximize the sum of firm profits and their private benefits from higher wages. The reason is that managers have agency costs and prefer to enjoy a "quiet life" (Bertrand and Mullainathan 2003), or they use high wages as a substitute for monitoring efforts (Krueger 1991; Acemoglu and Newman 2002). They may also simply enjoy paying some workers high wages (Landier, Nair and Wulf 2009; Yonker 2017). The term $\phi_m w_j \overline{L_j}$ captures the private benefits to managers, where ϕ_m is a manager-specific parameter, and $\overline{L_j}$ is the past average employment at firm j.⁹ Private benefit is proportional to the firm's average employment but does not depend on employment during the current period, and therefore it captures managers' preferences for higher wages but *not* higher employment. Since the term does not contain current-period employment, it does not enter the maximization problem in period 2. The resulting outcome is:

$$w_{j} = (1 - \beta)b_{j} + \beta \frac{p_{j}T_{jm}F(L_{j})}{L_{j} - \phi_{m}L_{j}}$$
(1.3)

Equations (1.2) and (1.3) jointly determine wage w_j and employment L_j . The following proposition summarizes how manager styles in wage setting ϕ_m affect firm outcomes:

Proposition 1. Wage w_j is increasing in $\phi_{m(j)}$, and employment L_j and profit π_j are decreasing in $\phi_{m(j)}$, where m(j) indexes the manager working at firm j.

Managers also differ in their productivity T_{jm} , and the following proposition summarizes how managers' productivity affects firm outcomes:

⁸There is no employment in the union's utility function because (1) the majority of firm-level bargaining agreements cover only wage increases and no employment-related outcomes; (2) since most of our sample is before the Great Recession, we assume that employment is mainly adjusted along the hiring margin, and involuntary separations do not depend on bargained wage levels, which we verify in the data later. The absence of employment in bargaining agreements is also inconsistent with the class of efficient bargaining models, in which managers and workers bargain to Pareto-efficient employment and wage levels.

⁹The term is scaled by average employment level such that the private benefit is proportional to firm size (for example, the cost of bargaining may be higher in bigger firms). Nevertheless, our qualitative predictions remain the same when private benefit is $\phi_m w_j$.

Proposition 2. Wage w_j , employment L_j and profit π_j are increasing in manager's productive efficiency T_{jm} .

To ensure that profits are nonnegative, the maximum ϕ_m must satisfy:

$$\phi_{m(j)} \le 1 - \frac{\beta}{1 - (1 - \beta) \frac{b_j L_j}{p_j T_{im} F(L_j)}}$$
(1.4)

The right-hand side of this equation depends on the ratio of average productivity $\frac{p_j A_j F(L_j)}{L_j}$ to outside option b_j . When the outside option is low relative to productivity, the right-hand side is close to $1 - \beta$; when the outside option is close to productivity, the right-hand side is almost zero.

Proposition 3. Let $\overline{\phi}_j$ be the maximum ϕ_m such that firm j has nonnegative profits. $\overline{\phi}_j$ is increasing in productivity T_j and decreasing in demand elasticity ε_j . In other words, $\overline{\phi}_j$ is higher in industries with higher concentration.

Managers with higher ϕ_m ("soft" managers) lead to higher wages and lower profits, which provides opportunities for acquiring firms to extract rents. Managers with low TFP lead to lower profits and provide opportunities for productivity-enhancing mergers. The following corollary describes how different channels of mergers affect employment, wages, and productivity in the target firms.

Corollary. Mergers raise profits and create value through the following channels:

(1) Rent-extracting mergers: mergers replace soft managers, i.e., $\phi_{m(j)}$ decreases, which reduces wages, increases employment, and does not affect TFP at target firms;

(2) Productivity-enhancing mergers: mergers replace inefficient managers, i.e., T_{jm} increases, which increases wages and TFP at target firms, and has ambiguous effects on employment;

(3) Market-power-increasing mergers: mergers increase market power and markups in the product market, i.e., ε_i decreases, which increases wages and TFP and reduces employment.

Among all the channels, only the rent extraction channel reduces wages at the target firms. The reason is that, holding the bargaining power and manager preferences fixed, mergers that increase

productivity through efficiency improvements or market power will lead to higher wages.

The model predictions allow us to estimate manager styles and manager productivity from the data. We can approximate the wage rule as:

$$\log w_j = (1 - \beta) \log b_j + \beta \log \left(\frac{p_j T_{jm} F(L_j)}{L_j}\right) + \beta \phi_{m(j)}$$
(1.5)

In this equation log wage is the sum of three parts: the first part is reservation wage, the second part is sharing of average log value added per worker, and the third part is due to manager discretion. Therefore, in the panel data, when we include both firm fixed effects and manager fixed effects and control for productivity, the manager fixed effects would identify the term $\beta\phi_m$. Since the two-way fixed effects model requires a lot of manager mobility across firms, we also take a complementary approach of regressing wages on productivity, and industry and region fixed effects interacted with year fixed effects, and the residual from this regression is $\beta\phi_m$ if the error terms are uncorrelated with manager styles.¹⁰ We discuss the estimation of manager styles in more detail in Section 4.1.¹¹

Similarly, we can estimate manager productivity using the two-way fixed effects framework with the dependent variable being the TFP. Assume that the TFP can be decomposed into a firmspecific component and a manager-specific component $(\log T_{jm} = \log A_j + \log \theta_m)$, then manager fixed effects from the two-way fixed effects regression identifies individual managers' productivity θ_m . The log value added per worker is: $\log(p_j T_{jm} F(L_j)/L_j) = \log A_j + \log \theta_m + \log(p_j F(L_j)/L_j)$. Conditional on one firm, a more efficient manager also increases value added per worker, but a 1% increase in θ_m increases value added per worker by less than 1% due to decreasing returns to scale.

In our stylized model, soft managers get higher private benefits from paying higher wages; al-

¹⁰The interactions of industry and region fixed effects with year fixed effects control for the outside option b_j . We assume that the outside option is not affected by managers. Otherwise changing the outside option b_j has the same effects on wages and employment as changing ϕ_m , but only changes the interpretation: "soft" managers give workers better outside options in wage negotiations instead of enjoying private benefits from high wages.

¹¹Although workers are homogeneous here, the model can easily incorporate worker heterogeneity by having workers with different productive units, and wage is price per productive unit. In that case, there is an additional term for worker ability in equation 1.5, which can be identified by worker mobility in the first step of our empirical approach.

ternatively, soft managers may give workers higher bargaining power β . In a more general model with both heterogeneous private benefits and bargaining power among managers, the treatment effect of managers we identify combines various structural parameters. However, our approach still identifies the correct ranking of managers' effect on wage premiums as long as managers' bargaining power is uncorrelated with their productivity. Our qualitative results also remain unchanged: soft managers raise wages and lower profits, and therefore are replaced in M&As.

Our identification using manager fixed effects relies on the assumption that manager mobility is uncorrelated with the time-varying residual components of wage residuals. Importantly, this assumption is *not* violated by systemic patterns of manager mobility related to fixed manager characteristics. For example, soft managers may be more likely to be fired, but this does not violate the assumption, because our fixed effects estimator is conditioned on the actual sequence of establishments at which each manager is observed. However, the assumption would be violated if shocks to wage residuals of workers predict the firing of soft managers. For instance, if soft managers are more likely to be fired when firms experience negative shocks to productivity and wages, this will lead to an over-statement of the importance of manager styles. Another violation is sorting based on match effects. For example, firms may tend to select as managers the family members of the owners or founders, who have a higher stake in the company and stronger incentives to maximize profits by paying low wages. We discuss how to address these concerns in Section 4.1.

1.3 Data and Empirical Setting

1.3.1 Data Sources

The main data sets used in this paper are drawn from administrative registers in Statistics Denmark. Our firm data come from the Firm Statistics Register, or FirmStat, which covers the universe of private-sector Danish firms for the years 1995 to 2011. FirmStat associates each firm with a unique identifier, and provides annual data on many of the firm's activities, such as number of full-time employees, value added and industry affiliation. We also match with other firm registers to obtain firms' balance sheet information, including profits and dividends.

The worker data are extracted from the Integrated Database for Labor Market Research, or IDA, which covers the entire Danish population aged 15 to 74, including the unemployed and those who do not participate in the labor force. The IDA associates each person with her unique identifier, and provides annual data on many of the individual's socioeconomic characteristics, such as hourly wage, education, and occupation. We measure the hourly wage rate as annual labor income plus mandatory pension fund payments divided by annual hours.¹² Each employed worker is matched to her establishment. An establishments is a unique physical work location, such as an office, store, or factory, and each establishment has a unique identifier that is consistent over time.

To match our firm data with our worker data we draw on the Firm-Integrated Database for Labor Market Research, or FIDA, which links every firm in FirmStat with every worker in IDA who is employed by that firm in the last week of November, including temporary workers. Using our matched worker-firm data, we can consistently track virtually every person in the Danish economy over time regardless of her employment status or employer identity.¹³

We identify managers using the occupation codes of workers following Friedrich (2017). In cases where an establishment has multiple managers, we select the highest-ranked manager based on occupation codes, hierarchy, and wages. We discuss the construction of manager variables in greater detail in the Data Appendix.

1.3.2 Danish Labor Market

We first highlight several key features of the labor market in Denmark to provide context for our following analysis. Denmark has a flexible labor market with low hiring and firing costs. Botero et al. (2004) classified Denmark as one of the most flexible labor markets in the world, comparable

¹²The annual hours are imputed using the supplementary mandatory pension contributions (ATP), which takes four values based on four intervals of the hours worked.

¹³The high quality of the match derives from two features of the data. One, IDA and FIDA are administrative data and the worker identifier used in each remains unchanged throughout 1995 to 2011. Two, the informal sector is almost nonexistent in Denmark, unlike in some developing countries such as Brazil and Mexico that have been used in previous matched worker-firm studies.

to the United States. Unlike in many countries in continental Europe, employment protection is very weak in Denmark, and it is easy for Danish firms to hire and fire employees. In 1995 the average tenure in Denmark was the lowest in continental Europe at 7.9 years, similar to the level in UK (7.8 years) and lower than in Germany (9.7 years). Unemployed workers receive generous unemployment benefits, but are also incentivized to search for jobs through active labor market policies, which together form what is called the "flexicurity" model.

Like other Scandinavian countries, Denmark used to have an industry-level standard rate wage bargaining system until the 1980s, but since then wage bargaining has been decentralized to the individual or establishment level. By the start of our sample in 1995, only 16% of the private labor market was still covered by the standard rate system, whereas the majority of wage contracts were and still are negotiated at the worker-firm level (Dahl et al. 2013).¹⁴ The bargaining at the firm or establishment level is between the managers and shop stewards, and the majority of agreements cover wage increases and not employment levels.¹⁵

Although wage structure in Denmark is still more compressed than in the United States, it has experienced a significant increase in wage inequality: between 1980 and 2011, the 90/10 wage ratio in Denmark increased from 2.1 to 2.8, similar to Germany, whose 90/10 wage ratio increased from 2.4 to 3.0.

1.3.3 Construction of the M&A Sample

We identify mergers and acquisitions using the changes in *firm* identifiers of establishments because establishment identifiers remain constant despite changes in ownership.¹⁶ We identify a merger if

¹⁴Industry-level bargaining agreements usually specify a wage floor, which is not binding in most cases. Segments that remained under the centralized standard rate system are largely characterized by routine tasks (e.g., transport, warehouse work, and production line work), where it makes less sense to differentiate wages across workers. In our data we can only observe the bargaining system before 2001. Our results are robust to excluding all firms in the standard rate system before 2001.

¹⁵The scope of bargaining varies from company to company, and the most common agreement concerned annual wage increases (77% of agreements) and individual supplements (43% of agreements). Management possesses a right to hire and fire, that cannot be questioned by shop stewards except in a few exceptional cases (IIsøe 2012).

¹⁶Our approach to identifying mergers is similar to Smeets et al. (2016), who used the same data set but for different time periods.

two establishments with different firm identifiers in a given year had the same firm identifier in the next year. For example, if establishment 1 had firm identifier A and establishment 2 had firm identifier B in year 0, and then, in year 1, they shared the same firm identifier C (which could be A or B or a new one), this suggests that firm A merged with firm B between year 0 and year 1. The establishment whose firm identifier remained the same both before and after the merger is the acquirer firm. In cases where a new firm identifier was created after the merger, we don't know which was the acquirer. In 93% of mergers, we can clearly identify which establishments were in the acquirer and target firms.

We take a few steps to restrict the sample and make sure we identify the mergers correctly. First, we drop partial mergers, that is, we only consider mergers where all establishments in the target firm are acquired by the same acquirer firm. Second, we drop mergers where the firm identifier of the target firm still exists at any time after the merger. These two steps help to avoid picking up changes in firm identifiers unrelated to ownership changes.¹⁷ Finally, throughout our analysis we focus only on mergers between private firms in private industries. The reason is that, Danish municipalities merged in 2007, which resulted in many mergers of government agencies, and these mergers are very different in nature from the corporate mergers we consider in this study.¹⁸

We also merge the administrative data with an external data set on M&As to verify the validity of our approach to identifying mergers. The data we use is transaction-level data on mergers and acquisitions from Zephyr at Bureau Van Dijk. Zephyr is a comprehensive source of data on M&As, covering both public and private transactions. We then match all the merging firms in Denmark during our sample period in the Zephyr data set to firms in our administrative firm data using the firm name and address. In the Data Appendix we compare mergers in the Zephyr data sets with mergers in our data sets. Almost all the matched target firms from Zephyr data sets are also identified as target firms by our approach, but we are able to identify more mergers in the earlier years of the sample period.

¹⁷In robustness checks we also include these partial mergers in our analysis and find very similar results.

¹⁸The public sector in Denmark is large compared to most other countries and accounts for nearly a third of employment. Around 10% of all mergers and acquisitions involve a firm in the public sector. We show in Appendix Figure A11 that M&As in the public sector do not reduce wages.

We identify around 3700 mergers within Denmark from 1995 to 2011. Figure A1 plots the number of mergers between Danish firms in each year. Figure A2 plots the percentage of workers in Denmark working in acquirer or target firms in each year. On average about 1% of workers each year work in one of the target firms, and about 5% of workers work in one of the acquirer firms. This indicates that mergers affect a large proportion of workers in the economy. Table 1 reports summary statistics for this sample. On average, acquirer firms are larger and more productive than target firms. Target firm employees are on average younger, less educated, and less experienced, whereas workers at acquirer firms are older, more educated, and more experienced than the average worker in the economy.

The Danish merger control regime was implemented in 2000. Most firms in our sample have turnovers below the threshold subject to merger control.¹⁹ Very few mergers were challenged and nearly none of the mergers were blocked.

1.4 Do Individual Managers Matter for Wages?

In this section we establish that individual managers matter for wage premiums of workers. We develop a novel framework to measure manager fixed effects on wage premiums using both manager and worker mobility, and verify that manager styles are transferrable across firms. We then investigate the correlation of manager effects on wages with other measures of manager style and the interaction of manager style with industry concentration.

¹⁹A merger is required to notify the antitrust authority if: the combined turnover in Denmark is more than 900 million DKK and the aggregate turnover in Denmark of each firm is more than 100 million DKK; or the aggregate turnover in Denmark of at least one firm is more than 3.8 billion DKK and the aggregate worldwide turnover of at least one firm is more than 3.8 billion DKK.

1.4.1 Estimation of Manager Styles in Wage-Setting

Empirical Methodology

We start by identifying individual managers' styles regarding wage-setting. We define "manager" as the top manager of each establishment.²⁰ A manager is "softer" if she has a higher ϕ_m and "tougher" if she has a low ϕ_m . We estimate managers' styles in wage setting using a two-step procedure: in the first step we estimate an establishment-specific, time-varying wage premium using worker mobility across firms, and in the second step we identify managers' styles in determining the wage premium using manager mobility across firms.

We start by estimating a two-way fixed effects regression at the worker level with log hourly wage on the left-hand side and person fixed effects and establishment-year fixed effects on the right-hand side:

$$y_{ijt} = \psi_{jt} + \xi_i + \beta X_{ijt} + \epsilon_{ijt} \tag{1.6}$$

where ξ_i is worker fixed effects and X_{ijt} are time-varying worker characteristics, including quadratic and cubic terms in age fully interacted with educational attainment. The estimated establishmentyear fixed effect, ψ_{jt} , provides a measure of establishment-specific time-varying wage premiums, and indicates how much the same worker gets paid at establishment *j* in year *t* relative to at other establishments in other years. This specification is similar to the AKM regression (for example in Card, Heining, and Kline 2013), except that here we allow the establishment-specific wage premium to vary over time. Worker mobility across establishments allows us to separately identify the establishment-year fixed effects and person-fixed effects within the largest connected set of establishments. We exclude all managers in the estimation of wage premiums.

We then estimate an establishment-level regression with establishment fixed effects and manager fixed effects similar to the manager fixed effects regression in Bertrand and Mullainathan (2003). We impose the requirement that managers have to be at each firm for at least two years, to

²⁰Alternatively one can define manager as the top manager of each *firm*. Since most of the target firms in our sample have a single establishment, the two approaches yield very similar results. We also find similar results when including only single-establishment firms.

ensure that managers are given a chance to exert their influence at a given company. Our specification is as follows:

$$\hat{\psi}_{jt} = \lambda_{m(j,t)} + \alpha_t + \gamma_j + \beta X_{jt} + \varepsilon_{jt}$$
(1.7)

where $\hat{\psi}_{jt}$ is the establishment-year fixed effect for establishment *j* in year *t* estimated from step 1, λ_m is manager fixed effect, α_t is year fixed effects, γ_j is establishment fixed effects. X_{jt} are time-varying establishment characteristics, including the share of female workers, the share of workers in each education group, the average age and experience of workers, and dummies for each decile of value added per worker.²¹ Similar to the AKM regression, the identification comes from managers changing establishments. Establishment fixed effects and manager fixed effects are separately identifiable within the largest connected set of establishments linked by manager movements.

Estimation Results

Table 2 presents the estimation results from both steps. As shown in the top three rows, our sample includes 34 million person-year observations, 3.6 million workers and 380,000 firms. Mobility rates are high for workers: the largest connected set linked by worker movements includes 96% of the establishments and 99.7% of the person-year observations. There is also a lot of mobility of managers between the biggest firms: the largest connected set linked by manager mobility contains 75% of the workers and 59% of the person-year observations.²²

To summarize our findings, for each step we report the standard deviations of the estimated fixed effects, the correlations between the two fixed effects, and the adjusted R^2 statistic. The fixed effects are unbiased but inconsistent estimates of the unobserved effects; therefore the variance and

²¹We also ran robustness tests using log value added and mean lagged value added over the previous three years as controls, and all our main results remain unchanged. Since firms may insure workers against temporary productivity shocks but not against permanent productivity shocks (Guiso et al. 2005), our estimates of manager fixed effects may capture manager effects on permanent productivity that are not controlled for by our measures of worker productivity. As we show later, managers' productivity is not systematically correlated with managers' wage effects, which alleviates this concern.

²²The establishments in the connected set are usually larger. More than 40% of target establishments and 70% of target establishments with more than 50 employees are in the connected set of managers.

covariance of the fixed effects will be biased due to estimation error. We adopt the leave-out estimator in Kline et al. (2018) to adjust for this problem and to obtain unbiased estimates for variance and covariance terms in models with two-way fixed effects and unrestricted heteroscedasticity. The bias-adjusted correlation between manager and establishment fixed effects is quite small (-0.03), suggesting that there is not much systematic manager sorting across establishments based on fixed wage premium differences.

How big is the variation in manager effects on wages? The estimated manager fixed effects have a corrected standard deviation of 0.082, which is economically significant and bigger than the standard deviation of the estimated establishment fixed effects (0.075). The variance in manager effects accounts for 31% of the between-firm wage variation. A move from the 10th to the 90th percentile in the distribution of manager fixed effects, assuming that it is normally distributed, is associated with a 21% increase in workers' wages.

Robustness

To address the concern that sorting based on time-varying shocks to wages might bias our estimates, we consider an event study of wage premiums for establishments that change managers in Figure 1-1. We split the set of departing managers and their successors into quartiles based on the manager fixed effects, and plot the average wage premium in the two years before and the two years after the firms switch managers as a function of origin and destination manager category. There is little pre-trend before the manager turnover. If instead firms systematically replace soft managers during downturns, we would expect to see a negative trend before turnovers. In addition, the effects of turnover on wage premiums are symmetric across different types of moves and of roughly similar magnitude, which alleviates some of the concern about sorting.

To further address the concern about sorting based on match effects, we compare the doublefixed-effects model with a model with unrestricted match effects (i.e., separate dummies for each manager-establishment combination). The adjusted R^2 increases, but only by a modest amount. We plot the mean residuals for the two-way fixed effects model by manager and establishment decile in Figure A16, and in each cell the mean residuals are small and less than 1%, except for some larger deviations of 1-2% for the softest and the toughest managers. This suggests that the basic specification with additively separable manager and establishment effects provides a good characterization of the data.

To test the joint significance of manager fixed effects, we compare regression (1.7) in Step 2 with a regression model with only establishment and year fixed effects and time-varying establishment controls. Including manager fixed effects increases the adjusted R^2 of the estimated models from 0.50 to 0.87. The F statistic is close to 10, which allows us to reject the null hypothesis that manager fixed effects are jointly zero.

We apply several additional tests to see whether managers have different styles of wage setting that are transferrable across firms. First, we follow Bertrand and Schoar (2003) and regress the estimated wage residual (above and beyond any firm effect) at a new employer against the estimated wage residual at the prior employer. The wage residual is from regressing establishment-year fixed effects on year dummies and establishment fixed effects. This directly tests whether manager styles are portable across employers. Using a different sample from Bertrand and Schoar (2003), Fee et al. (2013) found an insignificant relationship using this test despite rejecting the null of zero manager fixed effects using the F-test. The left figure of Figure 1-2 is a binscatter plot of wage residual at the first employer against wage residual at the second employer for all managers. There is a significant positive relationship between the two wage residuals (t-statistic = 13.2), confirming that individual managers display durable styles that they transfer across employers.

Second, we test whether managers actively affect wage levels at their firms. An alternative interpretation would be that a manager may by coincidence be involved in a period of lower wages at her firm, and would be perceived as having a style of setting low wages although that manager does not actively influence wages. Under this alternative interpretation, we would see lower wages in the firm right before the manager joins the firm. In the right figure of Figure 1-2, we regress the wage residual at the second employer against the average wage residual of three years preceding the manager's arrival at the first employer. We find a nearly zero relationship between the residuals.

This result is consistent with the interpretation that managers actively shape the wage levels at their firms.

What are the characteristics of soft managers? In Figure 1-3 we regress the estimated manager fixed effects on the characteristics of the managers. Women are on average more generous in wage setting, whereas older and more experienced managers tend to be less generous. Managers who are married are also less generous in wage setting than unmarried managers. The earnings of the managers themselves are negatively correlated with generosity in wage setting, suggesting that toughness in wage setting may be valued in the managerial labor market.

1.4.2 Event Study of Exogenous Manager Departures

The tests above show that manager styles are transferrable across employers. They do not, however, rule out the possibility that managers are sorted to firms based on unobservable shocks to the firm. For example, firms that change managers may also make a simultaneous set of major changes, like investment, financing, or hiring decisions.

Motivated by these concerns, we conduct an event study of exogenous manager departures due to retirement. We identify natural retirements of managers based on age. The prior literature establishes that CEOs often retire, either voluntarily or because of their employer's retirement policies, once they reach certain age thresholds (Jenter and Lewellen 2015). Based on this observation, we identify a set of departures where the manager leaves the firm at an age greater than 62 and remain unemployed thereafter (this also includes manager departures due to health reasons or death). While manager retirements may have been anticipated by the board or firm owners, this offers a test for the presence of style effects resulting from a new draw from the style distribution in the absence of major organizational stress.

We re-estimate the manager fixed effects for all managers using data *outside* the four-year window used for the event studies. The reason is that manager fixed effects are measured with error, and if we defined a soft manager as one who happened to have positive wage shocks in the firm within the event study, we would have found a spurious relationship between wages and the

exit of such a manager even if she had no causal impact on wages. Figure 1-4 plots the impact of the retirement of managers on real wages. The left figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the top quartile, and the bottom figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the lowest quartile. We find that retirements of a high-FE (or low-FE) manager lead to a decrease (or an increase) in real wages of 3-5%. This supports our interpretation that manager styles play a causal role in wages.

One caveat of the analysis is that firms may experience major changes or distress when powerful managers retire. Figure A17 shows that when a soft manager or a tough manager leaves, firms experience very little change in productivity despite large changes in wages. This suggests that the average productivity of managers paying very high or very low wages is close to the average productivity of all managers.

1.4.3 Correlations with Manager Productivity and Leverage

The previous section documents a wide degree of heterogeneity in the way managers set wages. In this section we investigate whether managers' wage effects reflect other underlying differences in manager practices. For example, do managers who have higher productivity also pay higher wages? Or do managers who are more financially aggressive pay higher wages?

To answer these questions, we analyze the correlation between manager fixed effects in wages and manager fixed effects in productivity and other firm policies. We estimate manager styles in other dimensions using a manager fixed effects approach similar to equation (1.7). We use two measures of firm productivity: total factor productivity (TFP) and log value added per worker.²³ To measure TFP, we follow Schoar (2002) and estimate the following OLS regression separately for each three-digit standard industrial classification industry and year:

$$\log(y_{jkt}) = \alpha_{kt} + \beta_{kt} \ln(K_{jkt}) + \gamma_{kt} \ln(L_{jkt}) + \delta_{kt} \ln(M_{jkt}) + \epsilon_{jkt}$$
(1.8)

 $^{^{23}}$ We did not use profits because there are many negative values and the size of the connected set becomes much smaller. Since log value-added per worker and TFP are only available at the firm level and not the establishment level, we keep only single-establishment firms and multi-establishment firms for which we can clearly identify the CEO in the estimation sample.

where y_{jkt} is total value of shipments of firm j in industry k at year t, L_{jkt} is the number of fulltime equivalents, K_{jkt} is the value of the capital stock, and M_{jkt} is the cost of material shipments. The specification allows for different factor intensities across industries, and since we measure labor using only labor quantity and not wage bill, the wage level does not affect the estimation of TFP directly.

Theoretically the correlation between wage fixed effects and productivity fixed effects is ambiguous. On the one hand, higher wages may improve the productivity of the firm by encouraging more efforts or the accumulation of firm-specific human capital among workers (Akerlof 1982; Kahneman, Knetsch, and Thaler 1986). The high level of wages represents an implicit contract, and a breakdown in trust between employers and employees may lead to employee retaliation and huge losses in productivity, as is shown by the case in Krueger and Mas (2004). High wages also help firms to attract and retain high-skilled and productive workers. On the other hand, if soft managers have higher agency costs and thus prefer to enjoy a quiet life with the workers, they are also likely to enjoy a quiet life in other corporate decisions, which can be detrimental to productivity (Bertrand and Mullainathan 2003; Gormley and Matsa 2016).

Figure 1-5 presents a binscatter plot of managers' productivity fixed effects against managers' wage fixed effects for all managers in Denmark. For both measures of TFP and log value-added per worker, the absolute value of the correlation is lower than 0.01, and therefore we do not find evidence that soft managers systematically outperform or underperform tough managers in terms of productivity.

The wage differences between managers may be also due to differences in risk-taking. For example, some managers may take fewer risks and provide greater job security to workers, which allows them to pay lower wages (Sraer and Thesmar 2010). Debt may also be used in bargaining with workers and their unions to keep wages down (Matsa 2010). Figure 1-5 shows that there is no correlation between manager effects in wage premiums and manager effects in leverage. Consistent with theory predictions, we find that soft managers hire less and have lower quit rates. Interestingly, there is a non-monotonic relationship between the wage fixed effects and the worker quality fixed

effects, and managers who are neither too soft nor too tough have the most skilled workers.

Lastly, one explanation for soft managers is that they are soft bargainers and are incapable of keeping the wage costs down. If this is true, we would expect that soft managers also have higher input costs. However, Figure A25 shows that managers who pay higher wages do not have higher input costs. This is consistent with the finding that soft managers do not have lower value added per worker.

Overall the evidence in this section indicates that manager-specific effect on wages is one important component of manager style that is uncorrelated with manager productivity and financial policy, and can have a large impact on firms' profitability and human capital.

1.4.4 Industry Concentration and Manager Discretion

Our theoretical framework shows that in less competitive industries, firms have higher profits, and there is more room for managerial discretion in wage setting. Similarly, Giroud and Mueller (2010) find that managers in less competitive industries tend to enjoy a "quiet life" more. Dube, Manning and Naidu (2018) show that firms fail to set optimal wages when they have market power. In this section we investigate whether competition reduces manager discretion in wage setting.

To examine the role of industry concentration, we calculate the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index using data on sales for the universe of Danish firms and divide the 127 three-digit industries into two groups based on the average HHI over all years. For example, industries with high concentration include financial intermediaries, research and development, and production of meat, and industries with low concentration include the sale and repair of motor vehicles, hotels and restaurants, and architecture and engineering.

Consistent with our theoretical prediction, we find that there are more soft managers in highly concentrated industries. Figure 1-6 shows the 25th, 50th, and 75th percentiles of the distribution of manager wage fixed effects in unconcentrated industries (HHIs less than 1500), moderately concentrated industries (HHIs between 1500 and 2500), and highly concentrated industries (HHIs above 2500). The median manager fixed effect in highly concentrated industries is 3.5% higher

than the median manager fixed effect in unconcentrated industries, and the range from the 25th to 75th percentiles is 37% wider. This suggests that product market competition mitigates agency costs and eliminates the upper tail of soft managers.

1.5 Manager Styles and Wage Changes Following M&As

In this section we first show that M&As reduce wages but not employment at target establishments. We then show that this occurs because mergers target and replace soft managers at target firms, and that this rent extraction channel accounts for a major part of shareholder gains in M&As.

1.5.1 The Effect of M&As on Wages and Employment

Empirical strategy

To analyze the impact of mergers, we implement a dynamic difference-in-differences design in which we compare target establishments in merger transactions to similar firms that did not take part in a merger or acquisition.

We select one control establishment for each target establishment such that the comparison establishment did not experience any M&A transactions but had lagged characteristics similar to the target establishment. We implement a matched sampling procedure: for every target establishment in the year right before the merger, we select a comparison establishment similar to the target establishment in the same year. This approach is motivated by Rosenbaum and Rubin (1985) and Imbens and Rubin (2015, chapter 15), who describe how matched sampling can be used to find a comparison group of similar size and with similar observed characteristics as the treatment group. For each target establishment acquired in year t, we select a control establishment that did not involve any acquisition in the sample period and satisfied the following criteria in year t - 1:

• It belongs to the same two-digit sector as the target;

- It is located in the same geographical region 24 as the target;
- It is in the same quintile of employment and average establishment wage as the target.

For 92.5% of the target establishments we can find at least one comparison establishment that satisfies the three criteria above. When multiple matches for a target establishment are found, we select the comparison establishment with the closest propensity score calculated based on a rich set of establishment characteristics.²⁵ Each control establishment is matched to at most one target establishment in every year, but can be matched to multiple targets in different years. Later in this section, we show the robustness of our results to alternative matching strategies.

The key identifying assumption is that workers' wages in target and control establishments would have followed parallel trends in $\tau > 0$ if no merger had occurred in the treated establishment. Admittedly mergers and acquisitions are not exogenous events, but our estimation strategy is still valid if the target is selected based on the level of wages or productivity. Potential threats to identification would be unobserved shocks that affect both the outcomes and the timing of merger in the treated establishments. For instance, acquirer firms could target firms on the verge of wage reductions. Importantly, we do *not* match on pre-merger employment or wage growth, as the three criteria above and all covariates used in estimating the propensity score are measured for the year before the merger, so the pre-trends can be used to evaluate the common trends assumption. As we will see, the fact that wage decline occurs precisely at the moment of merger mitigates this concern. As a robustness check we also match target establishments to controls two years before the merger and get similar results.²⁶ Table A1 shows that control establishments and target establishments had

²⁴There are five geographical regions in Denmark, and each geographical region is close to a commuting zone in the US: it usually takes less than two hours to travel between places within a geographical region.

²⁵The propensity score is estimated using a linear probability model, and the independent variables include log employment, average log wage, establishment age, log value-added per worker, log sales per worker, share of workers with higher education, share of workers with vocational training, share of female workers, average age and experience of workers, as well as industry and year dummies.

²⁶One might be concerned that our approach would violate the stable unit treatment value assumption (SUTVA): applying the treatment to one unit has no effect on outcomes at other units. This assumption fails if, for example, treatment effects on target establishments systematically alter equilibrium wages at control establishments. Given that we only restrict the control establishments to being in the same two-digit industry and region, both of which are sufficiently broad, any one firm usually constitutes a very small fraction of the two-digit industry or geographical region. Furthermore, we obtain similar results when selecting control establishments outside the target's industry and region.

similar characteristics one year before the merger.

We examine the effects of failed mergers to further shed light on the causal effect of mergers. Failed mergers are mergers in the Zephyr M&A data set that were announced but were eventually withdrawn. We exclude target firms in cancelled deals that got eventually acquired by a different firm, and end up with a sample of 365 failed mergers. We match each establishment in this sample to a control establishment and compare their wage and employment trends over time.

M&As reduce wages but not employment at target establishments

We start by looking at how employment and wages change at the establishment level by estimating the following event-study framework:

$$y_{jt} = \alpha_j + \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \lambda_{\tau} D_{jt}(\tau) + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \delta_{\tau} D_{jt}(\tau) \times Target_j + \epsilon_{it}$$
(1.9)

where y_{jt} is outcome variable at establishment j in year t. We denote $\tau = t - d$ as the number of years relative to the merger occurring in year d. The model includes establishment fixed effects, α_j , calendar year fixed effects, γ_t , and leads and lags around event time $D_{jt}(\tau)$. $Target_j$ is a dummy variable indicating whether establishment j is a target or control. The coefficients of interest are δ_{τ} , which capture the effect of a merger in year τ in the target establishments and are normalized to zero in $\tau = -1$. The standard errors are clustered at the establishment level. The observations are weighted by employment.²⁷ The event study approach allows us to estimate the dynamic treatment effects of mergers on establishment outcomes over time as well as to use the effects in the preperiod to evaluate the common trends assumption.

Figure 1-7(a) shows the changes in employment at target establishments. Although employment declines right after merger, it reverts to the original level after three years. The initial drop in employment is less than 3%, and there is little employment decline after year 0. M&As also have little effect on establishment exits (Figure A3). In Appendix Figure A6 we show that following a

²⁷This is to ensure that the treatment effects are comparable to the worker-level regressions. The weight is the average employment during the three years before merger, and is therefore fixed for each unit.

merger both job inflows and job outflows increase, and cancel out each other. Figure 1-7(b) shows that target establishments' earnings per worker (EPW) decline by 2-3%, and this decline persists over time.

To control for changes in worker composition, we look at the wage changes of workers remaining in the target establishments following acquisitions. We estimate the following equation at the worker level:

$$w_{ijt} = \alpha_{ij} + \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \lambda_{\tau} D_{it}(\tau) + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \delta_{\tau} D_{it}(\tau) \times Target_j + \beta X_{it} + \epsilon_{it}$$
(1.10)

The model includes job spell fixed effects, α_{ij} . $Target_i$ equals one if worker *i*'s employer at $\tau = -1$ is acquired. Included in the control covariates X_{it} are experience and its interactions with gender and education level to control for changes in productivity of workers. The coefficients of interest are δ_{τ} , which capture the effect of the merger on wages of stayers over time.

Figure 1-8 shows the effects of mergers on stayers' wages. It is reassuring for our design that there is no pre-trend before mergers. After merger, the wage growth of workers remaining in target establishments declines by nearly 2 percentage points compared to employees remaining in control establishments. These differences are persistent, lasting for at least five years after the merger. Figure 1-8(b) shows that workers staying in target establishments lose 3-4% of their initial annual earnings. Figure 1-8(c) shows that hourly wages also fall by 2% after mergers, suggesting that the reduction in annual earnings is not driven by a reduction in hours worked. We use the same matching method to estimate wage changes at acquirer firms, and find that workers in acquiring firms do not experience any wage cuts after mergers (Figure A4).

How big is this effect? Since real wages grow by 1% per year on average, a wage decline of 2% means that an average worker in the target firm has zero real wage growth during the first two years after the merger (between $\tau = 0$ and $\tau = 2$).²⁸ Assuming that the loss of wage premium

²⁸The downward rigidity of nominal wages may also explain why real wages keep falling for two to three years after the merger, since some groups may experience a real wage decline of 5-6%, which is about two to three years of nominal wage growth.
is permanent, and that careers last 20 years and the discount rate is 5 percent, a 2% wage decline implies a loss in present discounted value equal to 26% of annual earnings.

The wage effects on staying workers are heterogeneous among worker groups. To assess heterogeneity of treatment effects, we estimate variations of equation (1.10), adding interactions of worker covariates with period dummies, as well as interactions of covariates with period dummies and treatment. Figure A10 shows that young and low-skilled workers experience the largest wage declines after a merger.

Robustness

The main challenge in interpreting wage effects on stayers is that their wage declines may be due to differential selection of who stays. For example, if workers with more negative future wage changes are more likely to leave the firm, then estimates of wage changes would be upward biased. First, we show that all initially employed workers at the target firm experience a wage decline of 2-3% regardless of whether they stay at the firm (Figure A7). Second, Table 3 shows that the increase in the departure rate is quite uniform along the wage distribution.²⁹ Third, Figure A9 shows that the average worker quality at target establishments measured by worker fixed effects³⁰ does not change significantly after mergers. Finally, we use the trimming approach in Lee (2009) to bound the effects of selection without imposing any assumptions on which workers would stay. In particular, given that the proportion of workers staying in control establishments in each period, we trim the sample of workers staying in the control establishments such that the proportion of staying workers is the same for targets and controls. We then estimate an upper (or lower) bound of the unbiased treatment effect by trimming the upper (or lower) part of the distribution of wage changes among

²⁹The only exception is that workers in the highest wage quartile are slightly more likely to leave after mergers. If anything, this would lead to a downward bias in our estimates of wage declines for staying workers, because workers in top wage quartile usually have more experience and slower wage growth. Also, as we will show in the next subsection, workers in lower wage quartiles experience the largest wage cuts following mergers, so the negative wage effect is even stronger when we exclude the highest wage quartile.

³⁰The estimated worker fixed effects arise from wage regressions with both establishment fixed effects and worker fixed effects as in Abowd, Kramarz, and Margolis (1999).

remaining workers in control establishments.³¹ Panel C of Table 4 shows that the upper bounds of wage effects are still negative for four years after merger, and the entire confidence interval is below zero for the second year after merger. This evidence indicates that the bias due to differential selection of staying workers is likely to be small and cannot explain all of the negative effects on staying workers' wages.

As shown in Table 4, we conduct a series of robustness tests on the wage results. We define "short-run effect" to be the effect of mergers in one year after the merger (δ_1) , and "long-run effect" to be the average effect in the five years after the merger $(\frac{1}{5}\sum_{\tau=1}^{5} \delta_{\tau})$. Panel A presents the wage effects for staying workers, and Panel B presents the wage effects for all initially employed workers. To address the concern that the differences between target and control establishments are driven by different industry or occupation structures, in Columns 2 and 3, we add industry-by-year fixed effects and occupation-by-year fixed effects, and get similar wage effects. In Column 4 we allow the treatment and control establishments to have different linear wage trends, and the wage effects become even more negative. In Column 5 we control for labor productivity at the firm level, and wage declines remain significant. In Columns 6 and 7, we run our regressions separately for years before and after 2004. Although post-merger wage declines are slightly smaller post-2004, all the effects remain significant in both periods, and not statistically different across subperiods.

We show the effects of failed mergers in Appendix Figure A8. The wage effects for mergers that were never completed are not statistically significant, suggesting that the observed wage cuts following mergers are not due to unobserved heterogeneous wage trends between targets and controls.

We obtain similar results using various matching estimators, reported in Appendix Table A4. These include variations of the baseline matching estimators in which firms were matched: to firms outside their industry and region; at two years before the merger date; and to two control firms for each treated firm based on propensity score. In addition, we use nonparametric matching

³¹The only assumption is monotonicity of selection, which says that workers who leave in target establishments will also leave in control establishments. Since nearly all coefficients in Table 3 are positive, meaning that all subgroups of workers experience an increase in the departure rate in target establishments, the monotonicity assumption is not violated here.

as in Davis et al. (2014) and find that only target establishments and not control establishments experience wage declines. The results still hold when we compare targets to a synthetic control group constructed using only information up to two years before the merger (Appendix Figure A5). Details of these estimators are in Appendix A.1.

1.5.2 Mergers Target Firms with Soft Managers

Our simple theory model predicts that firms with soft managers are more likely to become acquisition targets. Using the manager fixed effects estimated above, we test whether target establishments have softer managers. We estimate the regression

$$\hat{\lambda}_{mjt} = \gamma_1 Target_{jt} + \beta X_{jt} + \varepsilon_{jt}$$
(1.11)

where $\hat{\lambda}$ is manager fixed effects estimated from regression (1.7) and $Target_{jt}$ is a dummy variable indicating whether the establishment is acquired within the next three years, and we control for time-varying establishment characteristics as well as industry-year and region-year fixed effects. The regression is weighted by the standard error of the estimated manager fixed effects.

Column 1 in Table 5 shows that manager fixed effects at target establishments are 1.7% higher than other establishments. This means that managers in target establishments pay workers 1.7% more than managers in comparable establishments. It is important to note that we exclude all post-merger observations of the target establishments when estimating manager fixed effects, so any change in wages after mergers does not enter into the estimated manager fixed effects. Nonetheless, the magnitude of wage decline after mergers in the event studies is very close to the premium of manager fixed effects at target establishments, suggesting that the wage cut represents the loss of wage premiums due to soft managers.

We then test whether target establishments have higher wage premiums than establishments in the same industry and local labor market and with similar productivity by estimating:

$$\hat{\psi}_{jt} = \gamma_1 Target_{jt} + \beta X_{jt} + \varepsilon_{jt} \tag{1.12}$$

where $\hat{\psi}$ is the establishment-year fixed effect from equation (1.6). Column 2 in Table 5 shows that target establishments pay workers 2.3% higher wages on average conditional on productivity, industry, and region. According to equation (1.7), the higher wage premium could be due to a higher establishment-specific component γ_j (e.g., amenities), or higher manager-specific component λ_m , or higher error term ε_{jt} . Both establishment-year fixed effects and manager fixed effects are about 2% higher in target establishments,³² implying that the majority of the wage premium is due to soft managers. In other words, target establishments pay workers higher wages because they have managers who actively implement a high-wage policy, and therefore the wage premium can be eliminated when the target firms replace their managers.

Are managers of acquiring firms softer or tougher? Since the acquirers are targeting firms with soft managers, it is very likely that the acquirers themselves have tough managers. Consistent with this idea, Panel B of Table 5 shows that acquirers have on average 0.8% lower manager fixed effects and 1.1% lower wage premiums than comparable firms.

In Appendix Table A2 we look at what types of firms have a higher propensity to be acquired. Column 1 shows that establishments with higher average wages are more likely to be a target. Higher wages may be due to higher wage premiums or due to more high-skilled workers. Column 2 and Column 3 show that a higher establishment wage premium is associated with a higher likelihood of being acquired, while a more skilled workforce (measured by average worker fixed effects) is not. A one-standard-deviation increase in establishment fixed effects increases the likelihood of being a target by approximately 0.1%, which is a 14% increase over the average probability of 0.7%. The establishment wage premium contains manager fixed effects, establishment fixed effects, and productivity. We further show that establishments with higher manager fixed effects are also more likely to be acquired (Column 4), but establishments with higher establishment fixed effects are not (Column 5), and establishments with higher productivity are less likely to be acquired (Column 6). Therefore the positive correlation between wage premiums and propensity to be ac-

 $^{^{32}}$ One might be concerned that the estimation sample is different in Column 1 and Column 2 of Table 5, since the connected set of managers where manager fixed effects can be identified contains fewer establishments. We estimate the regression in Column 2 on the sample where manager fixed effects can be identified, and results are similar, with a coefficient of 0.025.

quired is driven by manager fixed effects. Column 7 shows that despite the positive effect of wage level, the change in wage levels does not predict acquisitions. This is consistent with the absence of pre-trends in wages before mergers. Although we should be cautious about interpreting these effects as causal, the evidence on propensity to be acquired supports our hypothesis that establishments that have soft managers and pay higher wages to workers are more likely to be targeted by acquirers.

1.5.3 Manager Turnover Around Mergers

Column 6 of Table 3 shows that manager turnover increases significantly following mergers: whereas the departure rate of workers increases by 1% on average, the departure rate of managers increases by over 7%. This is consistent with Hartzell, Ofek, and Yermack (2004), who also found high turnover rates for CEOs at the time of acquisition and for several years thereafter. In our sample, about 43% of the managers in target firms joined different firms within three years after the merger. In contrast, only 20% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at control firms and only 21% of managers joined other firms within three years at firms that are neither targets nor controls. Martin and McConnell (1991) show that the high turnover is due to non-value-maximizing behaviors of managers at target firms: prior to the merger, target firms, which replaced their managers after the merger.

We examine whether firms are more likely to replace soft managers after mergers by comparing manager turnover based on the estimated manager fixed effects in wages. In Figure 1-9 the two solid lines plot manager turnover rates for target establishments with high or low manager fixed effects; for comparison, the two dashed lines plot manager turnover rates for control establishments with high or low manager fixed effects. By year 5, target establishments with soft managers are 8 percentage points more likely to replace the managers than target establishments with tough managers, accounting for about 40% of the difference in manager turnover rates between target and control establishments. This indicates that managers' style in wage-setting is a major factor in deciding whether they remain in the firm after mergers. By contrast, for control establishments,

the difference in turnover rates between soft managers and tough managers is almost negligible. Evidence therefore suggests that mergers and acquisitions are a key corrective mechanism for eliminating soft managers.

1.5.4 Are Wage Cuts Due to Replacing Soft Managers?

In our model, mergers reduce wages at target firms because they remove soft managers. Therefore we would expect wage cuts to be concentrated in target establishments with soft managers. To test this, we modify our empirical specification from Section 5.1, so that we can compare wage changes based on ex ante manager characteristics. We estimate the following equation:

$$w_{ijt} = \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \lambda_{\tau} D_{ijt}(\tau) + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \eta_{\tau} D_{ijt}(\tau) \times \text{SoftManager}_{j} + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \delta_{\tau} D_{ijt}(\tau) \times MA_{j} \times \text{SoftManager}_{j}$$
$$+ \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \gamma_{\tau} D_{ijt}(\tau) \times MA_{j} \times (1 - \text{SoftManager}_{j}) + \alpha_{ij} + \beta X_{ijt} + \mu_{t} + \epsilon_{it}$$
(1.13)

where we include interactions between treatment status, period dummies, and a dummy indicating whether an establishment has soft managers before a merger. We rematch the target establishments to control establishments such that target establishments and control establishments are in the same quartile of manager fixed effects. We define an establishment as *SoftManager*=1 if its manager fixed effect is above the median in year -1. The coefficients γ_{τ} indicate the treatment effects for target establishments with tough managers, and coefficients δ_{τ} indicate the treatment effects for target establishments with soft managers.³³

Figure 1-10(a) presents the results. We find that almost all of the wage cut is concentrated in establishments with soft managers. Workers in target establishments with soft managers experience a wage cut of 3-5%, whereas workers in target establishments with tough managers experience a modest and statistically insignificant wage cut of less than 1%.³⁴

³³One might be concerned that the results are driven by mean reversion. Since we control for *SoftManager* dummy interacted with period dummies, they will absorb the effects of mean reversion.

³⁴To account for measurement error in the estimated manager fixed effects, we use a split-sample instrumental vari-

Since manager fixed effects can be estimated only for firms in the largest connected set, we also use excess wage premium in a firm as a proxy for the manager style. The excess wage premium is defined as the residual from regressing the estimated establishment-year fixed effects ($\hat{\psi}_{jt}$ in equation 1.6) on productivity and on industry-year and region-year fixed effects. It can be estimated for all establishments, regardless of whether they are in the largest connected set linked by manager mobility. The excess wage premium measures how much a firm overpays its workers relative to a comparable firm. As shown in Table 5, the higher excess wage premium in target establishments is mostly due to soft managers. We define an establishment as *High Wage* if its excess wage premium is above the median in year -1. Figure 1-10(b) shows that only workers in target establishments with high excess wage premiums experience wage declines after mergers.

To further investigate whether wage decline after mergers is entirely due to replacing soft managers, we plot the wage changes by establishment manager effects and whether the manager is replaced by year 3 in Figure 1-10(c). Only workers in establishments that had soft managers and replaced those managers experience large wage declines. We also show in Figure A12 that while wages decline when a firm with a soft manager is acquired by a firm with a tough manager, wages do not increase when a firm with a tough manager is acquired by a firm with a soft manager. This indicates that acquirers take over firms with soft managers and replace them with tougher managers to extract rents, but wages change very little when target firms already have tough managers. The magnitude of wage changes when replacing a soft manager after acquisition is close to the magnitude of wage changes when a manager whose manager FE is in the top quartile retires (Section 4.2).

Consistent with our theory, Appendix Figure A13 shows that employment tends to increase in target establishments with soft managers. Appendix Figure A15 shows that the target firms with soft managers experience a large increase in job inflows following mergers. This occurs

ables approach. We split the sample by even and odd years, and estimate manager fixed effects separately for each subsample. The estimation errors are uncorrelated across the two sets of estimates. For each subsample we define soft managers as managers with fixed effects above the median. We then instrument the soft manager dummy from one subsample with the soft manager dummy from the other subsample, and vice versa. This approach yields similar results although the estimates are noisier (Figure A20).

because, by replacing soft managers and lowering labor costs, firms expand production and hire more workers.³⁵

1.5.5 Gains from Mergers

How much value does rent extraction create in merger transactions? To estimate the impact of mergers on the profitability of the combined firm, we combine the balance sheets of each target firm with its acquirer firm before the merger and track the combined performance over time. We compare the return on assets (ROA) of the combined firm³⁶ with firms in the same industry over time using an event study approach. ROA is calculated as profits before taxes and interests divided by total assets. Figure 1-11 plots the change in ROA of combined companies over time and shows that merged companies experienced an average increase in ROA of 1 to 1.5 percentage points within five years after the merger.

We then calculate how much of the increase in ROA can be attributed to rent extraction. As shown in Figure 1-10(c), workers experience large wage declines only at target firms that replace soft managers. Suppose that acquirer firms replace the target firm managers with above-average manager effects with managers with average manager effects, and do not change the wage policy in the acquirer firms or target firms with below-median manager effects. From equation (1.1), by the envelope theorem,³⁷ the impact of a change in manager styles on firm profits is $w_j L_j \Delta(\beta \phi_m)$, where $w_j L_j$ is the wage bill of the target firm, and $\beta \phi_m$ is the identified manager fixed effects. Therefore the impact of replacing soft managers on ROA is:

$$\Delta = p(\beta\phi_{target} - \beta\overline{\phi})^{+} \frac{(wL)_{target}}{A_{acquirer} + A_{target}}$$
(1.14)

³⁵Appendix Figure A15 shows that the average worker quality of the newly hired workers increases at target establishments with soft managers. Although we do not model heterogeneous worker types in our theoretical framework, this suggests that reducing wage premiums due to soft managers may also allow firms to hire higher-quality workers.

³⁶We did not use log profits since there are a significant number of observations with negative profits. To isolate the changes in profits from changes in asset levels, we use pre-merger total assets as denominators when calculating ROAs. Using contemporary assets as denominators does not alter the results.

³⁷Since firms maximize profits with respect to L in the second period, $\frac{\partial \pi}{\partial (\beta \phi_m)} = \frac{\partial w}{\partial (\beta \phi_m)} * L = \frac{\partial (\log w)}{\partial (\beta \phi_m)} * wL \approx wL$.

where p is the probability of replacing a soft manager (which equals 0.56, according to Figure 1-9), the second part is the positive part of the difference between the target's manager fixed effect and the average manager fixed effect, and the last part is the wage bill of the target divided by the total assets of the combined firm. To adjust for the estimation error in manager fixed effects, we use a simple empirical shrinkage procedure from the empirical Bayes literature and shrink the estimates toward the mean.³⁸ The relative weight that the estimate gets in the convex combination varies inversely with the noise of the estimate (which is based on the standard error of the manager fixed effect).

The sample average of the term Δ among all mergers is 0.63 percentage points.³⁹ This indicates that 42% to 63% of the increase in profitability of 1 to 1.5 percentage points following mergers come from the rent extraction channel. The remaining gains are due to efficiency improvements and monopoly power, or changes at the acquirer's establishments. Under the alternative scenario that acquirers replace all soft managers at the target firms with managers similar to the managers at the acquirer firms, the average impact on ROA is even bigger (0.72 percentage points), since acquirers on average have tougher-than-average managers. Given that only two-thirds of the target firms have above-average manager fixed effects, this suggests that many of these mergers would have created no value or even negative value if no rents were extracted from the workers.

An alternative measure for gains from mergers is abnormal stock market returns. Following Bradley, Desai, and Kim (1988), we compute the portfolio cumulative abnormal returns (PCAR), which is the cumulative abnormal return to a value-weighted portfolio of the target and acquirer, over an 11-day event window around the merger announcement. The average PCAR is 2.1%, which is smaller than the average percent increase in ROA (6.6%).⁴⁰ This suggests that the higher profits following mergers are partially reflected in the stock prices and confirms that rent extraction

 $^{^{38}}$ The intuition behind this is that when a manager's fixed effect is estimated to be far above (below) average, it is likely to suffer from a positive (negative) estimation error. Therefore, the expected level of manager fixed effect, given the estimated manager fixed effect, is a convex combination of the estimate and the mean of the underlying process.

³⁹Details of the calculations are in Table A3.

⁴⁰The 6.6% is calculated by dividing the average increase in ROA by the mean ROA of 19.1 percentage points. We calculate ROAs for 87 mergers in the SDC, and the small sample of listed firms precludes a one-to-one match to our worker-level data sets.

explains a large part of the increase in shareholder value.⁴¹

1.5.6 Industry Concentration and Rent-Extracting Mergers

Some recent studies highlight the interactive effects of industry concentration (as a proxy for product competition) and corporate governance. Giroud and Mueller (2010) show that anti-takeover laws have a more negative impact on shareholder value in non-competitive industries, suggesting that takeover pressure and product market competition work as substitutes. Brav, Jiang, and Kim (2015) find that hedge fund activism improves real productivity only in competitive industries and focuses on improving financial structure and agency conflicts in noncompetitive industries. Our theoretical framework suggests that the rent extraction channel of M&As and product market competition are substitutes: in more concentrated industries, firms have higher profits, and there is more room for managerial discretion in setting wages. Accordingly, in concentrated industries, target firms have softer managers, and M&As will lead to larger wage declines.

To test whether target firms have softer managers in more concentrated industries, we estimate the following extended version of equation (1.11):

$$\hat{\lambda}_{mjt} = \gamma_1 Target_{jt} + \gamma_2 Target_{jt} \times HighConcentration_j + \beta X_{jt} + \varepsilon_{jt}$$
(1.15)

where $HighConcentration_j$ is a dummy variable that equals one if firm j is in a industry with HHIs over 1000.⁴² Column 3 of Table 5 shows that manager fixed effects are significantly larger only in concentrated industries, which is consistent with our theoretical prediction.

Figure 1-12 shows large wage declines following mergers in concentrated industries, and no significant wage changes in competitive industries. In concentrated industries, the negative wage

⁴¹Since cutting labor costs is less uncertain than investing in productivity improvements, rent extraction may account for a larger share of the stock price increase if future gains from rent extraction are discounted less than other types of gains from mergers.

⁴²1000 is close to the median HHI for all 127 industries. For example, the Horizontal Merger Guidelines classify markets as unconcentrated (HHI less than 1,500); moderately concentrated (HHI between 1,500 and 2,500); and highly concentrated (HHI above 2,500).

effects from rent extraction dominate the positive wage effects from real productivity increases and market power, whereas the wage effects of all channels are balanced for mergers in competitive industries. This can be also seen from the effects on employment in Figure 1-12, where mergers lead to slightly more positive employment changes in more concentrated industries due to rent extraction.⁴³

1.6 Robustness

1.6.1 Monopsony Power and Labor Market Concentration

A growing literature shows that greater concentration in the labor market leads to lower wages (Azar et al. 2017; Benmelech et al. 2018). In a classic monopsony model, a bigger firm is a larger buyer in the labor market and hence has more market power and can pay lower wages. However, monopsony power cannot explain why target firms pay higher wages ex ante: if the acquirer firm pays significantly lower wages than the target, there is presumably little competitive pressure from the acquirer firm on the target's wages.

To further test whether increases in monopsony power explain the wage declines, we take several approaches to construct measures of monopsony power created by mergers. The first approach is to measure changes in labor market concentration due to mergers. We first use municipalities to approximate local labor markets.⁴⁴ For nearly half of the mergers in our sample, the acquirer firm is not in the same municipality as the target. The top left figure of Figure A22 shows that cross-city mergers seem to lead to even larger wage cuts than same-city mergers. An alternative measure of labor market is by occupation and region (Azar et al. 2017). We treat each four-digit occupation code combined with geographical region as a separate labor market, and calculate the change in the Herfindahl-Hirschman Index (HHI) induced by the merger. For about 15% of the workers in target firms, mergers lead to an increase in HHI of 100 points or more, which is the US government's

⁴³We would expect the opposite to be true if mergers in concentrated industries are primarily driven by product market power.

 $^{^{44}}$ Over 75% of the workers have worked only in one municipality, and over 90% of the workers have worked in no more than two municipalities.

threshold for scrutinizing mergers (FTC/DOC, 2010). The top right figure of Figure A22 shows that workers above the threshold and workers below the threshold experience almost identical wage declines.

The second approach is to measure the diversion ratio, which is the fraction of target firm employees that would move to acquirer firms when the target firm lowers wages (Naidu et al. 2018). We measure it by the fraction of job movers from target firms who moved to the acquirer firm before the merger. A higher ratio indicates that the acquirer is a more important competitor in the labor market. Only about a quarter of the target firms have positive diversion ratios, and the average diversion ratio is less than 5%, indicating that there is little competition between acquirer and target in the labor market. The bottom figure of Figure A22 shows that mergers have similar wage effects for targets with positive diversion ratios and for targets with zero diversion ratios.

These results suggest that most mergers in our sample do not create large enough monopsony power to significantly suppress wages. While it is still possible that some very large mergers suppress wages by creating monopsony, monopsony power cannot explain the large negative wage effects of mergers in our data.

1.6.2 Are Mergers Efficiency-Enhancing?

As shown in our theoretical framework, mergers can increase profits by replacing unproductive managers and raising productivity of the target firms. We test whether acquirers target poorly managed firms in the last two columns of Table 5. Column 4 shows that target establishments on average have slightly lower manager fixed effects on TFP than comparable establishments, and acquirers have higher manager fixed effects on TFP, but the differences are not statistically significant. Column 5 looks at manager fixed effects in value added per worker, and the difference between targets and acquirers is almost zero. Therefore we cannot reject that managers at target firms are as productive as the average manager despite setting higher wages and making less profit, which is consistent with the lack of correlation between managers' productivity and manager's wage effects shown in Section 4.3. This finding implies that M&As discipline managers paying

high wages rather than managers with low productivity.

According to our model, target firms with less productive managers will experience wage increases after mergers. Appendix Figure A18 shows that target firms with less productive managers seem to have more positive wage changes following mergers. Since targets on average have less productive managers than acquirers, replacing unproductive managers (independent of replacing soft managers) will lead to wage increases after mergers, and this positive wage effect is dominated by wage cuts due to rent extraction.

1.6.3 Monopoly Power

Monopoly power is arguably the most cited motivation for mergers. As shown in our theoretical framework, market power should lead to higher profits and therefore increase wages. However, firms may also engage in "killer acquisitions," where they acquire product market competitors as a way to reduce their production and to preempt future competition (Cunningham, Ederer, and Ma 2018). The lack of employment declines after mergers suggests that this motive is not very likely to be prevalent in our sample.

To further investigate whether post-merger wage declines can be explained by killer acquisitions, we divide the sample into horizontal mergers, in which the acquirer and target operate in the same industry, and non-horizontal mergers, in which they do not. The first two columns of Table 6 show that horizontal and non-horizontal mergers lead to nearly identical wage cuts. Column 3 and Column 4 show that production and non-production workers experience similar wage declines after mergers. This finding suggests that reduced competition in the product market cannot explain the negative effect of M&As on target firms' wage premiums.

1.6.4 Discussion of Alternative Interpretations of Manager Styles

Automation and outsourcing

Since automation has large fixed costs, mergers might create economies of scale and induce more automation (Olsson and Tåg 2016; Ma et al. 2017). Similarly, larger firms are more likely

to outsource their non-production activities. Goldschmidt and Schmieder (2017) show that firms outsource their FCSL (food, cleaning, security and logistics) workers to reduce their wage premiums. An alternative explanation for our finding is that tough managers have a greater propensity or capability to automate or outsource, and they use the threat of automating or outsourcing to bargain for lower wages. Increased automation and outsourcing may also reduce the labor demand for routine or FCSL workers and therefore reduce their wages. In Columns 5 to 8 of Table 6, we compare the effects of mergers on wages of routine and FCSL workers versus on non-routine and non-FCSL workers. We find that non-routine and non-FCSL workers experience larger wage cuts, which does not support the explanation that the threat of automation or outsourcing depresses wages after mergers.

Manager entrenchment and ownership

Cronqvist et al. (2009) show that entrenched CEOs pay workers more, and CEOs who own more cash flow rights in their firms pay workers less. Since we do not have data on managers' control rights and cash flow rights, we cannot test how manager styles interact with entrenchment and ownership. However, since our identification of manager styles is based on manager mobility across firms, the estimated manager styles would not capture wage effects due to employer-specific entrenchment and ownership.

In Appendix Figure A19 we compare the wage effects of mergers for family firms and nonfamily firms. About 30% of the target firms in our sample are family firms. Following Bennedsen et al. (2007), we classify a firm as a family firm if managers in different years are family members. We find slightly larger wage cuts for family firms following mergers, suggesting that managers may set generous wages even when they are the owners of the firm and there is no agency conflict.

Nonwage benefits

Another interpretation of manager "softness" is compensating differentials for heterogeneous amenities across managers. For example, soft managers may pay higher wages because they provide workers with worse amenities and nonwage benefits (Sorkin 2018). Although we do not directly observe amenities, and therefore cannot identify manager styles concerning amenities

separately from manager styles in setting wages, we do find that an important part of nonwage benefits—pension payments—decline by nearly 5% after mergers (Appendix Figure A24), which is consistent with Pontiff, Shleifer, and Weisbach (1990). Anecdotal evidence also suggests that amenities often worsen after mergers.⁴⁵

1.7 Conclusion

Using a matched employer-employee data set from Denmark and analyzing the universe of M&A transactions from 1995 to 2011, we identify soft managers—managers with a tendency to set higher wages—and find that M&As target and replace these soft managers. Rent extraction from target firms with soft managers brings higher profits to the acquirer firms, explaining the majority of the rise in profitability of the merged firm. These findings suggest that rent extraction is a major driver of the market for corporate control and a key source of merger synergies.

Our paper contributes to the growing literature of how managerial biases and misoptimization affect firms' real outcomes and the aggregate product and labor markets (DellaVigna and Gentzkow 2018; Dube, Manning, and Naidu 2017; Ma, Sraer, and Thesmar 2018). Our results indicate that with increasing market power (De Loecker and Eekout 2017; Autor et al. 2017; Gutiérrez and Philippon 2017), managers' nonvalue-maximizing behavior becomes more severe, and market forces and corporate governance practices that regulate manager behaviors become increasingly important. We explore the role of M&As in disciplining managers, but more work is needed to understand other forces driving manager behaviors and their aggregate consequences.

The rent extraction channel provides new insights into the costs and benefits of M&As. On the one hand, acquisitions provide market discipline, without which managers might indulge preferences and reduce profits and productivity were it not for the threat of acquisition (Bertrand and Mullainathan 1999, 2003). On the other hand, we find that manager styles in wage setting are uncorrelated with managers' productivity and that mergers do not appear to improve managers'

⁴⁵For example, 3G Capital is famous for cutting even seemingly tiny employee benefits at the companies it acquires: free beer at AB InBev-owned Budweiser after its merger with SABMiller, free Timbits at Tim Hortons annual general meetings after its merger with Burger King, and free cheese sticks for Kraft employees after its merger with Heinz.

productive efficiency. This suggests that the private gains of M&As to the shareholders of target and acquirer firms may exceed the social gains.

More broadly, our results suggest that ownership and management play an important role in the allocation of rents between shareholders and stakeholders. The financialization of firms, which puts more focus on maximizing shareholder value, may lead to large shifts in how rents are distributed. Studies have shown that targets of private equity buyouts and hedge fund activism experience stagnant or declining wages despite higher productivity (Davis et al. 2014; Brav, Jiang, and Kim 2015), and our evidence shows that in some merger transactions higher profits may be a result of lower wages. Exploring the impact of the rent-seeking components of firm activities on labor markets and how and when financial markets stimulate or alleviate these rent-seeking behaviors is an important area for future research.

1.8 Figures

Figure 1-1: Mean wage premiums of firms that switch managers classified by quartile of manager effects for departing and entering managers



Notes: Figure shows mean wage premium of establishments that change managers. Managers are classified into quartiles based on their estimated manager fixed effects $\hat{\lambda}_m$.



Figure 1-2: Correlation of managers' wage residuals across establishments

Notes: This figure shows the binscatter of wage residual in the manager's first employer against the wage residual in manager's second employer. This is similar to the test in Table V of Bertrand and Schoar (2003). The wage residual is from regressing establishment-year fixed effects on year dummies and establishment fixed effects. The number of observations is 69,641, and each dot in the binscatter contain the same number of observations. In the right figure, the variable on the x-axis is the placebo wage residual in the manager's first employer averaged over the three years before the manager joined the firm. The regression coefficient in the left figure is 0.1436 with t-statistic of 13.2; the regression coefficient in the right figure is 0.0001 with t-statistic of 0.01.

Figure 1-3: Characteristics of soft managers



Notes: This figure shows the regression coefficients of manager fixed effects in wages on managers' characteristics. The dependent variable is manager fixed effects and the regression is weighted by the inverse standard errors of the estimated manager fixed effects. Each row is a separate regression. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals shown.



Figure 1-4: Event study of exogenous manager departures

Notes: This figure shows the changed in log real wages around the departure of managers that are at least 62 years old. Year 0 is the year when the manager leaves, and we only include managers that had stayed in the same firm for at least three years before they retire and had never been employed since retirement. We reestimate the manager fixed effects for all managers using data outside the four-year window used for the event studies. The top figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the top quartile and has 1368 events, and the bottom figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the lowest quartile and has 1344 events.



Notes: The graph shows the binscatter plots of manager fixed effects for various outcomes against manager fixed effects for wages. Each dot contains the same number of observations. In (a), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of TFP, where TFP is the residual from regressing log value-added on inputs, including labor, capital and materials, with separate regressions for each three-digit industry. In (b), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of log value-added per worker. In (c), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of the share of workers leaving the establishment in each year. In (d), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of leverage (total debt divided by book value of assets). In (e), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of share of new entrants every year. In (f), on the y axis is manager FE in terms of average worker quality, where worker quality is measured using person fixed effects in an AKM regression with person fixed effects and establishment fixed effects.

Figure 1-5: Correlation between manager fixed effects

Figure 1-6: Industry Concentration and Manager Fixed Effects



Notes: The figure plots the distribution of manager fixed effects in wage setting in industries with different levels of concentration. The dots are median manager fixed effects for each industry group, and the vertical bars denote the range from 25th percentile to 75th percentile of manager fixed effects for each industry group. Three-digit industries are defined as unconcentrated if its HHI is less than 1,500; moderately concentrated if HHI is between 1,500 and 2,500; and highly concentrated if HHI is above 2,500 (according to the Horizontal Merger Guidelines). Manager fixed effects measure managers' generosity in wage setting and the estimation is detailed in Section 4.1.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between treatment and comparison group in a given year τ relative to the year of acquisition in the treatment group establishments, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (9). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. Regressions are weighted by average establishment employment between $\tau = -3$ and $\tau = -1$. The outcome variable in panel (a) is log employment. The outcome variable in panel (b) is proportional change in annual earnings relative to the initial annual earnings before merger $(w/w_0 - 1)$. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and control establishments, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (10). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. All regressions in this figure include person-establishment fixed effects, and the plotted coefficients show the effects of mergers on wage premiums for staying workers. The outcome variable in panel (a) is log annual labor earnings. The outcome variable in panel (b) is annual earnings normalized by the average annual earnings from $\tau = 3$ to $\tau = -1$. The outcome variable in (c) is log hourly wage, which is calculated as annual labor income divided by annual hours worked. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.

Figure 1-9: Manager turnover around mergers



Notes: This figure plots the percentage of managers who are at treatment or control establishments in the year before acquisition that remain in the same establishment for each year after the acquisition. By definition, in year -1, 100% of managers remain in their initial establishment. Managers are defined using occupation codes (see Data Appendix for details) and each establishment has one manager in each year. For both treatment and control establishments we plot separately by manager fixed effects: the red lines are managers with above-median manager fixed effects, and navy lines are managers with below-median manager fixed effects.





(c) By pre-merger manager FE and manager turnover

Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and corresponding control establishments separately by target establishments' pre-merger wage residual or manager softness. In top two figures the navy (red) line plots δ_{τ} (γ_{τ}) in regression (13). In figure (a), the treatment establishments are re-matched to control establishments such that they are in the same quartile of wage residual (manager FE). In figure (b) we define high manager FE as establishments with above-median manager FE (in wage setting) in the year before merger. In the right figure, high wage establishments are establishments with above-median wage residual in the year before merger, where the residual is from regressing establishment-year fixed effects ($\hat{\psi}_{jt}$ in equation 10) on productivity and industry-year and region-year fixed effects. The wage residual proxies for manager softness. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level. In Figure (c), each line shows estimates from a separate regression, where treatment establishments that (1) had above-median manager fixed effect and replaced the manager within 3 years after merger; (3) had above-median manager fixed effect and kept the same manager for at least 3 years after merger; (4) had below-median manager fixed effect and replaced the manager fixed effect and replaced the same manager fixed effect and replaced the manager fixed effect and replaced the manager within 3 years after merger; (4) had below-median manager fixed effect and kept the same manager for at least 3 years after merger; (4) had below-median manager fixed effect and replaced the manager fixed effect and replaced the manager fixed effect and kept the same manager for at least 3 years after merger; (4) had below-median manager fixed effect and kept the same manager for at least 3 years after merger;



Notes: The figure plots the regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the treatment effect of M&As on the return on assets (ROA) of the combined firm. ROA is equal to before-tax profits divided by total assets at the firm level (average ROA is 19 percentage points). For years before the merger took place, ROA of the combined firm is calculated as the sum of before-tax profits of the target and acquirer firms divided by the sum of total profits of the both firms. To isolate the changes in profits from changes in asset levels we use the pre-merger total assets as denominators when calculating the ROAs (using contemporary assets as denominators yield similar results). The plotted coefficients are δ_{τ} from the following firm-level event study including all firms in the economy: $y_{jt} = \alpha_j + \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \delta_{\tau} D_{jt}(\tau) + \beta X_j t + \epsilon_{jt}$, where $D_{jt}(\tau)$ equals one if firm j is a target in year $t - \tau$. The controls X_{jt} include three-digit industry-year fixed effects to control for industry-specific trends. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between wages of staying workers and employment at target and corresponding control establishments in high concentration and low concentration industries. There are 127 three-digit industries and concentration is defined by the Herfindahl-Hirschman index. High concentration industries have HHI above 1000. The left figure plots coefficients δ_{τ} from the worker-level difference-in-differences model in (10), and the right figure plots coefficients δ_{τ} from the establishment-level difference-in-differences model in (9). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.

1.9 Tables

	Т	able 1 Summ	nary Statistic	cs	. <u></u>	
Firm Data						
	All	firms	Targe	et firms	Acqui	rer firms
Observations (firm-year)	2,20	06,320	5,	,244	3,	483
Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Mean	Std. Dev.
Employment	16.6	252.3	264.0	2063	828.8	3089
Median employment	3		15		74	
Log value added	7.30	1.41	8.84	1.67	10.17	1.81
Log sales	8.20	1.56	9.99	1.82	11.25	1.98
Average log annual wage	11.96	0.79	12.12	0.51	12.13	0.51
Average log hourly wage	4.95	0.51	4.98	0.32	5.01	0.32
Log value added per worker	5.90	0.80	5.84	0.73	6.02	0.44
Number of establishments	1.13	2.77	3.41	18.4	12.02	38.4
Median no. of establishments	1		1		3	
Worker Data						
	All v	vorkers	Target firm	n employees	Acquirer fit	m employees
Observations (worker-year)	41,7	06,676	286	6,114	1,73	9,780
Variable	Mean	Std. Dev.	Mean	Std. Dev.	Mean	Std. Dev.
Age	39.6	12.9	37.6	13.2	40.1	12.9
Female (%)	48.3		45.5		49.8	
Married (%)	50.5		45.6		0.84	
Basic education (%)	37.0		43.0		33.6	
Vocational training (%)	36.3		36.1		33.6	
College education (%)	26.7		21.0		32.9	
Experience	15.4	11.0	14.5	11.1	16.0	11.3
Tenure	4.2	5.7	4.0	5.4	4.1	5.8
Average log annual wage	12.21	0.85	12.17	0.86	12.25	0.80
Average log hourly wage	5.05	0.53	5.01	0.52	5.08	0.45

Notes: All statistics reported are for the matched employer-employee data set described in Section 3.1. Firm-level balance sheet data are from the firm register and available from 1999. Worker-level information is from the income register and is available for the entire sample period (1995-2011). Mergers where we cannot distinguish between the target and acquirer are excluded from the merger sample. All monetary values are normalized to real 2010 Danish kroner. All ages refer to the age of an individual as of November within a given year. The classification of education groups relies on a Danish education code that corresponds to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED). "Higher education" basically corresponds to the two highest categories (5 and 6) in the ISCED; i.e., the individual has a tertiary education. "Vocational education" is defined as the final stage of secondary education encompassing programs that prepare students for direct entry into the labor market. Workers with just a high school or equivalent education or less are classified as having "basic education." The medians are calculated as the average value of 10 observations around the median.

	# of person/year obs.	# of establishments	# of workers
All population	34,000,350	379,780	3,655,779
Largest connected set in Step 1	33,906,527	364,349	3,621,302
Largest connected set in Step 2	19,992,506	60,301	2,673,937

Table 2 Estimation of Manager Fixed Effects

Step 1: Estimation of Establishment Year Fixed Effects

	OLS	Leave Out
	(Plug in)	(Kline et al. 2018)
Std. dev. of dependent variable	0.469	0.469
Std. dev. of person effects	0.269	0.224
Std. dev. of establishment year effects	0.165	0.138
Correlation of person/estab. effects	-0.01	0.16
Adjusted R-squared	0.923	0.853
Step 2: Estimat	ion of Manager Fixe	d Effects
Std. dev. of dependent variable	0.147	0.147
Std. dev. of manager effects	0.106	0.082
Std. dev. of establishment effects	0.097	0.075

Std. dev. of manager effects	0.106	0.082	
Std. dev. of establishment effects	0.097	0.075	
Correlation of manager/estab. effects	-0.22	-0.03	
Adjusted R-squared	0.869	0.781	
Comparison match model			
Adjusted R-squared	0.873		
Std. dev. of match effect	0.032		
Model without manager FE			
Adjusted R-squared	0.503		
F statistic	9.99		
Number of managers	109,252		
p value	<0.001		

Notes: This table summarizes the estimation details in estimating manager fixed effects in Section 4.1. The first step estimates equation (6). Establishment fixed effects ψ_{jt} and person fixed effects ξ_i are separately identified in the largest connected set linked by worker mobility. The control variables Xb include year dummies interacted with education dummies, and quadratic and cubic terms in age interacted with education dummies. The second step estimates equation (7), and manager fixed effects λ_m and establishment fixed effects are separately identified in the largest connected set linked by manager mobility. Managers are defined using occupation codes (see Data Appendix for details) and each establishment has one manager in each year. The control variables Xb include share of female workers, the share of workers in each education group, average age and experience of workers, and dummies for each decile of value-added per worker. The statistics reported in the second column under Step 1 and Step 2 are from the leave-out estimator in Kline et al (2018). The match model contains a dummy for each manager-establishment pair. Reported F-statistic and p value are from F-tests for the joint significance of the manager fixed effects.

	Dependent Variable: Departure Rate						
	(1) (2) (3) (4) (5)				(5)	(6)	
	All workers	Wage Quartile 1	Wage Quartile 2	Wage Quartile 3	Wage Quartile 4	Managers	
Year t=0	0.011	0.006	0.009	0.007	0.025***	0.030***	
	(0.008)	(0.017)	(0.010)	(0.007)	(0.008)	(0.007)	
Year t=1	0.008	0.004	0.003	0.004	0.019	0.052***	
	(0.015)	(0.026)	(0.019)	(0.005)	(0.016)	(0.011)	
Year t=2	0.014	0.001	0.002	0.007	0.026	0.071***	
	(0.016)	(0.026)	(0.021)	(0.007)	(0.018)	(0.013)	
Year t=3	0.010	0.003	0.006	0.005	0.020	0.070***	
	(0.017)	(0.028)	(0.023)	(0.019)	(0.020)	(0.013)	
Year t=4	0.005	0.002	0.006	0.000	0.007	0.066***	
	(0.018)	(0.028)	(0.024)	(0.020)	(0.022)	(0.014)	
Year t=5	0.003	-0.007	0.008	-0.001	0.010	0.063***	
	(0.020)	(0.028)	(0.026)	(0.020)	(0.025)	(0.016)	
No. of observations	1,121,850	278,339	277,318	282,790	283,233	50,534	

Table 3 Effects of Mergers on Worker Departure

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table shows the effect of mergers on probability of leaving for workers in target establishments. The dependent variable is a dummy variable that equals one if the worker is not in the same establishment as in year -1 (the year before merger), and the coefficients are δ_{τ} in the difference-in-differences regression (16). All regressions control for person fixed effects and year fixed effects. The wage quartile of a worker is calculated at year $\tau = -1$ compared to all other workers in that year, and wage quartile 1 is the lowest wage quartile. Managers are defined using occupation codes (see Data Appendix for details) and each establishment has one manager in each year. Standard errors are clustered by establishment and reported in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Dependent variable	Log wage	Log wage	Log wage	Log wage	Log wage	Before 2004	After 2004
			<u>A. S</u>	taying workers			
Short-run effect	-0.008*	-0.007**	-0.005	-0.010	-0.005	-0.010	-0.008
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.006)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.005)
Long-run effect	-0.014***	-0.012***	-0.010**	-0.018**	-0.015***	-0.019***	-0.011*
	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.009)	(0.005)	(0.006)	(0.007)
			<u>B. All initia</u>	ally employed w	orkers		
Short-run effect	-0.019***	-0.017***	-0.012***	-0.019***	-0.020***	-0.022***	-0.015***
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.007)	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Long-run effect	-0.025***	-0.021***	-0.018***	-0.027**	-0.024***	-0.028***	-0.020***
	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.007)
Industry*year FE		х	x				
Occupation*year FE			x				
Linear pre-trend				x	v		
No. of observations	1,095,058	1,095,058	1,095,058	1,095,058	881,952	636,271	458,787
		C. Bouding e	xercise in Lee (2	009) for wage e	ffects of staying	workers	
Year relative to merger	t=0	t=1	t=2	t=3	t=4	t=5	
Upper bound	0.005	-0.003	-0.009	-0.006	-0.002	0.004	
Standard error	0.003	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.005	
Lower bound	-0.009	-0.025	-0.035	-0.035	-0.035	-0.033	
Standard error	0.003	0.004	0.004	0.004	0.005	0.005	
Confidence interval (Imbens and Manski)	[-0.015, 0.010]	[-0.031,0.004]	[-0.042,-0.002]	[-0.043,0.001]	[-0.042,0.006]	[-0.041,0.012]	

Table 4 Effects of Mergers on Wages

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table shows the effect of mergers on wages of workers in target establishments. Panel (A) shows the effects on wages of workers remaining in the target establishments, i.e. coefficients δ_{τ} in regression (10). Panel (B) shows the effects on wages of all workers initially employed in the target establishments, i.e. coefficients δ_{τ} in regression (16). Short-run effects refer to the difference-in-differences effects using year $\tau = 1$ post-merger as the post period; long-run effects refer to the specifications using years 1 through 5 post-merger as the post period. All regressions control for person fixed effects and year fixed effects. Column 2 controls for 4-digit industry*year fixed effects, and Column 3 controls for 4-digit occupation*year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered by establishment and reported in parentheses. Panel (C) shows the upper bound and lower bound of the wage effects for remaining target firm employees accounting for selection using the trimming method in Lee (2009). The bounds are calculated separately for each year after the merger. To make the bounds narrower, we divide all workers in target and control establishments into three equal-sized groups based on the job tenure at year of merger, and apply the trimming procedure separately to each group. The bounds are the average of group specific bounds, and asymptotic variance is the average of the asymptotic variance for each group plus the weighted average squared deviation of each group's estimate from the mean. The confidence interval is based on Imbens and Manski (2004) and is [lower bound+1.645×s.e. of lower bound, upper bound+1.645×s.e. of upper bound].

······································	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
			(3)		Manager FE
	Manager FE	Establishment	Manager FE	Manager FE	in value
Dependent Variable	in wage	year FE	in wage	in TFP	added per worker
		A. Target fir	ms		
Target	0.017**	0.023***	0.006	-0.012	-0.005
C	(0.007)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.021)	(0.015)
Target * High			0.032**		
concentration industry			(0.015)		
		B. Acquirer fi	rms		
Acquirer	-0.008	-0.011***	-0.005	0.013	0.000
	(0.005)	(0.002)	(0.006)	(0.009)	(0.007)
Acquirer * High			-0.013		
concentration industry			(0.008)		
Control for value added	х	х	x		
Industry*Year FE	х	х	х	х	. X
Region*Year FE	х	Х	х	х	х
No. of establishments	53,748	324,390	53,748	53,748	53,748

1 4

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table shows the wage premiums, manager styles and manager productivity in target establishments and acquirer establishments compared to other firms in the economy. All regressions include industry-year and region-year fixed effects. The dummy variable "Target" equals one if the establishment will become a target within the next three years but has not been acquired yet. The dummy variable "Acquirer" equals one if the establishment belongs to a firm that will acquire another firm in the next three years. All regressions are weighted by the inverse standard error of the estimated manager or establishment-year fixed effects. The estimation of manager fixed effects and establishment-year fixed effects are detailed in Section 4.1. In Column 2, manager fixed effects are estimated by excluding all managers in step 1 of the estimation procedure. High concentration industry is a dummy indicating that the firm is in a three-digit industry with HHI over 1000. In the last two columns, the dependent variables are manager fixed effects estimated from equation (11), with dependent variables being TFP and log value-added per worker respectively. Total factor productivity (TFP) is estimated by equation (15), and since labor input is measured by number of workers, the wage level does not affect TFP directly.

	Table 6	Alternative Mec	chanisms	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Dependent variable: log annual wage	Horizontal	Non- horizontal	Production workers	Non-production workers
Short-run effect	-0.012*** (0.005)	-0.009* (0.006)	-0.014*** (0.006)	-0.008** (0.004)
Long-run effect	-0.014*** (0.005)	-0.013* (0.008)	-0.016*** (0.006)	-0.012** (0.005)
No. of observations	832,244	262,814	400,026	505,344
	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
	Routine workers	Non-routine workers	FCSL (food, cleaning, security logistics) workers	Non-FCSL workers
Short-run effect	-0.004 (0.007)	-0.004 (0.004)	-0.012 (0.010)	-0.007* (0.004)
Long-run effect	-0.003 (0.008)	-0.010** (0.005)	0.010 (0.012)	-0.014*** (0.005)
No. of observations	324,312	615,634	56,575	1,026,487

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table presents the effects of mergers on wages of staying workers in the target establishments (based on equation (10)) for various worker groups and types of mergers. Short-run effects refer to the difference-in-differences effects using year $\tau = 1$ post-merger as the post period; long-run effects refer to the specifications using years 1 through 5 post-merger as the post period. In Column (1) and (2), horizontal mergers are defined as mergers in which target and acquirer firms are in the same four-digit industry. In Column (3) and (4), workers are classified into non-production or production category based on their detailed occupation information. The nonproduction category includes managers, professionals, technicians, clerks, sales and service workers. The production category includes operators, craft, and laborers. In Column (5) and (6) routine workers are workers in occupations that are in the top employment-weighted third of routine task intensity. In Column (7) and (8) FCSL workers are workers in food, cleaning, security and logistics occupations as defined in Goldschmidt and Schmieder (2017). All regressions control for person-establishment fixed effects and year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered by establishment and reported in parentheses.

Bibliography

- Abowd, John M., Francis Kramarz, and David N. Margolis. 1999. "High Wage Workers and High Wage Firms." *Econometrica* 67 (2):251–333.
- [2] Acemoglu, Daron, and William B. Hawkins. 2014. "Search with Multi-Worker Firms." *Theoretical Economics* 9 (3): 583–628.
- [3] Acemoglu, Daron, and Andrew F. Newman. 2002. "The Labor Market and Corporate Structure." *European Economic Review* 46 (10): 1733–56.
- [4] Agrawal, Ashwini, and Prasanna Tambe. 2018. "Mergers & Acquisitions and Employee Job Search." Mimeo.
- [5] Akerlof, George A. 1982. "Labor Contracts as Partial Gift Exchange." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 97 (4): 543–69.
- [6] Andrade, Gregor, Mark Mitchell, and Erik Stafford. 2001. "New Evidence and Perspectives on Mergers." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 15 (2): 103–20.
- [7] Andrews, M. J., L. Gill, T. Schank, and R. Upward. 2008. "High Wage Workers and Low Wage Firms: Negative Assortative Matching or Limited Mobility Bias?" *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society* (A), 171 (3): 673–97.
- [8] Ashenfelter, Orley, Daniel Hosken, and Matthew Weinberg. 2014. "Did Robert Bork Understate the Competitive Impact of Mergers? Evidence from Consummated Mergers." *Journal* of Law and Economics 57 (S3): S67–100.

- [9] Autor, David H., David Dorn, Lawrence F. Katz, Christina Patterson, Van Reenen, John. 2017. "The Fall of the Labor Share and the Rise of Superstar Firms." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2968382.
- [10] Azar, José, Ioana Marinescu, and Marshall I Steinbaum. 2017. "Labor Market Concentration." Working Paper 24147. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [11] Bach, Laurent, and Nicolas Serrano-Velarde. 2015. "CEO Identity and Labor Contracts: Evidence from CEO Transitions." *Journal of Corporate Finance* 33 (August): 227–42.
- [12] Benmelech, Efraim, Nittai Bergman, and Hyunseob Kim. 2018. "Strong Employers and Weak Employees: How Does Employer Concentration Affect Wages?" Working Paper 24307. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [13] Bennedsen, Morten, Kasper Meisner Nielsen, Francisco Perez-Gonzalez, and Daniel Wolfenzon. 2007. "Inside the Family Firm: The Role of Families in Succession Decisions and Performance." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 122 (2): 647–91.
- [14] Bennedsen, Morten, Francisco Pérez-González, and Daniel Wolfenzon. 2017. "Do CEOs matter: Evidence from CEO Hospitalization Events." *Journal of Finance* Forthcoming.
- [15] Bertrand, Marianne, and Sendhil Mullainathan. 1999. "Is There Discretion in Wage Setting? A Test Using Takeover Legislation." *The RAND Journal of Economics* 30 (3):535–54.
- [16] Bertrand, Marianne, and Sendhil Mullainathan. 2003. "Enjoying the Quiet Life? Corporate Governance and Managerial Preferences." *Journal of Political Economy* 111 (5):1043–75.
- [17] Bertrand, Marianne, and Antoinette Schoar. 2003. "Managing with Style: The Effect of Managers on Firm Policies." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 118 (4): 1169–1208.
- [18] Betton, Sandra, B. Espen Eckbo, and Karin S. Thorburn. 2008. "Corporate Takeovers." Handbook of Corporate Finance: Empirical Corporate Finance 2: 291–430.

- [19] Black, Sandra E., and Philip E. Strahan. 2001. "The Division of Spoils: Rent-Sharing and Discrimination in a Regulated Industry." *American Economic Review* 91 (4):814–31.
- [20] Blonigen, Bruce A., and Justin R. Pierce. 2016. "Evidence for the Effects of Mergers on Market Power and Efficiency." Working Paper 22750. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [21] Song, Jae, David J. Price, Fatih Guvenen, Nicholas Bloom, and Till von Wachter. 2015."Firming Up Inequality." Working Paper 21199. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [22] Botero, Juan C., Simeon Djankov, Rafael La Porta, Florencio Lopez-de-Silanes, and Andrei Shleifer. 2004. "The Regulation of Labor." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 119 (4):1339–82.
- [23] Boucly, Quentin, David Sraer, and David Thesmar. 2011. "Growth LBOs." Journal of Financial Economics 102 (2):432–53.
- [24] Bradley, Michael, Anand Desai, and E. Han Kim. 1988. "Synergistic Gains from Corporate Acquisitions and Their Division between the Stockholders of Target and Acquiring Firms." *Journal of Financial Economics* 21 (1): 3–40.
- [25] Braguinsky, Serguey, Atsushi Ohyama, Tetsuji Okazaki, and Chad Syverson. 2015. "Acquisitions, Productivity, and Profitability: Evidence from the Japanese Cotton Spinning Industry." American Economic Review 105 (7):2086–2119.
- [26] Brav, Alon, Wei Jiang, and Hyunseob Kim. 2015. "The Real Effects of Hedge Fund Activism: Productivity, Asset Allocation, and Labor Outcomes." *Review of Financial Studies* 28 (10):2723–69.
- [27] Caldwell, Sydnee, and Nikolaj Harmon. 2018. "Outside Options, Bargaining, and Wages: Evidence from Co-Worker Networks". Mimeo.

- [28] Card, David, Ana Rute Cardoso, Joerg Heining, and Patrick Kline. 2018. "Firms and Labor Market Inequality: Evidence and Some Theory." *Journal of Labor Economics* 36 (S1): S13–70.
- [29] Card, David, Jörg Heining, and Patrick Kline. 2013. "Workplace Heterogeneity and the Rise of West German Wage Inequality." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 128 (3):967–1015.
- [30] Conyon, Martin J., Sourafel Girma, Steve Thompson, and Peter W. Wright. 2002. "The Impact of Mergers and Acquisitions on Company Employment in the United Kingdom." *European Economic Review* 46 (1): 31–49.
- [31] Cronqvist, Henrik, Fredrik Heyman, Mattias Nilsson, Helena Svaleryd, and Jonas Vlachos. 2009. "Do Entrenched Managers Pay Their Workers More?" *Journal of Finance* 64 (1):309–39.
- [32] Cunningham, Colleen, Florian Ederer, and Song Ma. 2018. "Killer Acquisitions." Mimeo.
- [33] Dafny, Leemore. 2009. "Estimation and Identification of Merger Effects: An Application to Hospital Mergers." *Journal of Law and Economics* 52 (3): 523–50.
- [34] Dahl, Christian M., Daniel le Maire, and Jakob R. Munch. 2013. "Wage Dispersion and Decentralization of Wage Bargaining." *Journal of Labor Economics* 31 (3):501–33.
- [35] David, Joel. 2017. "The Aggregate Implications of Mergers and Acquisitions." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2033555. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network.
- [36] Davis, Steven J., John Haltiwanger, Kyle Handley, Ron Jarmin, Josh Lerner, and Javier Miranda. 2014. "Private Equity, Jobs, and Productivity." *American Economic Review* 104 (12):3956–90.
- [37] DellaVigna, Stefano, and Matthew Gentzkow. 2017. "Uniform Pricing in US Retail Chains." Working Paper 23996. National Bureau of Economic Research.

- [38] De Loecker, Jan, and Jan Eeckhout. 2017. "The Rise of Market Power and the Macroeconomic Implications." Working Paper 23687. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [39] Dessaint, Olivier, Andrey Golubov, and Paolo Volpin. 2017. "Employment Protection and Takeovers." *Journal of Financial Economics* 125 (2):369–88.
- [40] Devos, Erik, Palani-Rajan Kadapakkam, and Srinivasan Krishnamurthy. 2009. "How Do Mergers Create Value? A Comparison of Taxes, Market Power, and Efficiency Improvements as Explanations for Synergies." *Review of Financial Studies* 22 (3):1179–1211.
- [41] Dube, Arindrajit, Alan Manning, and Suresh Naidu. 2018. "Monopsony and Employer Mis-Optimization Explain Why Wages Bunch at Round Numbers." Working Paper 24991. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [42] Eaton, Charlie, Sabrina Howell, and Constantine Yannelis. 2018. "When Investor Incentives and Consumer Interests Diverge: Private Equity in Higher Education." Working Paper 24976. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [43] Ellul, Andrew, Marco Pagano, and Fabiano Schivardi. 2018. "Employment and Wage Insurance within Firms: Worldwide Evidence." *Review of Financial Studies* 31 (4): 1298–1340.
- [44] Erel, Isil, Yeejin Jang, and Michael S. Weisbach. 2015. "Do Acquisitions Relieve Target Firms' Financial Constraints?" *Journal of Finance* 70 (1): 289–328.
- [45] Farrell, Joseph, and Carl Shapiro. 1990. "Horizontal Mergers: An Equilibrium Analysis." American Economic Review 80 (1): 107–26.
- [46] Fee, C. Edward, Charles J. Hadlock, and Joshua R. Pierce. 2013. "Managers with and without Style: Evidence Using Exogenous Variation." *Review of Financial Studies* 26 (3): 567–601.
- [47] Frederiksen, Anders, Lisa B Kahn, and Fabian Lange. 2017. "Supervisors and Performance Management Systems." NBER Working Paper 23351.
- [48] Friedrich, Benjamin. 2017. "Internal Labor Markets and the Competition for Managerial Talent." Working Paper.
- [49] Frydman, Carola, and Eric Hilt. 2017. "Investment Banks as Corporate Monitors in the Early Twentieth Century United States." *American Economic Review* 107 (7): 1938–70.
- [50] FTC/DOJ. 2010. "Horizontal merger guidelines." FTC/DOJ Washington DC.
- [51] Giroud, Xavier, and Holger M. Mueller. 2010. "Does Corporate Governance Matter in Competitive Industries?" *Journal of Financial Economics* 95 (3):312–31.
- [52] Goldschmidt, Deborah, and Johannes F. Schmieder. 2017. "The Rise of Domestic Outsourcing and the Evolution of the German Wage Structure." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132 (3):1165–1217.
- [53] Gormley, Todd A., and David A. Matsa. 2016. "Playing It Safe? Managerial Preferences, Risk, and Agency Conflicts." *Journal of Financial Economics* 122 (3): 431–455.
- [54] Guiso, Luigi, Luigi Pistaferri, and Fabiano Schivardi. 2005. "Insurance within the Firm." *Journal of Political Economy* 113 (5): 1054–87.
- [55] Gutiérrez, Germán, and Thomas Philippon. 2017. "Declining Competition and Investment in the U.S." Working Paper 23583. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [56] Hart, Oliver, and Luigi Zingales. 2017. "Companies Should Maximize Shareholder Welfare Not Market Value." Journal of Law, Finance, and Accounting 2 (2): 247–75.
- [57] Hartzell, Jay C., Eli Ofek, and David Yermack. 2004. "What's In It for Me? CEOs Whose Firms Are Acquired." *Review of Financial Studies* 17 (1):37–61.
- [58] Hicks, J. R. 1935. "Annual Survey of Economic Theory: The Theory of Monopoly." *Econo*metrica 3 (1): 1–20.

- [59] Hoberg, Gerard, and Gordon Phillips. 2010. "Product Market Synergies and Competition in Mergers and Acquisitions: A Text-Based Analysis." *Review of Financial Studies* 23 (10): 3773–3811.
- [60] Hortaçsu, Ali, and Chad Syverson. 2007. "Cementing Relationships: Vertical Integration, Foreclosure, Productivity, and Prices." *Journal of Political Economy* 115 (2): 250–301.
- [61] Houde, Jean-François. 2012. "Spatial Differentiation and Vertical Mergers in Retail Markets for Gasoline." *American Economic Review* 102 (5): 2147–82.
- [62] Houston, Joel F, Christopher M James, and Michael D Ryngaert. 2001. "Where Do Merger Gains Come from? Bank Mergers from the Perspective of Insiders and Outsiders." *Journal* of Financial Economics, 60 (2):285–331.
- [63] Huttunen, Kristiina. 2007. "The Effect of Foreign Acquisition on Employment and Wages: Evidence from Finnish Establishments." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 89 (3): 497–509.
- [64] Ilsøe, Anna. 2012. "The Flip Side of Organized Decentralization: Company-Level Bargaining in Denmark." British Journal of Industrial Relations 50 (4): 760–81.
- [65] Imbens, Guido W. and Donald B. Rubin. 2015. Causal Inference for Statistics, Social, and Biomedical Sciences. Cambridge University Press.
- [66] Jacobson, Louis S., Robert J. LaLonde, and Daniel G. Sullivan. 1993. "Earnings Losses of Displaced Workers." American Economic Review 83 (4):685–709.
- [67] Jäger, Simon. 2016. "How Substitutable Are Workers? Evidence from Worker Deaths." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2925897.
- [68] Jensen, Michael C., and Richard S. Ruback. 1983. "The Market for Corporate Control: The Scientific Evidence." *Journal of Financial Economics* 11 (1): 5–50.

- [69] Jenter, Dirk, and Katharina Lewellen. 2015. "CEO Preferences and Acquisitions." *Journal of Finance* 70 (6): 2813–52.
- [70] John, Kose, Anzhela Knyazeva, and Diana Knyazeva. 2015. "Employee Rights and Acquisitions." *Journal of Financial Economics* 118 (1):49–69.
- [71] Kadyrzhanova, Dalida, and Matthew Rhodes-Kropf. 2011. "Concentrating on Governance." *Journal of Finance* 66 (5): 1649–85.
- [72] Kahneman, Daniel, Jack L. Knetsch, and Richard Thaler. 1986. "Fairness as a Constraint on Profit Seeking: Entitlements in the Market." *American Economic Review* 76 (4): 728–41.
- [73] Kaplan, Steven. 2016. "Forget what you've read: Most mergers create value." Chicago Booth Review.
- [74] Kaplan, Steven N., Mark M. Klebanov, and Morten Sorenson. 2012. "Which CEO Characteristics and Abilities Matter?" *Journal of Finance* 67(3): 973-1007.
- [75] Kim, E. Han, and Vijay Singal. 1993. "Mergers and Market Power: Evidence from the Airline Industry." *American Economic Review* 83 (3): 549–69.
- [76] Kline, Patrick, Neviana Petkova, Heidi Williams, and Owen Zidar. 2017. "Who Profits from Patents? Rent-Sharing at Innovative Firms." mimeo.
- [77] Kline, Patrick, Raffaele Saggio, and Mikkel Sølvsten. 2018. "Leave-out Estimation of Variance Components." arXiv:1806.01494 [econ], June.
- [78] Krueger, Alan B. 1991. "Ownership, Agency, and Wages: An Examination of Franchising in the Fast Food Industry." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 106 (1):75–101.
- [79] Krueger, AlanăB., and Alexandre Mas. 2004. "Strikes, Scabs, and Tread Separations: Labor Strife and the Production of Defective Bridgestone/Firestone Tires." *Journal of Political Economy* 112 (2): 253–89.

- [80] Landier, Augustin, Vinay B. Nair, and Julie Wulf. 2009. "Trade-Offs in Staying Close: Corporate Decision Making and Geographic Dispersion." *Review of Financial Studies* 22 (3):1119–48.
- [81] Lang, Larry H. P., René M. Stulz, and Ralph A. Walkling. 1989. "Managerial Performance, Tobin's Q, and the Gains from Successful Tender Offers." *Journal of Financial Economics* 24 (1): 137–54.
- [82] Lazear, Edward P., Kathryn L. Shaw, and Christopher T. Stanton. 2015. "The Value of Bosses." *Journal of Labor Economics* 33 (4): 823–61.
- [83] Lee, David S. 2009. "Training, Wages, and Sample Selection: Estimating Sharp Bounds on Treatment Effects." *Review of Economic Studies* 76 (3):1071–1102.
- [84] Levine, Oliver. 2017. "Acquiring Growth." Journal of Financial Economics 126 (2):300–319.
- [85] Li, Xiaoyang. 2013. "Productivity, Restructuring, and the Gains from Takeovers." *Journal* of Financial Economics 109 (1): 250–71.
- [86] Lichtenberg, Frank R., and Donald Siegel. 1990. "The Effects of Leveraged Buyouts on Productivity and Related Aspects of Firm Behavior." *Journal of Financial Economics* 27 (1): 165–94.
- [87] Liskovich, Inessa. 2016. "Corporate Governance and the Firm's Workforce." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2765591. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network.
- [88] Ma, Wenting, Paige Ouimet, and Elena Simintzi. 2017. "Mergers and Acquisitions, Technological Change and Inequality." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2793887. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network.
- [89] Ma, Yueran, David Sraer, and David Thesmar. 2018. "Do Managerial Forecasting Biases Matter?" Mimeo.

- [90] Maksimovic, Vojislav, and Gordon Phillips. 2001. "The Market for Corporate Assets: Who Engages in Mergers and Asset Sales and Are There Efficiency Gains?" *Journal of Finance* 56 (6): 2019–65.
- [91] Maksimovic, Vojislav, Gordon Phillips, and N. R. Prabhala. 2011. "Post-Merger Restructuring and the Boundaries of the Firm." *Journal of Financial Economics* 102 (2):317–43.
- [92] Malmendier, Ulrike, Enrico Moretti, and Florian Peters. 2016. "Winning by Losing: Evidence on Overbidding in Mergers." *Review of Financial Studies* Forthcoming.
- [93] Manne, Henry G. 1965. "Mergers and the Market for Corporate Control." Journal of Political Economy 73 (2): 110–20.
- [94] Martin, Kenneth J., and John J. McConnell. 1991. "Corporate Performance, Corporate Takeovers, and Management Turnover." *Journal of Finance* 46 (2): 671–87.
- [95] Matsa, David A. 2010. "Capital Structure as a Strategic Variable: Evidence from Collective Bargaining." *Journal of Finance* 65 (3): 1197–1232.
- [96] Miller, Nathan H., and Matthew C. Weinberg. 2017. "Understanding the Price Effects of the MillerCoors Joint Venture." *Econometrica* 85 (6): 1763–91.
- [97] Moeller, Sara B, Frederik P Schlingemann, and René M Stulz. 2004. "Firm Size and the Gains from Acquisitions." *Journal of Financial Economics* 73 (2): 201–28.
- [98] Mueller, Holger M., and Thomas Philippon. 2011. "Family Firms and Labor Relations." *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics* 3 (2): 218–45.
- [99] Mullins, William, and Antoinette Schoar. 2016. "How Do CEOs See Their Roles? Management Philosophies and Styles in Family and Non-Family Firms." *Journal of Financial Economics* 119 (1): 24–43.
- [100] Naidu, Suresh, Eric A. Posner, and E. Glen Weyl. 2018. "Antitrust Remedies for Labor Market Power." *Harvard Law Review*. Forthcoming.

- [101] Neumark, David, and Steven A. Sharpe. 1996. "Rents and Quasi Rents in the Wage Structure: Evidence from Hostile Takeovers." *Industrial Relations: A Journal of Economy and Society* 35 (2):145–79.
- [102] Olsson, Martin, and Joacim Tåg. 2016. "Private Equity, Layoffs, and Job Polarization." Journal of Labor Economics 35 (3):697–754.
- [103] Ordover, Janusz A., Garth Saloner, and Steven C. Salop. 1990. "Equilibrium Vertical Foreclosure." American Economic Review 80 (1): 127–42.
- [104] Ouimet, Paige, and Rebecca Zarutskie. 2011. "Acquiring Labor." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 1946780.
- [105] Pagano, Marco, and Paulo F. Volpin. 2005. "Managers, Workers, and Corporate Control." *Journal of Finance* 60 (2):841–68.
- [106] Pesendorfer, Martin. 2003. "Horizontal Mergers in the Paper Industry." RAND Journal of Economics 34 (3): 495–515.
- [107] Phillips, Gordon M., and Alexei Zhdanov. 2013. "R&D and the Incentives from Merger and Acquisition Activity." *Review of Financial Studies* 26 (1): 34–78.
- [108] Pontiff, Jeffrey, Andrei Shleifer, and Michael S. Weisbach. 1990. "Reversions of Excess Pension Assets after Takeovers." *RAND Journal of Economics* 21 (4): 600–613.
- [109] Rose, Nancy L. 1987. "Labor Rent Sharing and Regulation: Evidence from the Trucking Industry." *Journal of Political Economy* 95 (6):1146–78.
- [110] Rosenbaum, Paul R., and Donald B. Rubin. 1985. "Constructing a Control Group Using Multivariate Matched Sampling Methods That Incorporate the Propensity Score." *The American Statistician* 39 (1): 33–38.
- [111] Schoar, Antoinette. 2002. "Effects of Corporate Diversification on Productivity." *Journal of Finance* 57 (6): 2379–2403.

- [112] Schoar, Antoinette, and Luo Zuo. 2016. "Does the Market Value CEO Styles?" American Economic Review 106 (5): 262–66.
- [113] Schoar, Antoinette, and Luo Zuo. 2017. "Shaped by Booms and Busts: How the Economy Impacts CEO Careers and Management Styles." *Review of Financial Studies* 30 (5): 1425–56.
- [114] Siegel, Donald S., and Kenneth L. Simons. 2010. "Assessing the Effects of Mergers and Acquisitions on Firm Performance, Plant Productivity, and Workers: Newl Evidence from Matched Employer-Employee Data." *Strategic Management Journal* 31 (8): 903–16.
- [115] Seru, Amit. 2014. "Firm Boundaries Matter: Evidence from Conglomerates and R&D Activity." Journal of Financial Economics 111 (2): 381–405.
- [116] Sheen, Albert. 2014. "The Real Product Market Impact of Mergers." *Journal of Finance* 69 (6): 2651–88.
- [117] Shleifer, Andrei, and Lawrence H. Summers. 1988. "Breach of Trust in Hostile Takeovers." Corporate Takeovers: Causes and Consequences, 33–68. University of Chicago Press.
- [118] Smeets, Valerie, Kathryn Ierulli, and Michael Gibbs. 2016. "An Empirical Analysis of Post-Merger Organizational Integration." *Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 118 (3): 463–93.
- [119] Sorkin, Isaac. 2018. "Ranking Firms Using Revealed Preference." Quarterly Journal of Economics 133 (3): 1331–93.
- [120] Sraer, David, and David Thesmar. 2007. "Performance and Behavior of Family Firms: Evidence from the French Stock Market." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 5 (4): 709–51.
- [121] Thaler, Richard H. 1989. "Anomalies: Interindustry Wage Differentials." Journal of Economic Perspectives 3 (2):181–93.

- [122] Wang, Cong, and Fei Xie. 2009. "Corporate Governance Transfer and Synergistic Gains from Mergers and Acquisitions." *Review of Financial Studies* 22 (2): 829–58.
- [123] Yonker, Scott E. 2017. "Do Managers Give Hometown Labor an Edge?" *Review of Financial Studies* 30 (10): 3581–3604.

1.10 Appendix

1.10.1 Alternative Matching Strategies

Non-parametric matching

We consider nonparametric comparisons that control for the cross-product of our categorical variables as in Davis et al. (2014). We construct cells using a fully saturated interaction of 127 threedigit industries, 8 establishment size groups and 4 establishment age groups. We estimate the following regressions for all stayers:

$$w_{ijt} = \alpha_{ij} + \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau = -3}^{5} \delta_{\tau} D_{it}(\tau) + \beta X_{it} + \epsilon_{it}$$

where $D_{it}(\tau)$ is a dummy indicating the year relative to merger. For non-target firms we assign $\tau = -1$. The control variables X_{it} contains interaction of year dummies and dummies for each cell. The coefficients of interest are δ_{τ} , which captures the effect of merger in year τ in the target establishments and are normalized to zero in $\tau = -1$. We also run the same specification for the matched control establishments in our baseline propensity score matching procedure.

Angrist and Pischke (2008) argue that OLS and matching yield different results because of different weighting, but in general differences between matching and OLS are not of much empirical importance. Column 5 of Table A4 shows that the OLS results are similar to our baseline matching method. Column 6 shows that the matched control firms do not exhibit different trends from other firms conditional on the covariates, suggesting that the spillover effects of mergers on the matched control firms are negligible.

Synthetic control

We test the robustness of our matching framework through an alternative strategy based on a synthetic control estimator (Abadie and Gardeazabal, 2003, Abadie et al., 2010).

We build a synthetic control for each establishment target using only average information in

the years [-4,-2] relative to the acquisition date. We create the synthetic control from a pool of pre-selected establishments, which we select as being in the same industry and having similar employment and wage levels three years before the audit to reduce computation. The synthetic control is obtained by weighting all establishments in the control pool so as to minimize the pre-treatment differences with the treated establishment. In particular, this methodology allows to flexibly control for unobserved factors that affect common trends in both the treatment and control groups (Abadie et al., 2010). While this empirical strategy is commonly used in cases of only one treated unit, we follow a strategy similar to Acemoglu et al. (2016) to extend the methodology to the case of multiple treated units. Hence, we first construct the synthetic control for each establishment, and we then aggregate the individual treatment effects through a re-weighting using the quality of each match. Our estimate is computed as follows:

$$\hat{\theta}(\tau) = \frac{\sum_{i \in \text{Treatment group}} \frac{y_{i\tau} - y_{i\tau}}{\hat{\sigma}_i}}{\sum_{i \in \text{Treatment group}} \frac{1}{\hat{\sigma}_i}}$$

where $y_{i\tau}$ is the outcome of the synthetic control unit. $1/\hat{\sigma}_i$ measures the goodness of fit for each match, so that better matches are given more weight in the estimation. To construct the confidence intervals, we randomly draw 5,000 placebo treatment groups from the control group – with each group having the same size as the real treatment group. We compute the wage effect of M&As for these placebo treatment groups, and construct the confidence intervals for hypothesis testing of whether the coefficient is significantly different from zero. The effect is significant at 5% if it does not belong to the interval that contains the [2.5, 97.5] percentiles of the effect for placebo treatment groups. Result is shown in Figure A5.

1.10.2 Job Inflow and Outflow

To examine how job inflow and outflow change around time of M&As, we define job inflow between year 0 and year 1 as the number of workers joining the firm during the period divided by the employment in year 0, and job outflow as the number of workers leaving the firm during the period divided by employment in year 0. We then estimate the equation:

$$y_{jt} = \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau=-3}^{5} \lambda_{\tau} D_{jt}(\tau) + \beta X_{jt} + \epsilon_{jt}$$

where λ_{τ} captures the difference between treated and control establishment in terms of job inflow and outflow rates. We control for industry-year fixed effects to absorb industry-specific trends. Figure A6 shows that both job inflow and job outflow increase following mergers.

How does cutting wages affect job flows? To answer this question, we look at the effects of mergers on job inflow and outflow separately for high-wage and low-wage establishments. In Section 5.3 we have established that all of the wage cuts are concentrated in high-wage establishments. Figure A15 shows that both high-wage and low-wage establishments experience a rise in job outflow rates after mergers, while only high-wage establishments experience a large rise in job inflow rates after mergers. The average quality of joining workers in high-wage establishments does not change after mergers. This indicates that mergers lead to wage cuts in high-wage establishments, but also lead to more hiring of high-skilled workers in high-wage establishments. By reducing the wage premium in establishments with soft managers, mergers allow the target firms to hire more high-wage workers.

1.10.3 Wage Changes of All Initially Employed Workers

We investigate the selection issue by looking at the effects of mergers on the wages and departure rates for cohorts of workers initially employed in target firms at the time of acquisition. We estimate the following regression, which includes all workers who are in the target or control establishments in $\tau = -1$ regardless of whether they move to another establishment in $\tau > 0$:

$$y_{it} = \alpha_i + \gamma_t + \sum_{\tau = -3}^{5} \lambda_\tau D_{it}(\tau) + \sum_{\tau = -3}^{5} \delta_\tau D_{it}(\tau) \times Target_i + \beta X_{it} + \epsilon_{it}$$
(1.16)

This is the same as the cohort-based approach in Hummels, Munch and Xiang (2018).

Figure A7 shows that mergers reduce wages for workers initially employed in target firms at time of merger. The wage declines are slightly larger than those of workers staying in target firms due to the additional negative effects of job displacement (Jacobson, LaLonde and Sullivan 1993). However, although the effect on unemployment peaks at one year after merger, the negative wage effects are persistent and seemingly irreversible, which is consistent with the loss of firm-specific wage premiums.

1.10.4 Data Appendix

Identify Managers

We define managers using occupation codes (ISCO-88) and job hierarchy (PSTILL). A worker is defined as a manager if the occupation code belongs to the manager occupation group or if the worker is in the highest job hierarchy. About 6% of all the workers are managers, and we are able to identify at least one manager for about 60% of all establishment-year observations, and for 80% of the establishment-year observations with at least 10 employees.

For each firm we select one manager with the highest rank. The highest ranked occupation code is 1210 (directors and chief executives). If no worker has occupation code equal to 1210, then the highest ranked manager is someone with a managerial occupation code (between 1221 and 1319) and has highest job hierarchy (PSTILL=31). If no one satisfies the criteria, then the highest ranked manager is someone with a managerial occupation code or highest job hierarchy. If multiple individuals have the same highest ranked occupation code and the highest job hierarchy, then we select the manager with the highest total income as the top manager.

Comparing with External Datasets of M&As

Figure A21 compares the number of mergers in our administrative dataset with the number of mergers in Denmark in Zephyr and SDC datasets. In all datasets number of mergers is increasing before the financial crisis and declines afterwards. The administrative dataset has about 30-40%

more mergers in years before the financial crisis.

Bibliography

- Abadie, Alberto, and Javier Gardeazabal. 2003. "The Economic Costs of Conflict: A Case Study of the Basque Country." *American Economic Review* 93 (1): 113–32.
- [2] Abadie, Alberto, Alexis Diamond, and Jens Hainmueller. 2010. "Synthetic Control Methods for Comparative Case Studies: Estimating the Effect of California's Tobacco Control Program." *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 105 (490): 493–505.
- [3] Acemoglu, Daron, Simon Johnson, Amir Kermani, James Kwak, and Todd Mitton. 2016.
 "The Value of Connections in Turbulent Times: Evidence from the United States." *Journal of Financial Economics* 121 (2): 368–91.
- [4] Angrist, Joshua D., and Jörn-Steffen Pischke. 2008. *Mostly Harmless Econometrics: An Empiricist's Companion.* Princeton University Press.
- [5] Davis, Steven J., John Haltiwanger, Kyle Handley, Ron Jarmin, Josh Lerner, and Javier Miranda. 2014. "Private Equity, Jobs, and Productivity." *American Economic Review* 104 (12): 3956–90.
- [6] Hummels, David, Jakob R. Munch, and Chong Xiang. 2018. "Offshoring and Labor Markets." *Journal of Economic Literature* 56 (3): 981–1028.

1.11 Appendix Figures and Tables



Notes: This figure shows the number of merger transactions in Denmark by year. Mergers are identified by firm and establishment identifiers (see Section 3.3 for details). Transactions in which one of the parties is a foreign company are not included. Mergers in the public sector are also excluded. For transactions involving multiple firms, each transaction is only counted once.



Figure A2: Percentage of employment in target or acquirer firms

Notes: This figure shows the share of all employed workers in Denmark that works in acquired or acquiring firms in each year. We only include workers who are full-time employees and are between 25 and 60 years old.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between treatment and comparison group in a given year τ relative to the year of acquisition in the treatment group establishments, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (9). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. Regressions are weighted by average establishment employment between $\tau = -3$ and $\tau = -1$. The outcome variable is a dummy variable that equals one if the establishment exits in the following year. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.

Figure A4: Effects of merger on wages of workers in acquiring establishments



Notes: This figure shows the effect of mergers on workers' annual wages in acquiring firms. The left figure shows the effects on wages of all workers staying in acquiring establishments, and right figure shows the effects on wages of all workers employed in acquiring firms in the year before the merger. Establishments that have acquired multiple times are excluded. Ninety-five percent confidence intervals shown.

Figure A5: Synthetic control



Notes: This figure shows the estimate of the effects of M&As on target establishments' earnings per worker using synthetic control. The shaded area is the [2.5, 97.5] confidence interval constructed using placebo treatment groups. See Appendix A.1.2 for details.



Figure A6: Changes in job inflow and outflow in target establishments around mergers

Notes: This figure shows differences in the inflow and outflow of workers between target establishments and control establishments. The regression controls for industry-year fixed effects. Inflow (outflow) at year τ is calculated as the number of entrants (leavers) between year $\tau - 1$ and year τ divided by employment in year $\tau - 1$.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between workers initially employed at target and control establishments at time $\tau = -1$, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (16). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. All regressions control for person fixed effects and year fixed effects. The outcome variable in panel (a) is log annual labor earnings. The outcome variable in panel (b) is proportional change in annual earnings relative to the initial annual earnings before merger $(w/w_0 - 1)$. Observations with zero earnings are included in (b) and not in (a). The outcome variable in (c) is log hourly wage, which is calculated as annual labor income divided by annual hours worked. The outcome variable in (d) is a dummy variable for unemployment, where unemployment is defined as zero labor income. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and 95% confidence intervals for the difference between wages at failed target and control establishments. We match 365 targets of failed mergers from SDC Platinum to the administrative register data. We then match each failed target establishment to a control establishment using the same procedure in Section 5.1. The left figure plots wage effects for staying workers, i.e. δ_{τ} in equation (10); the right figure plots wage effects for all initially employed workers, i.e. δ_{τ} in equation (16).





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between treatment and comparison group in a given year τ relative to the year of acquisition in the treatment group establishments, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (9). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. Regressions are weighted by average establishment employment between $\tau = -3$ and $\tau = -1$. The outcome variable is average worker quality measured by average worker fixed effects, where worker fixed effects are estimated from AKM-type regressions with worker fixed effects and establishment fixed effects. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.



Figure A10: Heterogeneity by worker covariates

Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and control establishments for different groups of workers. We estimate variations of equation (10) adding interactions of worker covariates with the period dummies, as well as interactions of covariates with period dummies and treatment status, and plot the coefficients for the interactions of covariates with period dummies and treatment status. The worker characteristics (tenure, experience and wage quintile) are calculated at year -1 (one year before the merger takes place). In the regression sample, the median experience is 15 years and the median tenure is 4 years, and 37% are female. The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and 95% confidence intervals for the difference between wages at target and control establishments in the public sector. Public sector industries are defined as industries comprising of firms owned by the government, including education, public administration, governments, utility services, health services, etc. The left figure plots wage effects for staying workers, i.e. δ_{τ} in equation (10); the right figure plots wage effects for all initially employed workers, i.e. δ_{τ} in equation (16).





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and corresponding control establishments. The treatment establishments are re-matched to control establishments such that they are in the same quartile of manager fixed effects. The red (navy) line contains target establishments with manager fixed effect lower (higher) than the manager fixed effect of its acquirer firm and the corresponding control establishments. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.

Figure A13: Effects of mergers on employment at high wage and low wage target establishments



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between log employment at target and corresponding control establishments separately by target establishments' pre-merger wage residual. Inflow (outflow) at year τ is calculated as the number of entrants (leavers) between year $\tau - 1$ and year τ divided by employment in year $\tau - 1$. The treatment establishments are re-matched to control establishments such that they are in the same quartile of wage residual. The regression includes establishment fixed effects and year fixed effects. The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. High wage establishments are establishments with above-median wage residual in the year before merger, where the residual is from regressing establishment-year fixed effects on productivity and industry-year and region-year fixed effects. The wage residual proxies for manager softness. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.

Figure A14: Heterogeneity by manager turnover



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and control establishments. The two figures are two separate regressions, the left figure contains all target establishments which replace their managers at year $\tau = 2$ and the corresponding control establishments, and the right figure contains all target establishments which keep their managers at year $\tau = 2$ and the corresponding control establishments, and the right figure contains all target establishments which keep their managers at year $\tau = 2$ and the corresponding control establishments. Managers are defined using occupation codes (see Data Appendix for details) and each establishment has one manager in each year. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.



Figure A15: Inflow and outflow at high wage and low wage target establishments

Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between job inflows and outflows at target and corresponding control establishments separately by target establishments' pre-merger wage residual. Inflow (outflow) at year τ is calculated as the number of entrants (leavers) between year $\tau - 1$ and year τ divided by employment in year $\tau - 1$. Worker quality of inflow (outflow) at year τ is calculated as the average person fixed effects (estimated in step 1 of Section 4.1) of entrants (leavers) between year $\tau - 1$ and year τ divided by employment in year $\tau - 1$. The treatment establishments are re-matched to control establishments such that they are in the same quartile of wage residual. The regression includes industry by year fixed effects. High wage establishments are establishments with above-median wage residual in the year before merger, where the residual is from regressing establishment-year fixed effects on productivity and industry-year and region-year fixed effects. The wage residual proxies for manager softness. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.

Figure A16: Mean residuals by deciles of manager/establishment fixed effects



Notes: Figure shows mean residuals from estimating manager FE (equation 7) with cells defined by decile of estimated establishment effect, interacted with decile of estimated manager effect.

Figure A17: Event study of exogenous manager departures on productivity



Notes: This figure shows the changed in log value-added per worker around the departure of managers that are at least 62 years old. Year 0 is the year when the manager leaves, and we only include managers that had stayed in the same firm for at least three years before they retire and had never been employed since retirement. We reestimate the manager fixed effects for all managers using data outside the four-year window used for the event studies. The top figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the top quartile and has 1368 events, and the bottom figure includes retirements of managers with manager FE in the lowest quartile and has 1344 events.

Figure A18: Manager productivity and effects of mergers on wages



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and corresponding control establishments separately by target establishments' pre-merger manager productivity. Manager productivity is estimated using equation (7) with TFP on the left hand side. The red (navy) line includes target establishments with above-median (below-median) manager productivity and their corresponding control establishments. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.





Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and corresponding control establishments for family firms and non-family firms respectively. We define family firms following Bennedsen et al. (2007) and a firm is a family firm if managers in different years are family members.

Figure A20: Heterogeneity of wage effects by manager FE: split-sample IV estimates



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and control establishments separately by target establishments' manager FE. The sample is divided evenly by odd and even years and manager FE is estimated for each subsample. Manager FEs in odd years are instrumented with the manager FEs in even years and vice versa.

Figure A21: Compare Mergers in Administrative Datasets and External Datasets



Notes: This figure shows the number of merger transactions in Denmark by year from 1996 to 2011. The solid line is the number of merger transactions in our data, the red dashed line is the number of transactions from the SDC Platinum data, and the orange dashed line is the number of transactions from BvD Zephyr data. Transactions in which one of the parties is a foreign company are not included. For transactions involving multiple firms each transaction is only counted once.

Figure A22: Testing Monopsony



(c) Diversion ratio

Notes: This figure tests whether negative wage effects of mergers are due to increased monopsony power in the labor market. Each figure plots the regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between staying workers at target and corresponding control establishments separately for mergers that have larger or smaller impact on monopsony power. In (a), monopsony power is calculated by concentration in the local labor markets defined by municipalities, and red (blue) line contains target establishments which are in same (or different) municipality as the acquirer and their correponding control establishments. In (b), monopsony power is calculated by concentration in the local labor markets defined by geographical region (similar to commuting zones) and 4-digit occupation, and red (blue) line contains mergers that increased the labor market HHI by more (or less) than 100 points. In (c), monopsony power is calculated by the diversion ratio, which is measured by the fraction of job movers from target firms that move to the acquirer firm in the years before merger. Red (blue) line contains target establishments with positive (or zero) diversion ratios and their correponding control establishments. Standard errors are clustered at the establishment level.

Figure A23: Effects of mergers on manager fixed effects



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated 95% confidence intervals for the difference between manager fixed effects at target and corresponding control establishments. The manager fixed effects measure managers' generosity in wage setting and the estimation is detailed in Section 4.1. Note that the estimation of manager FE excludes post-merger observations of the target firms, and the manager fixed effects for observations in $\tau \ge 0$ are identified only from other firms where the managers are employed.

Figure A24: Effects of mergers on pensions of target employees



Notes: The figure shows regression coefficients and associated confidence intervals for the difference between log pension payments of staying workers at target and control establishments, i.e., the δ_{τ} from the difference-in-differences model in (10). The coefficient in $\tau = -1$ is normalized to zero. The vertical lines denote 95% confidence intervals based on standard errors clustered at the establishment level.



Figure A25: Correlation between input costs and wage effects of managers

Notes: The graph shows the binscatter plots of manager fixed effects for input costs against manager fixed effects for wages. Each dot contains the same number of observations. On the y axis is manager FE in terms of log input costs.

Variables	Treated Establishments	Control Establishments	
Median employment	11	11	
Mean employment	25.0	22.8	
Log hourly wage	5.002	4.987	
Log annual income	12.131	12.126	
Log employment growth from previous year	-0.009	-0.007	
Log wage growth from previous year	0.021	0.025	
Share of workers with higher education	0.184	0.202	
Share of workers with vocational education	0.418	0.407	
Share of female workers	0.468	0.512	
Average worker age	38.74	38.64	
Average worker experience	15.22	15.30	
Log Value added per worker	6.048	6.054	
Log Sales per worker	7.218	7.197	
Establishment age	14.79	15.44	
Number of establishments	5,875	5,875	

Table A1 Characteristics of Treated and Control Establishments

Notes: This table presents summary statistics for all target establishments and control establishments. Each target establishment is matched to a control establishment using the matching approach detailed in Section 5.1. All the characteristics are calculated at one year before the merger occurs, and wage and employment growth is the growth rate from two years before the merger to one year before the merger. The medians are calculated as the average value of 10 observations around the median.

		Table A2 Det	erminants of	Being Target	Firm		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Average log wage	0.0015*** (0.0002)						
Establishment year FE		0.0024*** (0.0003)					
Average worker FE			-0.0003 (0.0003)				
Manager FE				0.0019*** (0.0005)			
Establishment FE					0.0006 (0.0004)		
Log value added per worker						-0.0003* (0.0002)	
Growth in log wage							-0.0001 (0.0002)
No. of observations Mean of Dep Var	1,396,573 0.0067	1,396,403 0.0067	1,388,607 0.0067	413,277 0.0062	413,277 0.0062	699,741 0.0054	1,122,048 0.0071
Mean of Indep Var St. Dev. of Indep Var	12.09 0.609	0.233 0.258	11.91 0.304	0.012 0.172	0.010 0.145	6.172 0.499	0.026 0.336

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table presents the linear probability model of the propensity to be a target firm. Dependent variable equals one if the establishment is acquired in the following year and zero otherwise. Establishment fixed effects and worker fixed effects are estimated from AKM regression. All regressions control for industry-year fixed effects and region-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered by establishment and reported in parentheses.

Dependent variable	Mean	Standard deviation	Q1	Median	Q3		
Replace soft with average ($N=1425$)							
Adjusted difference between target manager FE and average manager FE	0.048	0.069	0	0.039	0.080		
Target's wage bill/ Total asset of combined firm	0.21	0.23	0.06	0.17	0.28		
Impact on ROA	0.63%	1.32%	0	0.43%	1.09%		
Replace soft with acquirer ($N=1425$)							
Adjusted difference between target manager FE and acquirer manager FE	0.059	0.083	0	0.046	0.091		
Target's wage bill/ Total asset of combined firm	0.21	0.23	0.06	0.17	0.28		
Impact on ROA	0.72%	1.70%	0	0.46%	1.13%		
Mergers with both acquier and target publicly listed ($N=87$)							
Target CAR Acqurier CAR Portfolio CAR	12.3% -0.3% 2.1%	31.7% 6.5% 9.9%	-1.8% -3.2% -4.0%	8.6% -0.2% 2.4%	27.8% 2.6% 5.9%		

Table A3 Measuring Impact of Rent Extraction on Profitability

Notes: This table calculates the contribution of rent extraction to the ROA of the combined firm and the cumulative abnormal returns of mergers between publicly listed firms. The difference in manager fixed effects between target and the mean adjusts for estimation error by shrinking the estimated manager FE towards the mean, where the weight varies inversely with the noise of the estimate. The contribution to ROA is calculated as difference in manager fixed effects multiplied by target's wage bill then divided by total assets of the combined firm (the formula is explained in Section 5.5). Wage bill and total assets are calculated in the year before merger. Manager fixed effects are estimated in Section 4.1. The cumulative abnormal return is calculated over an 11-day event window around the merger announcement. The data on stock prices of the merging firms are from SDC Platinum. The portfolio CAR refers to the cumulative abnormal return to a value-weighted portfolio of the target and acquirer. The medians and quantiles are calculated as the average value of 5 observations around the median/quantile.

Dependent Variable: Log Wage									
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)			
	Baseline	No spillover	Match at year -2	Two controls per firm	Non- parametric: Target	Non- parametric: Control			
Year t= -5	0.0002	0.0001	-0.0003	-0.0009	-0.0029	-0.0001			
Year t= -4	0.0001	-0.0014	0.0039	0.0041	-0.0020	0.0031			
	(0.0037)	(0.0037)	(0.0046)	(0.0048)	(0.0020)	(0.0020)			
Year t= -3	-0.0045	-0.0021	-0.0035	0.0017	-0.0006	-0.0030			
	(0.0035)	(0.0036)	(0.0040)	(0.0044)	(0.0017)	(0.0019)			
Year t= -2	-0.0030	-0.0040	-0.0047	0.0013	0.0003	0.0025			
	(0.0028)	(0.0028)	(0.0031)	(0.0039)	(0.0015)	(0.0017)			
Year t= 0	0.0018	-0.0007	-0.0055	-0.0015	0.0007	0.0050***			
	(0.0033)	(0.0035)	(0.0039)	(0.0030)	(0.0019)	(0.0016)			
Year t= 1	-0.0077*	-0.0110***	-0.0117***	-0.0081**	-0.0062***	0.0031*			
	(0.0040)	(0.0040)	(0.0042)	(0.0036)	(0.0019)	(0.0018)			
Year t= 2	-0.0153***	-0.0170***	-0.0135***	-0.0144***	-0.0112***	-0.0025			
	(0.0043)	(0.0043)	(0.0043)	(0.0046)	(0.0022)	(0.0020)			
Year t= 3	-0.0157***	-0.0149***	-0.0167***	-0.0182***	-0.0119***	-0.0019			
	(0.0049)	(0.0045)	(0.0057)	(0.0055)	(0.0024)	(0.0021)			
Year t= 4	-0.0100**	-0.0111**	-0.0072	-0.0094*	-0.0118***	-0.0029			
	(0.0051)	(0.0047)	(0.0063)	(0.0057)	(0.0027)	(0.0023)			
Year t= 5	-0.0139**	-0.0068	-0.0185***	-0.0125**	-0.0049*	0.0009			
	(0.0059)	(0.0051)	(0.0071)	(0.0063)	(0.0029)	(0.0026)			
No. of observations	1,350,387	1,310,042	1,120,943	1,902,474	24,987,697	24,950,534			

Table A4 Wage Effects on Stayers: Alternative Matching Strategies

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table shows the effect of mergers on wages of staying workers in target establishments from year -5 to year 5 relative to the merger (coefficients δ_{τ} in regression (10)). All regressions control for person fixed effects and year fixed effects. Column 1 is our baseline specification. Column 2 selects control establishments that have similar propensity score and wage and employment levels but are in different industry and different geographical region from the treated establishments. Column 3 matched treated establishments to controls based on covariates at year -2 instead of year -1. In Column 4 we choose two establishments as control for each target establishment based on the propensity score. Column 5 and Column 6 use the non-parametric estimator as in Davis et al. (2014) (see Appendix A.1.1 for details). Column 5 shows the wage effects for target establishments, and Column 6 shows the wage effects for control establishments of the baseline propensity score matching as a placebo test. Standard errors are clustered by establishment and reported in parentheses.

Chapter 2

How Does Liquidity Constraint Affect Employment and Wages? Evidence from Danish Mortgage Reform

2.1 Introduction

A large fraction of households are severely liquidity constrained. In the United States, for example, approximately a quarter of households are unable to come up with \$2,000 to cope with an unexpected need (Lusardi, Schneiderm, and Tufano 2011).¹ This makes them very fragile to unexpected income shocks. The view that liquidity constraints are particularly severe during a recession has important implications for the design of stabilization policies (Eberly and Krishnamurthy 2014).² While the impact of liquidity constraints on consumption is well known (Gross and Souleles 2002;

¹An additional 19 percent of households could only come up with \$2,000 by pawning or selling possessions or taking out a payday loan (Lusardi, Schneider, and Tufano 2011).

²For example, there are debates around whether policies that replenish the liquid balances of households, such as reductions in mortgage payments that are concentrated in the periods of the crisis, would be more effective than debt write-downs that reduce mortgage payments over the entire duration of the mortgage contract (Ganong and Noel 2017; Dobbie and Song 2018). It is also argued that policies that prevent households from refinancing their debt during times of economic distress can significantly inhibit efforts aimed at curtailing the costs of recessions (DeFusco and Mondragon 2018).

Agarwal, Liu and Souleles 2007; Leth-Petersen 2010), much less is known about how liquidity constraints affect labor supply and the types of jobs that individuals are willing to take. Recent works show that liquidity constraints can affect individuals' job search behavior (Herkenhoff, Phillips and Cohen-Cole 2016a; Kaplan 2012; Ji 2018) and mobility across occupations and locations (Hawkins and Mustre-del-Rio 2016; Brown and Matsa 2017). In this paper, we exploit a unique mortgage reform in Denmark to provide causal estimates of the effects of liquidity constraints on employment and earnings.

Estimating the effects of liquidity constraints is challenging since the assets and earnings are both endogenously determined. Even studies using exogenous variations often have modest effects on the amount of credit access, or have confounding effects that makes it hard to isolate the effects of liquidity constraints. For example, credit reports also affect the credit checks and therefore employment opportunities (Dobbie et al. 2016; Herkenhoff, Phillips and Cohen-Cole 2016b). Debt relief programs and changes in housing prices affect both short-run liquidity constraints and longrun debt overhang. Therefore many studies rely on structural models to quantify the effects of liquidity constraints (Kaplan 2012; Herkenhoff, Phillips and Cohen-Cole 2016a; Ji 2018).

In this paper, we overcome these challenges using the Danish mortgage reform in 1992 as a natural experiment. The reform allowed homeowners in Denmark, for the first time, to borrow against their housing equity for purposes other than financing the underlying property. The resulting increase in available home equity was large, equivalent to over one year's disposable income for the median treated individual in our sample. Since the notion of home equity finance did not exist prior to this reform and the reform itself was passed within three months, the reform was unexpected for individuals and therefore unrelated to house purchase decisions before 1992. We document that differences in the timing of individuals' home purchase relative to the reform led to systematic cross-sectional variation in the intensity of the reform's treatment across home owners, who bought their homes shortly before 1992 had paid down less of their mortgage and hence had less home equity available to borrow against compared to home owners who bought their homes well before the reform. We then combine the household balance sheets data with detailed matched employer-employee data to study the impact of the expanded credit access on employment and earnings.

We find that the reform led to more housing equity extraction and higher debt levels for individuals with more housing equity, and individuals with more housing equity experienced faster wage and earnings growth after 1992. Individuals with equity to value ratio (ETV) higher than 0.2^3 in 1991 experienced an increase in debt of 6% of annual income and a 0.7% increase in earnings after the reform compared to individuals with ETV lower than 0.2 in 1991.

To isolate the reform's effects of relaxing liquidity constraints, we compare the effects on individuals with liquid assets⁴ less than one month's disposable income in 1991, and individuals with more liquid assets in 1991. While liquidity-constrained individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 experienced an increase in debt levels by 13% of annual income and an increase in earnings by 1.6% following the reform, non-liquidity-constrained individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 only experienced an increase in debt levels by 4% of annual income and an increase in earnings by 0.1%. Furthermore, among individuals affected by the reform, the employment rate of liquidity-constrained individuals declined after the reform. These results suggest that relaxation of liquidity constraint allowed liquidity-constrained individuals to seek jobs that offer higher wages but also higher unemployment risks. On the other hand, the reform had little impact on the wages of non-liquidity-constrained households since they mostly substituted other forms of debt with housing debt.

Our identification relies on the assumption that individuals with more housing equity and individuals with less housing equity would have followed parallel wage trends absent the reform conditional on observed characteristics, including demographics, total wealth, industry and location. We show that individuals with more housing equity and less housing equity had similar wage

³Since the maximum loan-to-value ratio allowed is 80%, only individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 can extract housing equity after the reform.

⁴Liquid assets are non-housing assets like bank deposits, cash, stocks and bonds.
trends before 1991, both for liquidity-constrained and non-liquidity constrained groups. We also conduct a placebo test using data before the reform, and show that individuals with more housing equity in 1989 and less housing equity in 1989 had similar wage growth rates during the period 1990-1992 when controlling for the observed characteristics in 1989.

Why does more credit access lead to higher earnings? We show that the ability to borrow against housing equity can increases wage through two channels. First, risk-averse workers prefer jobs that pay higher wages but have higher unemployment risks when they are able to borrow to insure against unemployment risks (Acemoglu and Shimer 1999; Kaplan 2012). Second, additional credit access increases the value of unemployment, which allows workers to bargain for higher wages.

We first examine how housing equity extractions interact with unemployment risks. We find that workers who recently become unemployed and experience negative earnings shocks are more likely to borrow against housing equity, suggesting that the extra credit from housing equity indeed allows workers to insure against negative labor market shocks. Unemployed workers who have access to housing equity stay in unemployment for longer, and get higher wages when re-entering employment.

We then test the bargaining and sorting channels directly and find evidence supporting both channels. We find that after the reform liquidity-constrained individuals with positive housing equity are more likely to switch jobs and switch cities. The AKM firm fixed effect and average wage of coworkers increase, as well as the probability of being in a top position, suggesting that workers are moving to better firms and better job positions. On the other hand, consistent with the bargaining channel, workers with access to housing equity also experienced higher wage growth within job spells after the reform.

Our paper is closest to Herkenhoff et al. (2016a), who shows that more consumer credit access leads to longer unemployment durations and higher reemployment wages. We find similar effects for unemployed workers, but we also find that the option to borrow from housing equity allows employed workers to switch to more highly-paid jobs and bargain for higher wages. We also highlight the heterogeneity by the level of liquid assets – for individuals with little liquid assets, the additional credit leads to higher wages, but for individuals with a lot of liquid assets, the additional credit has little impact on wages and even reduced reemployment wages for unemployed workers. Compared to consumer loans, the mortgage reform also has much larger impact on the amount of credit access – the option to borrow against housing equity provided an increase in access to credit comparable to at least one year of disposable income for more than 50 percent of the households in our sample.

Our paper is also related to previous literature on how unemployment benefits and payday loans affect employment and wages. The unexpected credit access provided by the mortgage reform combined with the amount of liquid assets before the reform allow us to isolate the effect of relaxing liquidity constraint on wages and employment. However, changes in unemployment benefits also have moral hazard effects in addition to liquidity effects (Chetty 2008). Similar to home equity loans, payday loans also offer insurance against negative shocks (Morse 2011). However, in contrast to our results, payday loans with high interest rates often have high default rates and lead to increased difficulty in paying debts (Melzer 2011; Carrell and Zinman 2014). This is because the interest rate on home equity loan in Denmark is lower than bank loans, and the default rate is very low due to full recourse and a loan-to-value ceiling. The contrast between home equity loan and high-interest payday loans highlights the importance of the contractual form of credit policies intended to alleviate liquidity constraints (Zingales 2015).

Finally, our paper relates to two previous papers that study the impact of the 1992 Danish mortgage reform on labor market. Jensen, Leth-Petersen and Nanda (2015) finds that access to housing equity increases entrepreneurship. We replicated the positive effect on entrepreneurship rates, but we show that the effect is too small to explain our wage effects. We also find similar results for employment and wages when excluding all self-employed workers. Markwardt et al. (2014) finds that the home equity loans partially substitute for unemployment benefits. We show that even though the level of unemployment benefit is high in Denmark, the additional credit offered by the mortgage reform still has large positive effect on wages, which implies that the effect may

be even larger in countries with less generous unemployment benefits.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 describes the institutional details of the mortgage reform. Section 3 presents a simple conceptual framework to illustrate how liquidity constraints affect earnings. Section 4 describes the data used and the empirical strategy. Section 5 and Section 6 present the results. Section 7 concludes.

2.2 The 1992 Mortgage Reform in Denmark

The Danish mortgage reform took effect on 21 May 1992. The most important element of the reform is that it enabled home owners, for the first time, to borrow against their home for purposes other than financing the underlying property. Until 2007, mortgage debt in Denmark was provided exclusively through mortgage banks, which are financial intermediaries specialized in the provision of mortgage loans. The May 1992 bill introduced a limit of 60% of the house value for loans for non-housing purposes. This limit was extended to 80% in December 1992. The granting of loans is solely on the basis of the value of housing collateral, which is not true for loans from commercial banks.⁵ In other words, the reform allowed individuals with housing collateral who could not previously obtain loans through commercial banks to now get access to credit through mortgage banks. Another feature of the reform is that the maximum maturity of mortgage loans was expanded from 20 to 30 years. For people who were already mortgaged to the limit prior

⁵When granting a mortgage loan for a home in Denmark, the mortgage bank issued bonds that directly matched the repayment profile and maturity of the loan granted. The bonds were sold on the stock exchange to investors and the proceeds from the sale are paid out to the borrower. Once the bank had screened potential borrowers based on the valuation of their property and on their ability to service the loan, all borrowers who were granted a loan at a given point in time faced the same interest rate. This was feasible because of the detailed regulation of the mortgage market. First, mortgage banks were subject to solvency ratio requirements monitored by the Financial Supervision Authority, and there was a legally defined threshold of limiting lending to 80% of the house value at loan origination. In addition, each plot of land in Denmark has a unique identification number, the title number, to which all relevant information about owners and collateralized debt is recorded in a public title number registration system. Mortgage loans have priority over any other loan and the system therefore secures optimum coverage for the mortgage bank in case of default and enforced sale. Creditors can enforce their rights and demand a sale if debtors cannot pay. Furthermore, mortgage banks accumulate a buffer through contributions from all borrowers, and they use this buffer to cover loans defaults. The combination of the regulation around mortgage lending and protection afforded by the title registration system and the buffer to cover loan defaults implied that the loans offered by mortgage banks were very safe, justifying lending based solely on the value of collateral.

to the reform, and who therefore could not establish additional mortgage loans for non-housing consumption, this option provided the possibility of acquiring more liquidity.

The reform was implemented with short notice and passed through parliament in three months. The short period from its introduction to implementation is useful for our identification strategy since individuals have little time to strategically take advantage of the reform. The reform was introduced during the 1992 recession and implemented was right before the Danish economy started to grow rapidly, so the lessons from this reform may shed light on other similar policies during recoveries.

Another element of the reform is the option to refinance. Refinancing makes it possible for borrowers to lower the cost of the loan when the market interest rate falls. This enables the borrower to exploit changes in the market rate of interest in order to reduce the costs of funding. While the other two parts of the reform influence the access to credit, this part of the reform provides house owners with the option to lock in low market interest rates in order to obtain lower monthly payments on their mortgages and an overall gain in wealth.

In this paper we focus on the first two elements of the reform which provided home owners access to extra credit. The option to borrow against housing equity provided an increase in access to credit comparable to at least one year of disposable income for more than 50 percent of the households in the sample (Leth-Petersen 2010). To isolate the credit access effect of the reform, we will focus on households with high level of equity-to-value ratios and credit-constrained households, who are most likely to be affected by the expanded credit access of the reform. We will discuss the detailed empirical design in Section 4.4.

Mortgage loan delinquencies and defaults have traditionally been low in Denmark. The LTV ceiling of 80 percent on new mortgage loans limits lender losses in the event of a default. In addition, mortgage loans are full recourse in Denmark and borrowers remain personally liable for any shortfall between the sale value of a repossessed property and the outstanding amount of the loan.⁶ Therefore borrowers have strong incentives to keep payments and avoid forced sales.

⁶A mortgage loan is declared in default after 3.5 months of non-payment, and forced sale procedures are initiated unless alternative workout procedures are agreed with the borrower. It typically takes no more than nine months from

2.3 Conceptual Framework

We consider a simple theoretical framework similar to Acemoglu and Shimer (2000). For risk averse agents, a relaxation of credit access allows them to smooth consumption over time and increases the utility when unemployed. For simplicity, we consider a static model and study how increases in the utility of unemployment affect wages and employment.

Suppose there are a large continuum of jobs, indexed by their "specificity" $\alpha \in [0, 1]$. Each job produces $y(\alpha)$ when filled. A job with higher α produces more output, so g is an increasing function. However, a high α job is also harder to fill. Workers do not know before applying for the job whether they will be a good fit. High α jobs require a better match between the firm and its employee, so the probability that a random worker possesses the skills and abilities required for a job of specificity α is given by the decreasing function $M(\alpha)$.

A worker consumes her wage w when employed and b when unemployed. Workers and firms get together via search. Jobs are posted at the beginning of each period. Each worker then decides where to apply for a job. After the matching stage, the pair learns whether the worker has the requisite skills. If she does not, both remain unmatched. If she does, the pair produce $y(\alpha)$, and wages are determined by bargaining.

In equilibrium, the worker maximizes her expected utility:

$$\max_{\alpha,w} M(\alpha)u(w(\alpha;b)) + (1 - M(\alpha))u(b)$$
(2.1)

where wage $w(\alpha; b)$ is determined by Nash bargaining:

$$\max(u(w(\alpha;b)) - u(b))^{\beta}(y(\alpha) - w(\alpha;b))^{1-\beta}$$
(2.2)

A higher b has two effects on wages. First, it increases wages by raising workers' outside options. Given job type α , $w(\alpha; b)$ is increasing in b. This is because workers have a higher value of unemployment due to better consumption smoothing. Second, it increases wages by increasing the the declaration of default until a forced sale is finalized. specificity of jobs α that workers search for. Since workers are better insured against unemployment, they are more willing to search for jobs that pay high wages but have lower probability of employment.

In a dynamic setting, these two forces still exist. When workers are credit constrained, an increase in credit access due to the mortgage reform allows them to smooth consumption across time and therefore increase their value of unemployment. As a result, they are able to bargain for higher wages and switch to jobs that have higher earnings and earnings growth. As the same time, they also face greater unemployment risks. We will test these predictions in the following sections.

In a general equilibrium, an increase in workers' access to credit could also change the equilibrium job composition, e.g. by creating more high-wage jobs (Acemoglu and Shimer 1999; Acemoglu 2001). While we are not exploring the general equilibrium effects of the mortgage reform in this paper, this implies that comparing workers affected by the reform and workers not affected by the reform might understate the overall positive wage effects of the reform.

2.4 Data and Research Design

2.4.1 Data

We combine several registers from Statistics Denmark to create a matched employer-employee panel dataset covering all population in Denmark from 1988 to 2000.

The first part of the dataset is regarding wealth and income of the households. The income and wealth information exists because Denmark had a wealth tax during this period. The data on assets and liabilities can be divided into a number of categories.⁷ Assets are divided into six different categories: housing assets, shares, deposited mortgage deeds, cash holdings, bonds, and other assets. Housing assets are de ned as the cash value of property as set by the tax authorities. Tax assessed house values are a bit different from market values, and we scaled them with the aggregate ratio of actual house prices to tax assessed values. We define liquid assets as the total

⁷The definitions of these categories are not stable across the observation period, and the level of detail decreases after 1992.

value of non-housing assets. Liabilities are available under four categories: mortgage debt, bank debt, secured debt, and other debt. Mortgage debt is recorded as the market value of the underlying bonds at the last day of the year. House value, cash holdings, mortgage debt, and bank debt are reported automatically by banks and other financial intermediaries to the tax authorities for all Danish taxpayers and are therefore considered to be very reliable. The remaining components are self-reported, but subject to being audited by the tax authorities.

The second part of the dataset is individuals' labor market history. The data are collected from government registers in the last week of November each year, providing detailed data on the labor market status of individuals, including the unemployed and those who do not participate in the labor force. The data contains detailed information on annual wage income, hourly wage, occupation, and unemployment benefits and durations. Each employed worker is matched to her establishment. Establishments are unique physical work locations, such as an office, store, or factory, and each establishment has a unique identifier that is consistent over time. The database links an individual's ID with a range of other demographic characteristics such as their age, gender, educational qualifications, marital status and number of children.

Since we are exploiting a mortgage reform for our analysis, we focus on individuals who are homeowners in 1991 (the year before the reform). Among home owners, we focus on those who are between the age of 25 and 55 in 1991, to avoid interference from retirement decisions. Individuals who are living with their parents and those living in a communal or common household are omitted from the sample. To make sure results are not driven by sample attrition during the sample period, we keep individuals who are observed in every year from 1988 to 1996.⁸ This leaves a balanced sample of 826,062 individuals.

2.4.2 Summary Statistics

Table 1 summarizes the statistics of variables on demographics, earnings, and balance sheets for all home owners in 1991. Housing equity constitutes the majority of assets for most of the home

⁸Since we observe people who are unemployed and out of labor force, the sample attrition is very small. Only less than 3% of the observations are dropped.

owners. The median individual has very little liquid assets: the median level liquid asset is about one tenth of average annual earnings. Most people in Denmark are paid their December salary a few days before the end of the year, and asset holdings are summarized for tax purposes at the end of the year. For many households liquid asset holdings corresponding to one month's disposable household income thus amount to having virtually no liquid assets as a buffer.

On the right panel of Table 1 we compare households with equity to value (ETV) above 0.2 and households with ETV below 0.2 in 1991. The reform allowed individuals to borrow up to a maximum of 80% of the home value. Therefore individuals with ETV lower than 0.2 won't be able to extract any housing equity for other purposes. The high-ETV group is older than the low-ETV group since older people are more likely to buy houses at an earlier time. Nevertheless, the other demographic characteristics (gender, marital status, children, education) of high-ETV group is very similar to the low-ETV group, and both groups also have similar wages and unemployment.

At the bottom part of Table 1 we calculate the potential amount of housing equity that was unlocked by the reform as housing equity in 1991 minus 20 percent of the housing value (it takes the value of zero if ETV is less than 0.2). It shows that the amount of equity unlocked was substantial. The reform unlocked an average value of 79,000 DKK (about 13,000 USD) in housing equity. The average amount of housing equity unlocked for people with ETV below 0.2 is very little, while the average amount of housing equity unlocked for people with ETV above 0.2 is 164,000 DKK, which is close to one year's earning.

2.4.3 Identify Housing Equity Extraction

We follow Bhutta and Keys (2016) to identify housing equity extractions in the data. We define equity extractions as instances when a borrower's outstanding mortgage debt increases by more than 5 percent over a one year period, with a minimum increase of 5,000 DKK. Since we do not observe the trade line information for each mortgage held, we further require that the borrower do not move over the one year period to exclude second mortgages and new mortgages. This increase in mortgage debt can come from borrowing against housing collateral, or changes in the maturity

of the mortgage.

Figure 1 shows the fraction of home owners in each year that have positive equity extractions. Before 1992 the fraction is around 1%, and these may be false positives of new mortgages (e.g. summer houses). After 1992, the fraction of borrowers with an increase of at least 5 percent in total mortgage balance has risen sharply to over 5% per year. Between 1993 and 1996, the average fraction of home owners extracting equity is 11.8%, which is close to the fraction in Bhutta and Keys (2016). In 1994, almost 23% of homeowners borrowed against their housing equity.

How does ETV affect equity extraction? Figure 2 (a) shows that the probability of extracting housing equity between 1992 and 1996 is monotonically increasing in the ETV in 1991. Borrowers with ETV higher than 0.6 in 1991 are twice more likely to extract their housing equity than households with ETV lower than 0.2 in 1991. Note that the probability of extracting equity is not zero even for households with ETV lower than 0.2 in 1991, since housing prices grew rapidly since 1991 and higher housing prices led to higher ETVs for home owners. Figure 2 (b) (b) plots the total share of housing equity extracted by the borrower against ETV in 1991. The share of housing equity extracted is the amount of increase in outstanding mortgage debt normalized by the average housing price over the one year period, and we sum up all the shares for years 1992-1996. Borrowers with low ETV in 1991 extracted little equity, while borrowers with ETV higher than 0.6 extracted about 20% of their housing equity.

2.4.4 Empirical Strategy

The reform allowed individuals, for the first time, to borrow against their housing equity for nonhousing purposes. Our research design exploits cross-section variation in the exposure to the reform's treatment across individuals. As shown in Figure 2, individuals with higher ETV at 1991 are more likely to borrow against housing equity and are able to extract more housing equity after the reform. We therefore divide all individuals into two groups based on whether their ETV in 1991 is higher than 0.2. We then use a difference-in-differences approach to compare the differential responses of the liabilities, income and employment of the two ETV groups to the reform. Given that the reform was first introduced in May of 1992 and data are recorded as of November, we include 1992 in our post-reform period and measure individual attributes as of 1991.

Our baseline specification is as follows:

$$y_{it} = \beta Post_t \times \mathbf{1}(ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i + \theta X_i^{1991} \times \phi_t + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2.3)

where y_{it} is the outcome for person *i* at year *t*, $Post_t \times 1(ETV_{91} > 0.2)$ equals one if person *i* had ETV greater than 0.2 in year 1991 and year *t* is 1992 or later. The key coefficient is β , which measures the high-ETV group's response to the reform relative to the low-ETV group, who were affected little by the reform by construction.

We include person fixed effects in all regressions. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level. We also account for the differential response of individuals at different points in the life cycle, wealth, and working in different industries and living in different municipalities by including an interaction between these individual covariates measured in 1991 and year fixed effects. Specifically, we include in X_i^{1991} indicators for the individuals' gender, education level, marital status, children, age, decile of total household wealth,⁹ the municipality of residence, and the industry the person works in. We interact each of these characteristics with year dummies, ϕ_t , to control for different trends in debt accumulation and earnings across people with different observable characteristics. Thus we are comparing two "identical" individuals (in terms of their age, gender, educational background, wealth, marital status and children) who work in the same industry and live in the same municipality, but one who bought the home some years before the other.

The identifying assumption is that, conditional on the observed covariates in 1991, the timing of the housing purchase is uncorrelated with changes in employment and wages after 1992. The fact that the mortgage reform was unexpected indicates that the reform did not directly impact the decision to purchase houses before 1992. Table 1 shows that individuals with high ETV are older and have less debt, but have similar marital status, children, education, and income as individuals

⁹The asset levels would affect workers' attitude towards risk. For example, with constant relative risk aversion, richer workers have lower absolute risk aversion. As a result, they are more willing to accept riskier jobs, compared to poorer workers.

with low ETV. Although age is an important determinant of the timing of housing purchase, even for people with the same age there is a lot of variations in the timing of housing purchase.¹⁰ Potential threats to identification would be unobserved shocks that affect both the timing of housing purchase and the changes in employment and wages after 1992. For example, individuals who purchased houses more recently may have experienced a recent divorce, which may also affect their income. In such case, the incomes of different ETV groups would have started to diverge before the 1992 reform , and we can use the pre-trend to assess the validity of the identifying assumption.

Since there is an almost linear relationship between ETV in 1991 and housing extraction (Figure 2), in an alternative specification, we also interact the post-reform dummy with the level of ETV in 1991:

$$y_{it} = \beta Post_t \times ETV_{91,i} + \theta X_i^{1991} \times \phi_t + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2.4)

. . . .

To isolate the effects of the reform on individuals' liquidity constraints, we compare the effects of the reform on individuals with high level of liquidity assets and low level of liquidity assets. Since the key element of the reform is to relax individuals' liquidity constraints by allowing them to borrow against housing equity, it should have little effect on individuals who already have a large buffer of liquid assets. We define an individual as having low liquidity if her average level of liquid assets is less than her average monthly income between 1988 and 1991.¹¹ By this definition, almost 40% of all the individuals in our sample have low liquidity before the reform.

To estimate the differential effect of the reform on high-liquidity and low-liquidity households, we estimate the following triple-differences specification:

$$y_{it} = \beta Post_t \times \mathbf{1}(ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i + \gamma Post_t \times \mathbf{1}(ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i \times \text{LowLiquidity}_i + \delta \text{LowLiquidity}_i + \theta X_i^{1991} \times \phi_t + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2.5)

¹⁰For example, housing purchases can be driven by life events (Bernstein and Struyven 2017) or beliefs about future changes in housing prices (Bailey et al. 2018).

¹¹We also use an alternative measure of the maximum liquid asset to income ratio before 1992, and get similar results. Liquid asset holding is not a perfect indicator of constrained status (Jappelli 1990). For the test implemented here a sufficient requirement is that the high liquid asset group is not constrained. It is not required that households with low liquid assets are all restricted, only that some households in the low liquid asset group are affected by constraints.

where Lowliquidity_i is an indicator for having less liquid assets than one month's disposable income in 1991. β is the effect of the reform on high-ETV group relative to low-ETV group among high-liquidity individuals, and $\beta + \gamma$ is the effect of the reform high-ETV group relative to low-ETV group among low-liquidity individuals. The difference γ measures the differential response of credit-constrained individuals relative to unconstrained individuals to the increased credit access.

To further test whether individuals with high ETVs would have parallel trends in wages and employment as individuals with low ETVs, we conduct a placebo test in Section 5.4 using only years before the mortgage reform. We estimate the following specification:

$$y_{it} = \beta Post89_t \times ETV_{89,i} + \theta X_i^{1989} \times \phi_t + \alpha_i + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2.6)

where $Post89_t$ is an indicator for years after 1989, and $ETV_{89,i}$ is the ETV in 1989. If high-ETV individuals and low-ETV individuals differ in systematic ways in their unobserved characteristics, we would expect to see different trends in this pre-period even when borrowing against housing equity was not possible.

2.5 Results

2.5.1 Effects of the Reform on Borrowing

To verify that the mortgage reform impacted the homeowners, we first look at the effects of the reform on equity extraction and the overall liabilities. Columns (1) to (3) of Panel A in Table 2 show results from difference-in-differences regressions of measures of borrowing on indicators for highand low- ETV groups after 1992 (Equation 2.3). The unit observation is person-year. Following the mortgage reform, individuals with high ETVs are more likely to extract housing equity and extract a larger share of their housing equity, confirming the findings in Figure 2. In Column (3), we use total liabilities divided by average annual income as the dependent variable. Total liabilities include mortgage, bank debt and other secured and unsecured debt, and average income is the average annual income during the period 1988-1996. High-ETV individuals increased their debt level substantially after the reform: individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 in 1991 increased their total debt level by 7.6% of their annual earnings than individuals with ETVs lower than 0.2 in 1991.

Next, we study how the effects differ by whether the individual is liquidity constrained or not. If the reform increased the level of debt because it relaxes the credit constraint, it should have little impact on the borrowing for individuals who have a lot of liquid assets and are not credit constrained. Columns (4) to (6) of Table 2 show the triple-differences estimates. First, the triple-interaction terms of low liquidity, high ETV and post 1991 have positive and significant effects for all three measures, indicating that individuals with little liquid assets borrow more against housing equity and increase their debt more after the reform. Second, among individuals with a lot of liquid assets and thus not liquidity constrained, those with high ETVs also borrow more against housing equity, but the change in total debt level is very little. For example, households with high liquidity and ETV higher than 0.2 only increased their total debt by 4% of annual earnings, while households with low liquidity and ETV higher than 0.2 increased their total debt by 13% of annual earnings. This suggests that equity extractions crowd out other sources of debt such as bank loans for non-liquidity-constrained households.

In Panel B of Table 2, we use the continuous measure of ETV in 1991 as the treatment variable (Equation 2.5) and get similar results. A one-standard-deviation increase in ETV of 1991 increases debt level by 8% of a annual salary. The effect on borrowing is twice larger for liquidity-constrained individuals than non-constrained individuals.

These results indicate that the reform indeed relaxed credit constraint for individuals' with high ETVs. For credit-constrained individuals, this increased the borrowing significantly; for non-credit-constrained individuals, the additional borrowing from housing equity crowds out other sources of borrowing and has small impact on the amount of total debt.

2.5.2 Effects of the Reform on Wages and Employment

How does the relaxation of credit constraint affect wages and employment? Table 3 shows results from our baseline regressions using measures of wages and employment as dependent variables.

In Column 1, we use normalized earnings as dependent variable where we divide annual earnings by the average annual earnings from 1988 to 1996.¹² This measure takes into account individuals with zero earnings. Following the reform, individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 experienced a 0.7% gain in earnings, and individuals with ETVs between 0.4 and 0.6 experienced a 0.6% gain in earnings. In Column 2, we use log annual wage as dependent variable and thus excludes individuals with zero earnings and get similar results: earnings increased by 0.4% for individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 in 1991. In Column 3, the dependent variable is employment rate, which equals to one if the individual has positive earnings and zero otherwise. The employment rate of high-ETV groups increased by 0.8%, but the difference is not statistically significant.

Column 4 to 6 Table 3 present results for triple-differences specification (equation 2.5). For credit-constrained individuals, an ETV of greater than 0.2 leads to an 1.6% increase in earnings . On the other hand, for non-constrained individuals, a higher ETV is not associated with significantly higher earnings after the reform. Nevertheless, the employment rates of liquidity-constrained individuals fell after the reform, while employment rates of non-liquidity-constrained individuals increased after the reform. This suggests that the higher earnings experienced by the individuals with high ETVs are due to the relaxation of borrowing constraint for liquidity-constrained individuals.

In Panel B of Table 3, we use continuous ETV as the treatment variable. A one-standarddeviation increase in ETV in 1991 increases earnings by 0.4 percent on average, and increases earnings by 0.8 percent for liquidity-constrained individuals.

How big is this effect? The estimates in Column 4 indicates that the earnings of liquidityconstrained individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 increase by 1.6% after the reform. Assuming that the earnings growth remain the same afterwards, and that careers last 20 years and discount rate is 5 percent, an 1.6% earnings increase implies a loss in present discounted value equal to 20% of annual earning, which is larger than the increase in amount of borrowing by these individuals (13% of annual earning from Column 6 of Table 2).

¹²The normalized earnings are winsorized at 1st and 99th percentile. Results are similar when normalizing earnings by the average earnings before the reform (1988-1991).

To test whether the wages of high ETV groups and low ETV groups would have followed parallel trends without the reform, we estimate the treatment effects on wages over time as follows:

$$y_{it} = \alpha_i + \sum_{\tau=1988}^{1996} \beta_{\tau} \mathbf{1} (ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i \times D_t(\tau) + \theta X_i^{1991} \times \phi_t + \varepsilon_{it}$$
(2.7)

where $D_t(\tau)$ is equal to one if $t = \tau$. β_{τ} is the effect of high ETV on wages in year τ , and year 1991 is chosen as the base year. Figure 3 plots the coefficients β_{τ} . The effects are insignificant from zero before 1991, and are increasing over time after 1991. We estimate the same regression separately for low-liquidity individuals and high-liquidity individuals and plot the coefficients in the bottom figure of Figure 3. For both groups, individuals with high ETVs have similar wage trends as individuals with low ETVs before 1991, which suggests that conditional on controls individuals with different levels of ETVs follow similar counterfactual wage trends. Following the reform, having higher ETV has no effect on wages for the individuals with a lot of liquid assets, while higher ETV leads to higher wage growth for individuals with little liquid assets, suggesting that being able to borrow against housing equity leads to higher wage growth for liquidity-constrained individuals.

2.5.3 Heterogeneity

We examine the heterogeneity of treatment effects on wages by demographic characteristics in Table 4. Each column is a separate regression for all individuals in a demographic group, and the dependent variable is normalized earnings.

Column (1) to Column (3) show that workers with basic education benefited the most from the reform. Workers with only basic education who were liquidity-constrained and had high ETVs in 1991 experienced a wage increase of over 3%, while workers with vocational education and higher education have much smaller wage gains. This might be due to the fact that less skilled workers have higher income volatility.

Column (4) and Column (5) show that women have larger wage responses to the reform than

men. The last two columns show that older workers experienced larger increases in earnings following the reform than younger workers. Bhutta and Keys (2016) find that the equity extraction of young homeowners are more responsive to house price growth since they are more likely to be collateral constrained. However, in our setting older homeowners are more likely to have higher ETVs and more expensive houses, and therefore are more likely to benefit from the reform.

2.5.4 Robustness

Are the results driven by entrepreneurs?

One alternative explanation for our findings is that the option to borrow against housing equity encourages workers to start up their own businesses and earn more. Schmalz, Sraer and Thesmar (2012) shows that increase in the value of housing collateral leads to higher probability of becoming an entrepreneur. Jensen, Leth-Petersen and Nanda (2015) studied the same mortgage reform as our paper, and found that homeowners with high ETVs in 1991 are more likely to become entrepreneurs.

Consistent with Jensen, Leth-Petersen and Nanda (2015), we find that individuals with high ETVs in 1991 have a 0.1% higher probability of becoming self-employed, and the effect is more pronounced for liquidity-constrained individuals. However, the effect on entrepreneurship rate is much smaller than the effect on earnings – for entrepreneurship to explain all of the increase in earnings, the earnings of the entrepreneurs would have to be 7 times higher than the earnings in other jobs.

To further investigate how much of the earnings increase is due to entrepreneurship, we re-ran our baseline regressions excluding individuals who were self-employed between 1992 and 1996. Table 5 shows that after excluding entrepreneurs, we still find a similar earnings increase among individuals who had high ETVs in 1991 and were liquidity-constrained. Therefore increase in entrepreneurship cannot explain the positive effect of credit access on earnings.

Placebo Test Using Pre-Reform Years

The key identifying assumption of our empirical strategy is that individuals with high ETVs follow the same wage trends as individuals with low ETVs conditional on observable characteristics. We have shown that individuals with high ETVs in 1991 and individuals with low ETVs in 1991 have parallel wage trends before 1991. Nevertheless, it is still possible that individuals with higher ETVs in 1991 have different wage trends after 1991 for reasons other than the mortgage reform. For instance, individuals with higher ETVs have less debt and lower leverage, and previous studies have shown that debt overhang may affect labor supply and job search behavior (Bernstein 2018; Ji 2018).

To test this we perform a placebo test using data before 1992. We divide the period into a pre-period (1988-1989), and a post-period (1990-1991), and test whether individuals with higher ETVs in 1989 had higher wage growth in 1990 and 1991. Since the placebo sample is before the mortgage reform took place, we would not expect to see differential wage trends for individuals with high ETVs in 1989 since they wouldn't be able to extract their housing equity to finance their other needs. We apply the same difference-in-differences specification as Equation 2.3, and measure all observable characteristics at 1989.

Table 6 presents the results of the placebo test. Individuals with ETV higher than 0.2 in 1989 have similar trends in normalized earnings and log wages from 1990 to 1991 as individuals with ETV lower than 0.2 in 1989.¹³ In Column (4) to Column (6), we compare the wage responses for liquidity-constrained and non-liquidity-constrained individuals based on their level of liquid assets in 1988 and 1989. The coefficient of the interaction term between low liquid assets and high ETV is statistically insignificant from zero in all of these regressions, indicating that liquidity-constrained and non-liquidity-constrained individuals have nearly identical wage and employment responses to different levels of ETV in 1989. This suggests that liquidity-constrained individuals with high ETVs had faster wage growth after 1992 precisely because the reform relaxed their credit

¹³The positive effect of high ETV on subsequent earnings is consistent with the debt overhang effects (Ji 2018; Bernstein 2018). For example, individuals with more debt may have less incentive to work due to implicit taxes. However, such effects are small in our setting.

constraints.

2.6 Mechanisms

In this section we investigate the mechanisms of how expanding credit access leads to higher earnings. As shown in our conceptual framework, a relaxation of credit constraint increases the value of unemployment and allows individuals to choose jobs that are risker and have higher earnings, as well as bargain for higher wages at current jobs. We first start by describing which individuals borrow from housing equity, and show that access to housing equity are indeed used to insure against negative labor income shocks. Then we look at the job search behavior of unemployed individuals, and show that individuals with more housing equity stay in unemployment for longer and get higher reemployment wages. Finally, we look at job switching behaviors and within-jobspell wage changes of all employed workers to examine the job search channel and the bargaining channel separately.

2.6.1 Who Borrows Against Housing Equity?

We start our analysis by looking at the determinants of equity extraction. If the additional borrowing from housing equity provides insurance against negative labor market shocks, we would expect to see more borrowing when individuals experience negative labor market shocks. For example, Kaplan (2012) find that workers are more likely to move back home to live with their parents when they lose their jobs.

We estimate a linear probability model of the propensity to extract housing equity¹⁴:

 $Extract_{ict} = \beta_1(IncomeGrowth_{it}) + \beta_2(IncomeGrowth_{it} \times LowLiquidity_i) + \gamma \mathbf{X}_i + \alpha_{ct} + \epsilon_{ict} \quad (2.8)$

where $Extract_{it}$ is an indicator variable for housing equity extraction, IncomeGrowth_{it} represents

¹⁴The large dataset and large number of FEs raise challenges for a probit specification related to computation and interpretation. Furthermore, comparing the main results from our estimated linear probability model with the appropriate marginal effects (including accounting for the interaction term) from a probit model yielded virtually identical estimates.

the average income growth rate over the past three years. We interact the income growth with an indicator variable for having low level of liquid assets in 1991 to study the different responses of high-liquidity and low-liquidity individuals. The vector X_i includes individual-level covariates including ETV in 1991, the level of liquid assets in 1991, and decile of total wealth in 1991. We also include municipality-year fixed effects to account for different housing price trends at the municipality level. The unit of observation is person-year, and we only include observations for homeowners after 1991.

Column (1) of Table 7 shows that individuals that experienced a negative earnings shock are more likely to borrow against housing equity. A standard deviation decrease in income growth leads to a 1.1 percentage point rise in equity extraction: a 10 percent increase relative to the 11 percent average extraction rate across all years after 1991. Households with little liquid assets have on average 3.4 percentage points higher extraction rate. Column (2) shows that liquidity-constrained individuals are also more likely to extract equity in response to negative earnings shocks: a standard deviation decrease in income growth leads to a 0.7 percentage points increase in equity extraction for individuals with sufficient liquid assets, and a 1.4 percentage points increase in equity extraction for individuals with little liquid assets.

In Columns (3) and (4) we examine how labor market shocks affect equity extraction. Workers who lost their jobs are more likely to extract equity. Workers are also more likely to extract equity when their employers have negative employment growth. To account for unobserved heterogeneity across homeowners in their propensity to extract equity that may be correlated with labor market outcomes, we include person fixed effects in Columns (5) and (6). For the same person, the timing of equity extraction is positively correlated with unemployment and negatively correlated with shocks to earnings. These evidence indicate that homeowners borrow against their housing equity to insure against negative labor market shocks.

2.6.2 Effects on Unemployed Workers

Extra credit from housing wealth allows unemployed households to augment today's liquid asset position by borrowing against future income. Chetty (2008) shows that increases in unemployment benefits or severance payments lead to longer unemployment durations, especially for liquidity constrained households. Herkenhoff et al. (2016a) finds that better access to consumer credit increases unemployment durations and wages conditional on finding a job.

To examine how the borrowing against housing equity affect the job search behavior of unemployed workers, we compare unemployment durations and reemployment wages of workers who are unemployed at year 1991 and have different levels of housing equity. In particular, we estimate the following equation:

$$D_i = \gamma \mathbf{1} (ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i + \pi \mathbf{1} (ETV_{91} > 0.2)_i \times \text{LowLiquidity}_i + \beta \mathbf{X_i} + \varepsilon_i$$
(2.9)

where D_i is the unemployment duration of individual *i*, control **X**_i include age dummies, municipality fixed effects and dummies for year entering unemployment. The coefficients of interest are γ , which is the effect of having positive housing equity on unemployment duration, and π , which is the differential effect of having positive housing equity of liquidity-constrained individuals relative to non-liquidity-constrained individuals.

Table 8 shows that having positive housing equity on average increases unemployment durations by 0.07 years, or 3.7 weeks. Liquidity-constrained households increased unemployment durations by 0.18 years, or 9.1 weeks, while non-liquidity-constrained households increased their unemployment durations by 0.04 years, or 2.1 weeks.

Column 3 and Column 4 looks at how access to housing equity affects reemployment wages. The dependent variable is replacement rate, defined as reemployment wage divided by average wage in three years before the unemployment spell. On average the access to housing equity has insignificant positive effect on reemployment wages. However the effect is opposite for liquidityconstrained and non-liquidity-constrained individuals: liquidity-constrained households with positive housing equity experienced a 5% higher replacement rate, whereas non-constrained households with positive housing equity experienced a 2% lower replacement rate.

Our results are similar to Herkenhoff et al. (2016a), who finds that an increase in unused revolving debt of one year's income leads to an increase in unemployment durations by 0.11 years and an increase in replacement rate by 6%. In addition, we show that the effect is heterogeneous by individuals' liquidity constraint: while more credit access allows liquidity-constrained individuals to search for jobs with higher wages, more credit access make non-liquidity-constrained individuals stay in unemployment for too long and hurt their reemployment wages.

2.6.3 Sources of Wage Growth Following the Reform

We investigate the mechanisms through which access to housing equity affects wages. As shown in the conceptual framework there are two channels. The first channel is sorting. Workers with access to housing assets are more selective and therefore are more likely to move to firms and jobs with higher wages. The second channel is bargaining. The ability to borrow in unemployment improves workers' outside options and allows them to bargain for higher wages given the job type. Both mechanisms are widely discussed in the theoretical literature, but direct empirical evidence to distinguish between the bargaining and sorting mechanisms is rare.

We first look at whether workers are more likely to switch jobs after the reform allowed them to borrow against housing equity. Table 9 shows the difference-in-differences estimates as in Equation 2.5. The dependent variable in Column 1 is an indicator variable that equals one if the worker switches employer. Liquidity-constrained individuals with ETV higher than 0.2 are 1.5% more likely to switch jobs after the reform, while non-constrained individuals with ETV higher than 0.2 are only 0.2% more likely to switch jobs. Individuals are also more likely to move to new cities when they can borrow against their housing equity. The additional credit helps individuals cover their moving costs or finance down payments for their new homes. This is consistent with the view that liquidity constraints lock in people at their current locations (Brown and Matsa 2016).

The access to housing credit also allows people to move to better firms. We estimate two-way

fixed effects model as in Abowd, Kramarz and Margolis (1999) for the period 1988-1996, and use the estimated firm fixed effects as dependent variables to measure the firm-specific wage premium. Column (3) shows that workers with high ETVs move to firms that pay higher wages after the mortgage reform. Individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 in 1991 are employed in firms that pay 0.2% higher wages. In Column (4), we use the average wage of coworkers as an alternative measure of firms' wage premium, and find similar results.

Having credit access also affects workers' job positions within firms. We define a job position as a top position in a firm if it is a managerial position or in the highest hierarchy. About 10% of the workers are in top positions. Column (5) shows that individuals with high ETVs are more likely to work in a top position following the reform.

Finally, we test the bargaining channel by looking at wage changes within job spells. In Column 6, we include establishment-year fixed effects i.e. job fixed effects. Workers with ETVs higher than 0.2 experience an increase in wages of 0.4% in their existing jobs, which accounts for approximately 20% of the positive wage effect.

Taken together the results suggest that both sorting and bargaining channels are important. Bargaining explains about 20% of the positive wage effect, and the rest is explained by moving to firms paying higher wages and better job positions.¹⁵

2.7 Conclusion

Housing assets constitute the majority of wealth for most households, but they are highly illiquid, and many individuals are liquidity constrained despite owning a large amount of housing wealth (Gorea and Midrigan 2018). In this paper we exploit a natural experiment in Denmark which allowed homeowners to borrow against housing equity, and find that the expanded credit access

¹⁵Another explanation is that relaxation of credit constraint increases workers' productivity by encouraging more human capital accumulation. Similar to firms cutting investment when financially constrained (Bolton, Chen and Wang 2011), individuals may also invest less in human capital when credit constrained (Sun and Yannelis 2016; Fos, Liberman and Yannelis 2017). In Appendix Table A3 we show that the probability of training increases for individuals with high ETVs after the reform, but the effect on duration of training is insignificant.

increased earnings and job quality for liquidity-constrained individuals.

Our results suggest that access to housing collateral plays an important role in insuring against negative income shocks even in a country like Denmark, which has one of the most generous UI benefit systems among OECD countries. Markwardt et al. (2014) find that people with more housing equity are less likely to take up UI, suggesting that borrowing in credit markets is substitute for public insurance like UI benefits. However, contrary to UI benefits, we do not find negative employment effects of more credit access, perhaps because borrowers have more incentives to work to pay up the debt. How to optimally combine credit markets with public insurance to relax liquidity constraints is an interesting direction for future research.

2.8 Figures



Figure 1: Share of homeowners extracting equity by year

Notes: This figure shows the share of home owners extracting housing equity in Denmark by year. Following Bhutta and Keys (2016), we define extraction of housing equity as instances when a borrower's outstanding mortgage debt increases by more than 5 percent over a one year period, with a minimum increase of 5,000 DKK. Since we do not observe the trade line information for each mortgage held, we further require that the borrower do not move over the one year period to exclude second mortgages and new mortgages.





(b) Fraction of housing equity extracted

Notes: This figure shows the binscatter of the probability of equity extraction and the share of housing equity extracted over the five-year period of 1992-1996 against the equity-to-value (ETV) ratio in 1991. Each dot contains the same number of individuals. The share of housing equity extracted is calculated as the amount of increase in outstanding mortgage debt normalized by the average housing price over the one year period, and we sum up all the shares for years 1992-1996.





(b) By level of liquid assets

Notes: This figure shows the dynamic treatment effects of the mortgage reform on earnings of individuals with ETVs higher than 0.2 in 1991 over time, i.e. coefficients β_{τ} in equation (7). The dependent variable is annual wage earnings normalized by the average annual wage earnings during the sample period. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level. The bottom figure plots the treatment effects for low-liquidity individuals (individuals with liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991) and high-liquidity individuals respectively.

Figure 4: Regions of Denmark



Notes: The five Regions of Denmark were created as part of the 2007 Danish Municipal Reform, when the counties were abolished. Each region is close to a commuting zone in the United States: it mostly takes less than two hours to travel between places within a region.

·	Table 1 Summ	ary Statisti	es		
	All	home owne	rs	ETV<0.2	ETV>0.2
	Mean	Median	Std. Dev.		
Age	40.6	41	8.52	38.2	44
Female	0.35	0	0.48	0.37	0.34
Kids	0.27	0	0.45	0.29	0.25
Partner	0.84	1	0.37	0.84	0.84
Basic education	0.3	0	0.46	0.29	0.31
Vocational training	0.44	0	0.5	0.43	0.44
College education	0.26	0	0.44	0.26	0.24
Experience	15.6	15.1	7.69	14.4	17.3
Annual earning (1000 DKK)	212.5	199.6	181.9	217.7	207.7
Annual wage (1000 DKK)	192.3	197.1	131.8	198.8	186.4
Hourly wage	152.2	137	79.2	150.6	151.9
Unemployment in 1991	0.06	0	0.24	0.06	0.06
AKM Firm FE	0.33	0.35	0.2	0.33	0.32
Job tenure	4.7	3	4.3	4.2	5.3
Housing price in 1991 (1000 DKK)	411.1	356	230.6	367.9	434.9
Total asset in 1991 (1000 DKK)	525.4	410.4	1425	455.9	590.6
Liquid asset in 1991 (1000 DKK)	114.3	22.8	1374	88	140.7
Total liability in 1991 (1000 DKK)	380.7	312.7	743.7	452.6	302.4
Mortgage debt in 1991 (1000 DKK)	263.7	228.9	188	331.6	189
Bank debt in 1991 (1000 DKK)	79.4	37.4	611.7	78.9	79.8
Maximum housing equity unlocked in					
1991 (1000 DKK)	78.7	9.5	127.8	1.2	163.5
ETV IN 1991	0.34	0.27	0.31	0.05	0.62
Number of observations	7,434,558			3,564,324	3,870,234
Number of person	826,062			396,036	430,026

Notes: This table reports the summary statistics for 826,062 in our balanced-panel sample of home owners. Worker level information are from income register and is available for the entire sample period (1988-1996). All monetary values are normalized to real 2010 Danish krones. All ages refer to the age of an individual as of November within a given year. The classification of education groups relies on a Danish education code that corresponds to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED). "Higher education" basically corresponds to the two highest categories (5 and 6) in the ISCED; i.e., the individual has a tertiary education. "Vocational education" is defined as the final stage of secondary education encompassing programs that prepare students for direct entry into the labor market. Workers with just a high school or equivalent education or less than that are classified as "basic education". Housing assets refer to the tax assessed valuation of the individual's property scaled with the ratio of market prices to tax assessed house values for house that have been traded in that municipality and year. Non housing assets include the individual's other assets including stocks, bonds and bank deposits. All medians are calculated as the average value of 10 observations around the median.

	Т	able 2 Effects o	f Mortgage Refo	orm on Borrowir	ng	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Dependent variable	Equity Extraction	Fraction of equity extracted	Liability/ Income	Equity Extraction	Fraction of equity extracted	Liability/ Income
		A.	Treatment: Dur	nmy for (ETV91	>0.2)	
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)	0.0620 * (0.0004)	*** 0.0211 (0.0001)	*** 0.0757 (0.0026)	*** 0.0491 (0.0004)	*** 0.0178 (0.0001)	*** 0.0427 *** (0.0032)
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)* Low Liquidity				0.0374 (0.0007)	*** 0.0097 (0.0002)	*** 0.0906 *** (0.0046)
			B. Treatr	nent: ETV91		
Post*ETV91	0.1045 * (0.0006)	*** 0.0385 (0.0002)	*** 0.2384 (0.0044)	*** 0.0788 (0.0007)	*** 0.0313 (0.0002)	*** 0.1799 *** (0.0053)
Post*ETV91* Low Liquidity				0.0863 (0.0012)	*** 0.0241 (0.0004)	*** 0.1788 *** (0.0076)
Person FE Municipality*year FE Observables*year FE Number of	5 5 5				<i>v</i> <i>v</i>	
observations	6,819,246	6,819,246	6,819,246	6,819,246	6,819,246	6,819,246

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from OLS regressions (equation (4) and (5)). Equity extraction is defined as in Bhutta and Keys (2016). The share of housing equity extracted is calculated as the amount of increase in outstanding mortgage debt normalized by the average housing price over the one year period. Liabilities include mortgage debt, bank debt, secured debt, and other debt. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991, ETV interacted with an indicator for the post mortgage reform period, and interactions of ETV, post-reform-period dummy, and an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

	(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)		(5)		(6)		
Dependent variable	Normalized earnings	Lo	og wage		Employment rate		Normalized earnings		Log wage		Employment	t	
	eatment: Dummy for (ETV91>0.2)												
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)	0.0072	*** (0.0044	***	0.0008		0.0009		-0.0046	***	0.0018	***	
	(0.0023)	((0.0017)		(0.0007)		(0.0022)		(0.0016)		(0.0007)		
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)*							0.0155	***	0.0209	***	-0.0030	***	
Low Liquidity							(0.0052)		(0.0022)		(0.0009)		
	B. Treatment: ETV91												
Post*ETV91	0.0130	*** (0.0107	***	0.0019	**	0.0030		-0.0074	***	0.0033	***	
	(0.0031)	((0.0021)		(0.0009)		(0.0037)		(0.0027)		(0.0011)		
Post*ETV91*							0.0243	***	0.0445	***	-0.0041	***	
Low Liquidity							(0.0065)		(0.0036)		(0.0016)		
Person FE	~		~		~		~		~		~		
Municipality*year FE	~		v		~		~		~		~		
Observables*year FE	~		~		~		~		~		~		
Number of													
observations	6,819,246	6,	178,846		6,819,246		6,819,246		6,178,846		6,819,246		

Table 3 Effects of Mortgage Reform on Wages and Employment

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from OLS regressions (equation (4) and (5)). Normalized earnings are annual earnings divided by the average annual earnings from 1988 to 1996, which takes into account individuals with zero earnings. Employment rate is an indicator variable which equals one if the wage income is positive. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991, ETV interacted with an indicator for the post mortgage reform period, and interactions of ETV, post-reform-period dummy, and an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

	Table	4 Heterogenei	ity of Wage Effe	ets by Indivi	dual Covariates		
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
	Depe	endent variable	e: earnings norm	alized by av	erage annual ear	nings 1988-19	996
	Basic	Vocational	Higher	Mala	Fomala	1 00-10	A go>-10
	Education	Education	Education	Iviale	remaie	Age~40	Age>=40
Post*1(FTV91>0.2)	0.0077	0.0020	-0.0045	-0.0033	0 0040	-0.0046 *	* 0.0033
1030 1(117)120.2)	(0.0055)	(0.0029)	(0.0033)	(0.0024)	(0.0043)	(0.0028)	(0.0039)
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)*	0.0300 **	0.0069	0.0164 **	0.0100	* 0.0515 ***	* 0.0144 *	* 0.0353 ***
Low Liquidity	(0.0118)	(0.0070)	(0.0075)	(0.0056)	(0.0123)	(0.0080)	(0.0065)
Person FE	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
Municipality*year FE	~	~	~	✓	~	~	~
Observables*year FE	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
observations	2,008,718	3,021,472	1,704,596	4,276,165	2,281,393	3,118,932	3,438,639

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from OLS regressions (equation (5)) for each demographic group. Normalized earnings are annual earnings divided by the average annual earnings from 1988 to 1996, which takes into account individuals with zero earnings. All demographic characteristics are measured in 1991. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991, ETV interacted with an indicator for the post mortgage reform period, and interactions of ETV, post-reform-period dummy, and an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
			(Exclue	ding self-employed	l workers)
	Self	Self	Normalized	1	Employment
Dependent variable	employment	employment	earnings	Log wage	rate
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)	0.0009 *	* 0.0008	-0.0026	-0.0060 ***	* 0.0014 **
	(0.0004)	(0.0005)	(0.0020)	(0.0014)	(0.0006)
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)*		0.0009	0.0288	*** 0.0440 **;	* -0.0008
Low Liquidity		(0.0010)	(0.0049)	(0.0032)	(0.0014)
Person FE	~	~	~	~	~
Municipality*year FE	✓	\checkmark	✓	✓	v
Observables*year FE	v	\checkmark	✓	✓	✓
Number of					
observations	6,819,246	6,819,246	6,143,229	5,786,635	6,143,229

 Table 5 Robustness to Self Employment

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from OLS regressions (equation (4) and (5)). In Column 1 and Column 2, the dependent variable is an indicator variable which takes the value of 1 if the individual is an entrepreneur in a given year. In Column 3 to 5 we exclude all individuals who were entrepreneurs at any time during 1988-1996. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991, ETV interacted with an indicator for the post mortgage reform period, and interactions of ETV, post-reform-period dummy, and an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	-	(4)	_	(5)	(6)	
	Normalized	Log wage	Employment		Normalized		Log wage	Employme	nt
Dependent variable	earnings	Log wage	rate		earnings		LOE Wage	rate	
Post*1(ETV89>0.2)	0.0039	-0.0017	0.0010	**	0.0058	*	-0.0012	0.0013	*
	(0.0024)	(0.0013)	(0.0005)		(0.0030)		(0.0021)	(0.0007)	
Post*1(ETV89>0.2)*					-0.0029		0.0005	-0.0015	
Low Liquidity					(0.0050)		(0.0024)	(0.0010)	
Person FE	~	~	~		~		~	~	
Municipality*year FE	~	~	✓		✓		~	~	
Observables*year FE	~	~	✓		✓		~	~	
Number of									
observations	2,452,892	2,219,735	2,452,892		2,452,892		2,219,735	2,452,892	2

Table 6 Placebo Test: Year 1988 to 1991

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from placebo OLS regressions for the pre-reform period (1988-1991). Normalized earnings are annual earnings divided by the average annual earnings from 1988 to 1991, which takes into account individuals with zero earnings. Employment rate is an indicator variable which equals one if the wage income is positive. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1989, ETV interacted with an indicator for the post-1990 period, and interactions of ETV, post-1990 dummy, and an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1989. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1989, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

			Table 7 Det	ermir	nates of Equ	ity Ex	traction					
				C	Outcome var	iable	is Extract={	0,1}				
	(1)		(2)		(3)		(4)		(5)		(6)	
Income growth	-0.0347 (0.0017)	***	-0.0227 (0.0018)	***								
Income growth ×			-0.0227	***								
Low liquidity in 1991			(0.0045)									
Unemployment					0.0028 (0.0007)	***			0.0023 (0.0014)	*		
Firm employment growth							-0.0032 (0.0008)	***				
Log earnings											-0.0037 (0.0012)	***
Low liquidity in 1991	0.0341 (0.0005)	**	0.0346 (0.0005)	**	0.0333 (0.0005)	**	0.0335 (0.0005)	**				
Municipality*Year FE Person FE	~		~		4		~		<i>v</i> <i>v</i>		<i>v</i> <i>v</i>	
No. of observations	2,196,158		2,196,158		2,196,158		2,196,158		2,196,158		2,196,158	

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from regressions on propensity to borrow against housing equity (equation (8)). The dependent variable is an indicator variable for extracting housing equity. Individuals with low liquidity in 1991 are individuals who had liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. The regressions control for municipality-year fixed effects, and in Column 5 and 6 also control for individual fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.

				_				
	(1)		(2)		(3)	_	(4)	-
Dependent	endent Unemployment		Unemployment		Replacement		Replacement	
variable	duration		duration		rate		rate	
1(ETV91>0.2)	0.0703	**	0.0409		0.0080		-0.0177	
	(0.0300)		(0.0348)		(0.0122)		(0.0146)	
1(ETV91>0.2)*			0.1347	**			0.0674	***
Low Liquidity			(0.0650)				(0.0249)	
Log wage before	-0.0523	***	-0.0623	***	-0.3243	***	-0.3326	***
unemployment	(0.0086)		(0.0087)		(0.0034)		(0.0035)	
Age dummies	v		~		~		~	
Municipality FE	 ✓ 		~		~		~	
Cohort FE	~		~		~		~	
Number of								
observations	42,952		42,952		42,952		42,952	

Table 8 Effects of Mortgage Reform on Unemployed Workers

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from cross-sectional regressions on unemployed workers in 1991 (equation (9)). Unemployment duration is measured in years. The replacement rate is calculated as the reemployment wage divided by the average annual wage during three years before unemployment. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991 and ETV interacted an indicator for having liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. All regressions control for fixed effects of age, municipality and year of beginning unemployment, as well as the log wage before unemployment.

		T	able 9 Mec	chanis	ms of Wag	ge G	rowth					
	(1)		(2)	_	(3)	_	(4)		(5)	_	(6)	
Dependent variable	Switch firm		Switch city		AKM Firm FE	-	Coworker wage		Top position	-	Log wage	
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)	0.0024 (0.0013)	*	0.0223 (0.0006)	***	0.0008 (0.0004)	**	0.0010 (0.0006)	*	-0.0033 (0.0024)		-0.0010 (0.0007)	
Post*1(ETV91>0.2)* Low Liquidity	0.0121 (0.0020)	***	0.0083 (0.0009)	***	0.0012 (0.0006)	**	0.0017 (0.0009)	**	0.0100 (0.0056)	*	0.0049 (0.0009)	***
Person FE Municipality*year FE Observables*year FE Person*firm (iob) FE			~ ~ ~		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		v v		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	
Mean of Dep. Var. Number of	0.164		0.055		0.496		11.71		0.093		11.71	
observations	5,445,480		5,445,480		5,445,480		5,445,480		5,445,480		5,445,480	

Notes: (* $p \le 0.10$, ** $p \le 0.05$, *** $p \le 0.01$) This table reports estimates from OLS regressions (equation (5)). In Column 1 dependent variable is an indicator variable for changing employer. In Column 2 dependent variable is an indicator variable for changing municipality. In Column 3 dependent variable is the AKM firm fixed effect of the employer, which is estimated from two-way fixed effect regressions with worker FE and firm FE. In Column 4 dependent variable is average wage of coworkers. In Column 5 dependent variable is an indicator variable for working in a top position, which is identified by the job hierarchy code. The main right-hand-side variables are equity to value ratio in 1991, ETV interacted with an indicator variable which equals one if the individual has liquid assets less than one month's disposable income in 1991. Control variables include year fixed effects interacted with fixed effects for birth-cohort, decile of wealth, educational level, partner, gender and having children, each measured in 1991, as well as person fixed effects and municipality-year fixed effects. In Column 6 the regression also includes person-establishment fixed effects. Standard errors are clustered at the individual level and are reported in parentheses.
Bibliography

- Abowd, John M., Francis Kramarz, and David N. Margolis. 1999. "High Wage Workers and High Wage Firms." *Econometrica* 67 (2):251–333.
- [2] Acemoglu, Daron. 2001. "Good Jobs versus Bad Jobs." *Journal of Labor Economics* 19 (1):
 1–21.
- [3] Acemoglu, Daron, and Robert Shimer. 1999. "Efficient Unemployment Insurance." *Journal* of Political Economy 107 (5): 893–928.
- [4] Acemoglu, Daron, and Robert Shimer. 2000. "Productivity Gains from Unemployment Insurance." *European Economic Review* 44 (7): 1195–1224.
- [5] Agarwal, Sumit, Souphala Chomsisengphet, Neale Mahoney, and Johannes Stroebel. 2018.
 "Do Banks Pass through Credit Expansions to Consumers Who Want to Borrow?" *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 133 (1): 129–90.
- [6] Agarwal, Sumit, Chunlin Liu, and NicholasăS. Souleles. 2007. "The Reaction of Consumer Spending and Debt to Tax Rebates—Evidence from Consumer Credit Data." *Journal of Political Economy* 115 (6): 986–1019.
- [7] Bailey, Michael, Rachel Cao, Theresa Kuchler, and Johannes Stroebel. 2018. "The Economic Effects of Social Networks: Evidence from the Housing Market." *Journal of Political Economy*. Forthcoming.

- [8] Bernstein, Asaf. 2018. "Household Debt Overhang and Labor Supply." Working Paper.
- [9] Bernstein, Asaf, and Daan Struyven. 2017. "Housing Lock: Dutch Evidence on the Impact of Negative Home Equity on Household Mobility." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 3090675.
- [10] Bernstein, Shai, Richard R. Townsend, and Tim McQuade. 2018. "Do Household Wealth Shocks Affect Productivity? Evidence from Innovative Workers During the Great Recession." Mimeo.
- [11] Bolton, Patrick, Hui Chen, and Neng Wang. 2011. "A Unified Theory of Tobin's q, Corporate Investment, Financing, and Risk Management." *Journal of Finance* 66 (5): 1545–78.
- [12] Brown, Jennifer, and David A. Matsa. 2017. "Locked in by Leverage: Job Search during the Housing Crisis." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2880784.
- [13] Bhutta, Neil, and Benjamin J. Keys. 2016. "Interest Rates and Equity Extraction during the Housing Boom." *American Economic Review* 106 (7): 1742–74.
- [14] Carrell, Scott, and Jonathan Zinman. 2014. "In Harm's Way? Payday Loan Access and Military Personnel Performance." *Review of Financial Studies* 27 (9): 2805–40.
- [15] Chaney, Thomas, David Sraer, and David Thesmar. 2012. "The Collateral Channel: How Real Estate Shocks Affect Corporate Investment." *American Economic Review* 102 (6): 2381–2409.
- [16] Chetty, Raj. 2008. "Moral Hazard versus Liquidity and Optimal Unemployment Insurance." *Journal of Political Economy* 116 (2): 173–234.
- [17] Cloyne, James, Kilian Huber, and Ethan Ilzetzki. 2018. "The Effect of House Prices on Household Borrowing: A New Approach." Mimeo.
- [18] Defusco, Anthony A. 2018. "Homeowner Borrowing and Housing Collateral: New Evidence from Expiring Price Controls." *Journal of Finance* 73 (2): 523–73.

- [19] DeFusco, Anthony, and John Mondragon. 2018. "No Job, No Money, No Refi: Frictions to Refinancing in a Recession." Mimeo.
- [20] Dobbie, Will, Paul Goldsmith-Pinkham, Neale Mahoney, and Jae Song. 2016. "Bad Credit, No Problem? Credit and Labor Market Consequences of Bad Credit Reports." Working Paper 22711. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [21] Dobbie, Will, and Jae Song. 2015. "Debt Relief and Debtor Outcomes: Measuring the Effects of Consumer Bankruptcy Protection." *American Economic Review* 105 (3): 1272–1311.
- [22] Dobbie, Will, and Jae Song. 2018. "Targeted Debt Relief and the Origins of Financial Distress: Experimental Evidence from Distressed Credit Card Borrowers." Mimeo.
- [23] Donaldson, Jason Roderick, Giorgia Piacentino, and Anjan V. Thakor. 2018. "Household Debt and Unemployment." *Journal of Finance:* Forthcoming.
- [24] Eberly, Janice, and Arvind Krishnamurthy. 2014. "Efficient Credit Policies in a Housing Debt Crisis." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity* 2014 (2): 73–136.
- [25] Fos, Vyacheslav, Andres Liberman, and Constantine Yannelis. 2017. "Debt and Human Capital: Evidence from Student Loans." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2901631.
- [26] Ganong, Peter, and Pascal Noel. 2017. "The Effect of Debt on Default and Consumption: Evidence from Housing Policy in the Great Recession." Working Paper.
- [27] Gorea, Denis, and Virgiliu Midrigan. 2018. "Liquidity Constraints in the US Housing Market." Working paper.
- [28] Gross, David B., and Nicholas S. Souleles. 2002. "Do Liquidity Constraints and Interest Rates Matter for Consumer Behavior? Evidence from Credit Card Data." *Quarterly Journal* of Economics 117 (1): 149–85.

- [29] Gupta, Arpit, Edward R. Morrison, Catherine Fedorenko, and Scott Ramsey. 2018. "Home Equity Mitigates the Financial and Mortality Consequences of Health Shocks: Evidence from Cancer Diagnoses." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2583975.
- [30] Hawkins, William B., and Jose Mustre-del-Rio. 2016. "Financial Frictions and Occupational Mobility." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2201909.
- [31] Herkenhoff, Kyle, Gordon Phillips, and Ethan Cohen-Cole. 2016a. "How Credit Constraints Impact Job Finding Rates, Sorting & Aggregate Output." Working Paper 22274. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [32] Herkenhoff, Kyle, Gordon Phillips, and Ethan Cohen-Cole. 2016b. "The Impact of Consumer Credit Access on Employment, Earnings and Entrepreneurship." Working Paper 22846. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [33] Hurst, Erik, and Frank Stafford. 2004. "Home Is Where the Equity Is: Mortgage Refinancing and Household Consumption." *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking* 36 (6): 985–1014.
- [34] Jacobson, Louis S., Robert J. LaLonde, and Daniel G. Sullivan. 1993. "Earnings Losses of Displaced Workers." American Economic Review 83 (4): 685–709.
- [35] Jappelli, Tullio. 1990. "Who Is Credit Constrained in the U. S. Economy?" *Quarterly Journal* of Economics 105 (1): 219–34.
- [36] Jarosch, Gregor. 2015. "Searching for Job Security and the Consequences of Job Loss." Manuscript, Stanford University.
- [37] Jensen, Thais, Søren Leth-Petersen, and Ramana Nanda. 2015. "Home Equity Finance and Entrepreneurial Performance - Evidence from a Mortgage Reform." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2506111.
- [38] Ji, Yan. 2018. "Job Search under Debt: Aggregate Implications of Student Loans." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2976040.

- [39] Kaplan, Greg. 2012. "Moving Back Home: Insurance against Labor Market Risk." Journal of Political Economy 120 (3): 446–512.
- [40] Karahan, Fatih, Jae Song, and Serdar Ozkan. 2018. "Sources of Inequality in Earnings Growth over the Life Cycle." Mimeo.
- [41] Karlan, Dean, and Jonathan Zinman. 2010. "Expanding Credit Access: Using Randomized Supply Decisions to Estimate the Impacts." *Review of Financial Studies* 23 (1): 433–64.
- [42] Leth-Petersen, Søren. 2010. "Intertemporal Consumption and Credit Constraints: Does Total Expenditure Respond to an Exogenous Shock to Credit?" *American Economic Review* 100 (3): 1080–1103.
- [43] Low, Hamish, Costas Meghir, and Luigi Pistaferri. 2010. "Wage Risk and Employment Risk over the Life Cycle." American Economic Review 100 (4): 1432–67.
- [44] Lusardi, Annamaria, Daniel Schneider, and Peter Tufano. 2011. "Financially Fragile Households: Evidence and Implications." *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 83–151.
- [45] Markwardt, Kristoffer, Alessandro Martinello, and László Sándor. 2014. "Does Liquidity Substitute for Unemployment Insurance? Evidence from the Introduction of Home Equity Loans in Denmark". Mimeo.
- [46] Melzer, Brian T. 2011. "The Real Costs of Credit Access: Evidence from the Payday Lending Market." *Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126 (1): 517–55.
- [47] Mian, Atif, and Amir Sufi. 2011. "House Prices, Home Equity-Based Borrowing, and the US Household Leverage Crisis." *American Economic Review* 101 (5): 2132–56.
- [48] Morse, Adair. 2011. "Payday Lenders: Heroes or Villains?" *Journal of Financial Economics* 102 (1): 28–44.
- [49] Nekoei, Arash, and Andrea Weber. 2017. "Does Extending Unemployment Benefits Improve Job Quality?" American Economic Review 107 (2): 527–61.

- [50] Price, Brendan. 2018. "The Duration and Wage Effects of Long-Term Unemployment Benefits: Evidence from Germany's Hartz IV Reform." Mimeo.
- [51] Rendon, Silvio. 2006. "Job Search and Asset Accumulation under Borrowing Constraints." International Economic Review 47 (1): 233–63.
- [52] Rothstein, Jesse, and Cecilia Elena Rouse. 2011. "Constrained after College: Student Loans and Early-Career Occupational Choices." *Journal of Public Economics* 95 (1): 149–63.
- [53] Sodini, Paolo, Stijn Van Nieuwerburgh, Roine Vestman, and Ulf von Lilienfeld-Toal. 2016."Identifying the Benefits from Home Ownership: A Swedish Experiment." Working Paper 22882. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- [54] Sun, Stephen Teng, and Constantine Yannelis. 2016. "Credit Constraints and Demand for Higher Education: Evidence from Financial Deregulation." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 98 (1): 12–24.
- [55] Yagan, Danny. 2018. "Employment Hysteresis from the Great Recession." *Journal of Political Economy* Forthcoming.
- [56] Yamashita, Takashi. 2007. "House Price Appreciation, Liquidity Constraints, and Second Mortgages." *Journal of Urban Economics* 62 (3): 424–40.
- [57] Zingales, Luigi. 2015. "Presidential Address: Does Finance Benefit Society?" Journal of Finance 70 (4): 1327–63.

Chapter 3

Corporate R&D Spillovers and Investment in the Innovation Network

3.1 Introduction

Knowledge spillover from corporate investment on research and development (R&D) is important for understanding innovation and technological change, but spillovers are hard to measure empirically. Moreover, new innovations often build on past achievements in other areas, as the descriptive phrase "standing on the shoulders of giants" suggests. Firms that innovate in more "upstream" and fundamental technological areas would create larger knowledge spillovers to other firms in the society than firms in "downstream" technological areas. Nevertheless, the knowledge spillovers across technology areas has been largely ignored in previous studies. This paper delivers a framework in which it is possible to measure how important technology spillovers from upstream to downstream technological fields are for firm outcomes including patenting, productivity, investment and market value, and study which firms create the largest knowledge spillovers.

We build on the recent work by Bloom, Schankerman, and Van Reenen (2013, BSV in short), which develops a general framework incorporating two kinds of spillovers: a positive technology spillover and a negative business stealing effect from product market rivals. They use a Jaffe metric and a more general Mahalanobis metric to measure the closeness between firms in technology space and product space based on technology distribution of firms' patents and industry composition of firm sales. An important insight from the paper is that the distances in the technology space and product space is uncorrelated, which creates enough variation to identify the two spillover effects separately.

Both the Jaffe metric and Mahalanobis metric do not consider an important aspect of knowledge spillovers: innovation is a cumulative process and new progress builds on past achievements. Acemoglu, Akcigit and Kerr (2014, AAK in short) shows that the knowledge spillovers in the form of "standing on the shoulders of giants" is huge: about half of the citations in patents are from outside the technology class, and number of patents in upstream technology classes has strong predictive power of the future innovation in downstream technology classes.

In this paper we develop a new "network measure" to measure the technology spillovers between firms, and the distance between different technology classes is based on citation patterns in AAK. We show that when using the network measure to calculate R&D spillovers, the spillovers from firms that are technologically connected has a positive and significant impact on firm's *R&D* and *patenting*, while spillovers have no significant impact on R&D and smaller impact on patenting when using other measures. This confirms our hypothesis that knowledge spillovers from upstream areas have a significant impact on downstream innovations. However, the R&D spillovers from firms close in technology space has the largest impact on firm's *productivity* and *market value* when we use the Mahalanobis distance measure to calculate spillovers. One explanation is that the network measure measures the pool of knowledge generating "innovation" spillovers which leads to higher innovation output due to a larger knowledge stock to build on, and the Mahalanobis measure measures the pool of knowledge generating "production" spillovers which leads to higher productivity due to technology adoption.

To examine the robustness of our finding, we first separately measure the impacts of spillovers within and across technology fields and show that spillovers across technology fields have a significant impact on firm outcomes. Second, we use patent stock rather than R&D stock as an alternative

measure of firms' knowledge stock. We also study the effects of R&D spillovers over time and show that effects on patenting, market value and productivity persist over a long period.

Finally, we use our measure to study which firms generate the largest spillovers. The results are completely the opposite to BSV: while they find small firms operate in technological niches, we find they are more likely to operate in more upstreamĂİ technology fields. This result suggests that the social return to R&D may be a lot higher than private R&D for small and young firms, and justifies providing R&D subsidies to these firms. In general, since the network measure takes into account the fundamental and upstream research done by firms which provides basis for later on innovations, it would allow us to better characterize the knowledge spillovers that leads to new innovations, and compare private vs. social returns to R&D.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 2 describes the network measure of technological distance between firms. Section 3 outlines a simple model of innovation network and the main empirical specifications. Section 4 describes the data we use. Section 5 and Section 6 presents the empirical results and some specification tests. In Section 7 we use the measure to identify which firms generate and receive the largest spillovers, and we conclude in Section 8.

3.2 The Network Measure of Technological Proximity

The conceptual framework for technology spillovers was first introduced by Griliches in 1979. In his seminal work, technological spillovers arise through a common pool of technological knowledge. Firms make use of the pool of knowledge as an additional input in their production functions. The R&D of one firm both affects the firm's own productivity and indirectly affects the productivity of other firms through the pool of knowledge. Jaffe (1986) introduced a technological distance between firms in order to capture the likelihood that technological spillovers would arise between firms. Two firms are more likely to benefit from R&D of each other if they are technologically close. Specifically, the spillover from firm j to firm i is:

$$SPILLOVER_{ij}^J = TECH_{ij}^J n_j$$

$$TECH_{ij}^J = n_i F_i F_j' = \sum_{\tau} \sum_{\tau'} n_i F_{i\tau} F_{j\tau'}$$

where n_i is number of patents by firm *i*. The $1 \times Y$ vector $F_j = (F_{j1}, ..., F_{j\tau})$ is defined as in BSV, where $F_{j\tau} = \frac{n_{i\tau}}{n_i}$ is the share of patents in technology class τ of all firm *i*'s patents. If we think of n_i as a proxy for the number of scientists in firm *i*, the measure of spillover is exactly the number of encounters between scientists from firm *i* and j^{-1} .

The BSV also extends the Jaffe measure to Mahalanobis measure, which considers technological spillovers between closely related fields.

$$TECH_{ij}^{M} = n_{i}F_{i}\Omega F_{j}' = \sum_{\tau}\sum_{\tau'} n_{i}F_{i\tau}\omega_{\tau\tau'}F_{j\tau'}$$

where $\Omega = [\omega_{\tau\tau'}]$ denotes the $Y \times Y$ matrix that describes the probability of knowledge transfer when two scientists from fields τ and τ' meet, and is based on the extent of co-location of patenting across technology fields.

Both the Jaffe measure and Mahalanobis measure neglects the technology spillovers in the form of "standing on the shoulders of giants", meaning that firms innovating in more upstream and more fundamental technology fields creates larger knowledge spillovers to the rest of the firms in the economy. By considering spillovers from more upstream fields to more downstream fields, my methodology also captures asymmetries in spillovers, which are ruled out by construction in distance measures, like Jaffe and Mahalanobis. Allowing for asymmetric spillover effects is important since, as stated in Syverson (2011) page 349: "Firms are likely to attempt to emulate productivity leaders in their own and closely related industries". That is, spillovers are likely to originate in high productive firms and cascade down to less productive firms.

In particular, we develop a measure of spillover from firm j to firm i based on patent citations

¹The measure of spillover we consider in this paper is the "exposure" measure in BSV, while the traditional Jaffe measure normalizes the uncentered covariance on the standard deviation of the share vectors F. Both measures lead to very similar results as shown in BSV.

network:

$$TECH_{ij}^{N} = n_i F_i CF_j' = \sum_{\tau} \sum_{\tau'} n_i F_{i\tau} C_{\tau\tau'} F_{j\tau'}$$
(3.1)

The $Y \times Y$ matrix C represents the patent citation network in AAK. The element $C_{\tau\tau'}$ is the share of patents in class τ that cites from a patent in class τ' , which is the average number of times a patent in technology class τ' is cited by patents in technology class τ within 10 years of being granted divided by number of patents in technology class τ :

$$C_{\tau\tau'} = \sum_{a=1}^{10} \frac{\text{Citations}_{\tau \to \tau', a}}{\text{Patent}_{\tau'} \text{Patent}_{\tau}}$$

The measure $TECH_{ij}^N$ has an intuitive interpretation: it is the average number of times each patent in firm j gets cited by patents from firm i given the technology class distribution of the two firms. In particular, $F_{j\tau'}$ is the probability of firm j patenting in a particular technology class τ' , and $C_{\tau\tau'}$ is the average share of patents in class τ that cites from this patent given its class τ' , and $n_i F_{i\tau}$ is the number of patents in class τ from firm i.

We can then compute the pool of technology spillover to firm *i* in year *t*:

$$SPILLTECH_{it}^{N} = \sum_{j \neq i} TECH_{ij}G_{jt}, \qquad (3.2)$$

where G_{jt} is the stock of R&D. The number of patent citations from firm *i* to firm *j* thus approximates the knowledge spillovers from firm *j*'s R&D to firm *i*. This network measure will be the baseline measure for technology spillovers in our research. Intuitively, let's say firm *j* invests 1 million in R&D and produces 100 patents, and these 100 patents are cited by 1 patent from firm *i* on average, then our measure says that the 1 million R&D investment of firm *j* generates a technology spillover of 1 patent to firm *i*.

We can also decompose within-class and cross-class spillovers by writing $C = C^D + C^H$, where C^D is a diagonal matrix, and C^H is a matrix with all diagonal elements equal to zero. Then the network measure can be written as: $TECH_{ij}^N = n_i F_i C^D F'_j + n_i F_i C^H F'_j$. There are several caveats with our construction of the network measure of proximity between firms. First, patent citations may not reflect actual knowledge flows. Sometimes citations are added by patent examinees after the patent has been applied, and our measure would overestimate crosstechnology field spillovers if citing other fields are more likely to be added afterwards. Second, the network measure does not deal with measurement errors in assigning technology fields. If patent office examiners erroneously allocate patents in closely related fields, the Mahalanobis measure corrects it by recognizing the fields as close to each other, but the network measure won't recognize them if there are no patent citations between those fields. Finally, this measure does not differentiate between long-term and short-term spillovers. In particular, the R&D stock G_t comprises mostly of recent R&D investments when we choose a 15% depreciation rate, but some spillovers may take effect after more than 5 years, especially if across technology fields, and our measure of *SPILLTECH_{it}* may overweight the R&D investments in more recent years.

3.3 Empirical Strategy

3.3.1 A simple model of innovation network

Suppose firm *i* has a product market competitor firm m_i and a technology neighbor τ_i . Firm *i*'s profit is given by $\pi(x_i, x_m, k_i)$, where x_i is output or quantity, x_m is the output of quantity chosen by the firm's competitor firm m_i , and k_i is knowledge stock (or innovation output). Since in the last stage of each period, each firm chooses price and quantities given each other's knowledge stock, we can write profit as $\Pi(k_i, k_m, k_\tau)$. We generalize the function to also include the innovation output of firm τ to incorporate knowledge spillovers to firm *i*'s productivity without affecting firm *i*'s innovation, for example in the case of firm *i*'s technology and firm τ 's technology being complements in production.

At each period t, firm i produces its innovation with its own R&D, and spillovers from the

R&D of firms to which it is close in the technology space:

$$k_i^t = \phi(r_i^t, k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}) \tag{3.3}$$

The k_{τ}^{t-1} in this function reflects the pool of knowledge that the firm builds its innovation on. The knowledge production function $\phi(.)$ is non-decreasing and concave in each argument. Firm *i* solves the following maximization problem:

$$\max_{r_i^t} V_i^t = \tilde{\Pi}(\phi(r_i^t, k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}), k_m^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}) - c(r_i^t)$$
(3.4)

The function Π is the expectation of firm's profits given the knowledge stock of product market rivals and technology space neighbors at time t - 1.

In this stylized model there are only three firms, but we can easily generalize to the case with many firms. Suppose T is a matrix representing the network of interactions of all the firms in the technology space, and S is a matrix representing the network of interactions in the product space (both matrix has all diagonal elements equal to zero), then we can write:

$$k_{\tau}^{t} = T_{i}\mathbf{k}^{t} = \sum_{j \neq i} T_{ij}k_{j}^{t}, \quad k_{m}^{t} = S_{i}\mathbf{k}^{t} = \sum_{j \neq i} S_{ij}k_{j}^{t}$$

and

$$r_{\tau}^{t} = T_{i}'\mathbf{r}^{t} = \sum_{j \neq i} T_{ij}'r_{j}^{t}$$

T' represents the innovation network, which may be different from T. As we've discussed in Section 2.2, T can be approximated by the Mahalanobis measure, and T' can be approximated by the network measure.

The first order condition of the maximization problem in (4) is: $\tilde{\Pi}_1 \phi_1 = c'(r_0^t)$, and the solution is:

$$r_i^{t*} = R(k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}, k_m^{t-1})$$
(3.5)

Plug this into (3) and we get:

$$k_i^t = \phi(R(k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}, k_m^{t-1}), k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1})$$
(3.6)

The first k_{τ}^{t-1} in the above equation reflects endogenous effect of the innovation of technologically close firms on firm *i*'s R&D: it can arise from the non-linearity of the profit function, or from strategic complementarity (or substitutability)² between R&D of firms with similar technologies. The sign of this effect is ambiguous. The second k_{τ}^{t-1} reflects technology spillover, which has a positive impact on firm *i*'s innovation output. The k_m^t in the equation is the strategic effect of innovation output of product rivals: it has a positive effect if firm *i*'s innovation and its competitor's innovation is strategic complements, and vice versa.

To be able to estimate the model, we assume both $\phi(.)$ and $\Pi(.)$ are linear. As shown in some theoretical literature on networks, many conclusions in the linear case can be generalized to non-linear cases as well. In particular, suppose that the knowledge production function is:

$$k_i^t = \phi(r_i^t, k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}) = (1 - \delta)k_i^{t-1} + \alpha r_i^t + \sigma_i k_\tau^{t-1} + \gamma r_i^t k_\tau^{t-1} + \epsilon_i^t$$
(3.7)

where δ is the depreciation of knowledge stock, α is the return to R&D, σ_i is the direct spillover from R&D of technology neighbors, and γ reflects the strategic complementarity or substitutability of R&D investments between firms that are close in technology space; $\gamma > 0$ if firms can innovate more productively when building on a larger pool of knowledge. The payoff function is:

$$\max_{r_i} V_i^t = \tilde{\Pi}(k_i^t, k_m^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}) - c(r_i) = (\beta_i k_i^t + \mu k_i^t k_m^{t-1} + \eta k_m^{t-1} + \psi k_\tau^{t-1} + \xi_i^t r_i) - \frac{1}{2} \theta r_i^2 \quad (3.8)$$

where $\mu > 0$ in the case of strategic complements, and η is the direct effect of knowledge stock of product market rivals on firm's profits. ψ reflects that firms produce more efficiently when the

²Examples of strategic complements include patent races and complementarity between closely related technologies, and examples of strategic substitutability include decreasing returns from innovating in a field and substitutability between similar technologies.

knowledge stock of their technology neighbors is larger. θ is the R&D cost parameter and may be affected by R&D tax credits. Solving the FOC and the optimal R&D is:

$$r_i^t = \frac{\alpha}{\theta}\beta_i + \frac{1}{\theta}\beta_i\gamma k_\tau^{t-1} + \frac{1}{\theta}(\alpha + \gamma k_\tau^{t-1})\mu k_m^t + \frac{1}{\theta}\xi_i^t$$
(3.9)

For simplicity we assume $\mu \approx 0$, so there is no strategic effects of R&D by product market rivals. We shall verify this in the empirical section. Plug into (7) and we get:

$$k_{i}^{t} - (1 - \delta)k_{i}^{t-1} = \alpha r_{i}^{t} + \sigma_{i}k_{\tau}^{t-1} + \gamma r_{i}^{t}k_{\tau}^{t-1} + \epsilon_{i}^{t}$$
$$= \frac{\theta}{\beta}r_{i}^{t^{2}} + \sigma_{i}k_{\tau}^{t-1} + \epsilon_{i}^{t}$$
(3.10)

$$= \frac{\alpha^2}{\theta}\beta_i + (\frac{2\alpha}{\theta}\beta_i\gamma + \sigma_i)k_{\tau}^{t-1} + \frac{1}{\theta}\beta_i\gamma^2k_{\tau}^{t-1^2} + \tilde{\epsilon}_i^t$$
(3.11)

Finally, the profit is:

$$\pi_i^t = \theta r_i^{t^2} + \beta_i (1 - \delta) k_i^{t-1} + (\sigma_i \beta_i + \psi) k_\tau^{t-1} + \eta k_m^{t-1} + \varepsilon_i^t$$
(3.12)

One difficulty of empirically estimating these equations is how to measure knowledge R&D r^t and stock k^t . In practice R&D may take several years to take effect, so instead of currentperiod R&D, a better approximation would be R&D stock, which is the sum of R&D in recent years. For k^t , BSV approximates knowledge stock using the stock of R&D which is the sum of R&D investments and depreciates over time. This may lead to measurement errors especially for k_m^t : for example, the product market competitor firm m may invest little in R&D but has huge innovation outputs due to spillovers from his technology neighbors, then using R&D stock would underestimate k_m^t . As an alternative I also used the stock of patents as the knowledge stock of a firm. Using patent stock can be problematic too: there are many innovations that are not patented and cannot be captured by patents.

3.3.2 Empirical specifications

The generic equation we are estimating is:

$$\ln Q_{it} = \beta_1 G_{it-1} + \beta_2 \ln SPILLTECH_{it-1} + \beta_3 \ln SPILLSIC_{it-1} + \beta_4 X_{it} + u_{it}$$
(3.13)

where G_t is the stock of R&D, and is a proxy for the stock of knowledge k_t . We also use firms' patent stock to proxy for knowledge stock in robustness checks. The spillovers from technology neighbors *SPILLTECH* is defined in equation (2), and spillovers from product rivals is defined similarly using the Jaffe measure:

$$SPILLSIC_{it} = \sum_{j \neq i} SIC_{ij}G_{jt} = \sum_{j \neq i} n_i S_i S'_j G_{jt}$$
(3.14)

 X_{it} is a vector of controls. To deal with unobserved heterogeneity, we include firm fixed effects (η_i) and year fixed effects (τ_t) in all regressions except patent equations, and allow the error term to be heteroskedastic and serially correlated.

The R&D on the right hand side may be endogenous due to transitory shocks. To address this concern, we follow BSV and use tax-induced changes to the user cost of R&D capital as instrument. The user cost of R&D differs across firms for two reasons: first, different states have different levels of R&D tax credits and corporation tax, which will differentially affect firms depending on their cross-state distribution of R&D activity; second, it also has a firm-specific component, in part because the definition of what qualifies as allowable R&D for tax purposes depends on a firm-specific "base". We use these tax policy instruments to predict R&D, and then use these predicted values to calculate predicted spillovers according to equations (2) and (14). The spillover terms are being instrumented by the values of other firms' tax prices, weighted by their distance in technology and product market space.³

 $^{^{3}}$ The Appendix of BSV provides details of construction of the instrument, and shows that the R&D tax credits are exogenous to changes in economic conditions.

First, we consider the R&D equation where the left hand side variable is R&D intensity:

$$\ln\left(\frac{R}{Y}\right)_{it} = \alpha_2 \ln SPILLTECH_{it-1} + \alpha_3 \ln SPILLSIC_{it-1} + \alpha_4 X_{it}^R + \eta_i^R + \tau_t^R + \nu_{it}^R \quad (3.15)$$

This corresponds to equation (9) in our model. Coefficient α_2 (α_3) is positive when R&D of firms close in technology (product) space is strategic complements, and negative when they are strategic substitutes. The user cost of R&D capital is absorbed in the fixed effects and time dummies. To mitigate endogeneity, we lag the key right hand side variables by one year. We also examine specifications that relax the constant returns assumption, using $\ln R$ as the dependent variable and including $\ln Y$ on the right hand side of the equation.

We then estimate the patent equation using a Negative Binomia Model:

$$P_{it} = \exp(\lambda_1 G_{it-1} + \lambda_2 \ln SPILLTECH_{it-1} + \lambda_3 \ln SPILLSIC_{it-1} + \lambda_4 X_{it}^P + \tau_t^P + \nu_{it}^P) \quad (3.16)$$

This corresponds to equation (10) in our model. Conditional on own R&D, the coefficient λ_2 captures the spillover effects, and λ_3 should be close to zero. To control for firm fixed effects, we include industry fixed effects and "pre-sample mean scaling" to control for fixed effects (it's computationally demanding to estimate a negative binomial model with firm dummies). We used a long pre-sample history (from 1970 to at least 1980) of patenting behavior to construct the pre-sample average. This can then be used as an initial condition to proxy for unobserved heterogeneity under the assumption that the first moments of all the observables are stationary.

The market value equation is a linearization of the value function introduced by Griliches (1981) augmented with our spillover terms:

$$\ln\left(\frac{V}{A}\right)_{it} = \ln\left(1 + \gamma_1 \left(\frac{G}{A}\right)_{it-1}\right) + \gamma_2 \ln SPILLTECH_{it-1} + \gamma_3 \ln SPILLSIC_{it-1} + \gamma_4 X_{it}^V + \eta_i^V + \tau_t^V + \nu_{it}^V + \nu_{it}^V + \gamma_i^V +$$

where V is the market value of a firm, A is the stock of non-R&D assets, G is the R&D stock. The term $\ln\left(1 + \gamma_1 \left(\frac{G}{A}\right)_{it-1}\right)$ is approximated by a sixth order series expansion. Finally, the productivity equation is:

$$\ln Y_{it} = \varphi_1 \ln G_{it-1} + \varphi_2 \ln SPILLTECH_{it-1} + \varphi_3 \ln SPILLSIC_{it-1} + \varphi_4 X_{it}^Y + \eta_i^Y + \tau_t^Y + \nu_{it}^Y$$
(3.18)

This roughly corresponds to equation (12) in our model. The coefficient φ_2 captures two spillover effects: a firm builds on the knowledge of other firms to innovate more and expand its knowledge stock; and it also produces more efficiently using the pool of knowledge as an additional input in their production functions. As in patent equation, conditional on own R&D, R&D of product rivals should have no impact on productivity. However, in practice, we measure output as "real sales" – firm sales divided by an industry price index. Because we do not have information on firm-specific prices, this induces measurement error. If R&D by product market rivals depresses own revenues, the coefficient on *SPILLSIC* may be negative.

3.4 Data

We use firm-level data from North America CompuStat from 1980 to 2001. We then use the matching built by Hall et al. to match patents from USPTO to CompuStat firms (See NBER data archive and Hall, Jaffe, and Trajtenberg (2001)). They contain all the patents granted between January 1963 and December 1999, and all citations made to these patents between 1975 and 1999. This matching from USPTO patents to CompuStat is the best so far, but it still contains many type 1 and type 2 error given the difficulty of cleaning and disambiguating assignee names in patent applications.

The book value of capital is the net stock of property, plant, and equipment. R&D is used to create R&D capital stocks calculated using a perpetual inventory method with a 15% depreciation rate. So the R&D stock, G, in year t is $G_t = R_t + (1 - \delta)G_{t-1}$, where R is the R&D flow expenditure in year t and $\delta = 0.15$. We use deflated sales as our output measure, and industry price deflators were taken from Bartelsman, Becker, and Gray (2000) until 1996 and then the BEA four digit NAICS Shipment Price Deflators thereafter. For Tobin's Q, firm value is the sum of the values of common stock, preferred stock, and total debt net of current assets. The book value of capital includes net plant, property and equipment, inventories, investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, and intangibles other than R&D.

Since our technological distance requires information on patenting, we exclude firms that have no patents between 1963 and 1999, leaving an unbalanced panel of 715 firms. I also exclude patents in three technology classes (1, 395 and 520) that do not exist in the innovation network. The share vectors F is based on the share of patents of each firm over the period 1970 to 1999 in 423 technology classes.⁴

The patent citation matrix (C in equation (1)) is constructed using the citations data used in AAK, which consists of all the patents granted between 1975 and 1984. Since it's different from the time period which we use to construct distance measures, it will induce some measurement errors. Nevertheless, the measurement errors tend to be small as AAK found that patent citation networks are quite stable over time.

Figure 1 compares the network measure with the Jaffe and Mahalanobis measures for $TECH_{ij}$. For each pair of firm, the left figure plots the network measure along with the Jaffe exposure measure, and the right figure plots the network measure along with the Mahalanobis exposure measure. The correlation of network measure with Jaffe measure is 0.79, and with Mahalanobis measure is 0.82. (The correlation between Jaffe and Mahalanobis is 0.90.) This suggests that our network measure is very different from the two measures, and the knowledge spillovers across technology fields though the innovation network is nontrivial.

3.5 Empirical results

3.5.1 R&D equation

Table 1 presents the results for the R&D equation (15). In all specifications we control for log total sales weighted by by SIC matrix and its one-period lag. In Column 1, when we do not include

⁴BSV rounded the percent shares to the nearest integer to reduce memory size, but I didn't do the approximation.

firm fixed effects, both technology spillover *SPILLTECH* and product market spillover *SPILLSIC* have large and significant positive impact on R&D. In Column 2 we include firm fixed effects, and both coefficients get smaller, but still positive and significant. The Hausman test rejects the null of random effects versus fixed effects (p-value<0.001). The positive effects indicate that R&D among product rivals and technology neighbors are strategic complements. In Column 3 we use the Mahalanobis measure to calculate technological distance, and in Column 4 we use the network measure defined in Section 2 to calculate technological distance. In both columns *SPILLSIC* remains positive, and a 10 percent increase in R&D of product rivals is associated with 0.6 to 1 percent increase in the firm's R&D intensity; the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is mildly negative for Mahalanobis measure, and positive for network measure. To relax the constant returns assumption, we use ln(R&D) as the dependent variable and added ln(Sales) to the right hand side, and get very similar results.⁵

In Columns 5 to 7, we treat *SPILLTECH* and *SPILLSIC* as endogenous and use R&D tax credits as instruments. The first stage for both variables are strong. In all three columns, the coefficients on *SPILLTECH* is positive, and is significant for Jaffe and network measures, suggesting that own and technology neighbor's R&D are strategic complements. OLS are biased toward zero; one reason is measurement errors, and mobility of scientists and engineers across firms may result in negative correlation between R&D of firms that innovate in similar technological fields. In the last column, when we are using the network measure, R&D of technology neighbors has very large positive impact on own R&D: a 10 percent increase in *SPILLTECH* leads to 3.7% increase in own R&D. This suggests that own R&D responds strongly to the knowledge stock of "upstream" firms, and a firm invests more on R&D when there is a larger pool of knowledge to build on.

Throughout the last three columns, the coefficient on *SPILLSIC* is negative and insignificant, suggesting that there is very weak strategic effects between own and product market rival's R&D, which supports the assumption that $\mu \approx 0$ in our model. OLS estimates are biased upwards due to common shocks that affect firms in the same industry.

⁵For example, when using Jaffe measure, the coefficient (standard error) of *SPILLTECH* is 0.099(0.066), and of *SPILLSIC* is 0.088(0.035).

3.5.2 Patent equation

Table 2 presents the results for the citation-weighted patents equation. The first column shows that spillovers from technology neighbors have a positive and significant impact on patenting, and spillovers from product rivals, which theoretically have zero impact on patenting, has a positive but much smaller coefficient.

In Columns 2 to 4, we control for firm fixed effects by using the Blundell, Griffith, and Van Reenen (1999) method of conditioning on the pre-sample, citation-weighted patents. This method relaxes the strict exogeneity assumption underlying the approach of Hausman, Hall, and Griliches (1984). We also used the approach of Hausman, Hall, and Griliches (1984) to control for firm fixed effects in negative binomial regressions, and the results are similar.⁶ For all three measures of technological proximity, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is positive and significant, and the coefficient on *SPILLSIC* is close to zero, which is consistent with the theory.

In the last three columns, we treat R&D spillovers as endogenous, and the coefficients don't change much. In all specifications we used citation-weighted patents as the dependent variable, and the results are roughly similar if we use unweighted patent counts: for Jaffe measure, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is 0.488 (standard error=0.040), and on *SPILLSIC* is 0.069 (standard error=0.018), which is close to the results in Column 2.

In Column 4 and Column 7, when we use network measure of technological proximity between firms, we get larger effects of *SPILLTECH* than using the other two measures. This is most likely due to smaller measurement errors, since by incorporating the R&D spillovers from "upstream" technological fields, we get a more precise measure of R&D spillovers from technology neighbor firms. In an unreported regression, when we include all three measures as regressors, only the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* using the network measure is positive and significant.⁷

⁶The coefficient (standard error) on SPILLTECH is 0.259(0.021), and on SPILLSIC is -0.004(0.012).

⁷The coefficient (standard error) of *SPILLTECH* constructed using Jaffe, Mahalanobis, and network measure is 0.154(0.128), 0.160(0.170), and 0.519(0.092).

3.5.3 Market value equation

Table 3 shows the results of the market value equation. In Column 1, without the firm fixed effects, both *SPILLTECH* and *SPILLSIC* have a positive effect on firm's market value. The sign of coefficient on *SPILLSIC* turned negative but insignificant once we control for firm fixed effects in Column 2. The Hausman test rejects the null of random effects against fixed effects with p-value equal to 0.058. The R&D spillovers from technologically related firms is positive and significant: a 10% increase in *SPILLTECH* is associated with about 1.7% increase in market value. In Column 3, we estimated fixed effects regression using the Mahalanobis distance measure, and the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* rises substantially. This suggests that the Mahalanobis measure reduces attenuation bias by more accurately weighting the distance between technology fields. In Column 4 we used the network distance measure, and results are similar to the Jaffe distance measure. Columns 5 to 7 present the results of the 2SLS regressions using R&D tax credits as instruments. The coefficients on *SPILLTECH* are positive and significant, and have larger magnitudes than OLS regressions. Coefficients are similar for all three distance measures, and largest for the Mahalanobis measure.

Throughout the regressions, the coefficient on *SPILLSIC* is negative, but the product market rivalry effects of R&D on market value is not statistically significant. The third row shows that higher R&D investments increases a firm's market value. A 10 percent increase in own R&D stock increases market value by 3 percent, as compared to a 5 to 7 percent increase in market value caused by a 10 percent increase in R&D spillovers from technologically close firms.

3.5.4 Productivity equation

Finally, Table 4 summarizes the results for the productivity equation. In Column 1, without firm fixed effects, both *SPILLTECH* and *SPILLSIC* have negative coefficients. In Column 2, when we control for firm fixed effects, *SPILLTECH* has a positive effect on productivity, and *SPILLSIC* has nearly zero effect on productivity, which is consistent with the theory. The Hausman test again rejects random effects with p-value less than 0.001.

In Column 3 we use the Mahalanobis distance measure, and in Column 4 we use the network distance measure. As in market value equations, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is the largest when we use the Mahalanobis measure.

In the last three columns, we treat the R&D spillovers as endogenous, and the results don't change much. Notably, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is no longer significant when we use the network distance measure and instrument for the R&D spillovers.

3.5.5 Summary of empirical results

In Table 1 to Table 4 we redo the empirical analysis of BSV using the Jaffe and Mahalanobis exposure distance measure and the network distance measure constructed in Section 2. The results using Jaffe and Mahalanobis exposure measures are similar to the results in BSV which uses Jaffe and Mahalanobis correlation measures. The results are consistent with our model: higher R&D by firms close in technology space is associated with higher patenting, market value and productivity, while higher R&D by firms close in product space (weakly) diminishes market value and has no effect on patenting or productivity. Own R&D is strategic complements with R&D by firms operating in similar or "upstream" technology fields, and is neither strategic substitutes nor strategic complements with R&D by product market rivals.

In R&D and patent equations, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is the largest when using the network distance measure; in market value and productivity equations, the coefficient on *SPILLTECH* is the largest when using the Mahalanobis measure. Higher R&D of firms operating in upstream technological fields increases a firm's own R&D and patenting, but has much smaller effects on productivity or market value.

These can be interpreted using our model. In the model there are two kinds of spillovers from technologically connected firms: one is "innovation" spillover (σ_i and γ in equation (7)), which leads to higher innovation output due to knowledge accumulation; the other is "production" spillover (ψ in equation (8)), which leads to higher productivity due to technology adoption (note that the "innovation spillover" γ does not appear directly in productivity equation (12)). The pool of knowledge generating the "innovation" spillover is more precisely measured by network distance measure, while the pool of knowledge generating the "production" spillover is better characterized by the Mahalanobis distance measure. For example, communications is an upstream technology field of computer technology, and R&D by AT&T would lead to higher patenting of a firm producing computers, but may not have direct effects on productivity of these firms. On the other hand, suppose technology A and B are complements in production, R&D of firm 1 in technology A leads to higher productivity of firm 2 which innovates in the technology B. When calculating *SPILL-TECH* for firm 2, Mahalanobis measure would take into account firm 1's R&D, which would be ignored by network measure if there is no patent citations from technology B to technology A.

3.6 Robustness and Extensions

3.6.1 Decomposing within-class and cross-class technology spillovers

Among the three distance measures, Jaffe measure only considers technology spillovers within technology classes, while Mahalanobis and network measure also considers technology spillovers across technology classes: Mahalanobis considers spillovers from closely related fields, and network measure considers "upstream" fields that patents in the technology field cite from. One concern is that the effects of *SPILLTECH* in regressions using the Malahanobis and network distance measures are driven by within-class technology spillovers.

To assess the importance of technology spillovers across technology fields we decompose the Mahalanobis measure into within-class (diagonal) and cross-class (non-diagonal) components:

$$TECH_{ij}^{M} = n_i F_i \Omega F'_j = n_i F_i F'_j + n_i F_i (\Omega - I) F'_j = TECH_{ij}^{J} + TECH_{ij}^{M-Cross}$$

Note that the within-class component is exactly the Jaffe distance measure. We can also do the same decomposition for the network distance measure.

Table 5 presents the results for within and cross class technology spillovers separately. We report OLS results, and using tax credits as instruments also yields similar results. Column 1

repeats the results for Jaffe distance measure. Column 2 uses only the cross class component of network measure as the measure of *SPILLTECH*. The cross class technology spillovers alone still have a positive and significant impact on R&D, patenting, market value and productivity, which is of similar magnitude as the impact of within-class technology spillovers. For instance, in panel A, a 10 percent increase in within class R&D spillovers is associated with a 1 percent increase in own R&D intensity, while a 10 percent increase in cross class R&D spillovers is associated with a 1.5 percent increase in own R&D intensity.

In Column 3 we include both within-class (same as Jaffe) and cross class component of R&D spillovers measured using network measure. In R&D equation, the coefficient on within-class *SPILLTECH* is small and insignificant, and the coefficient on cross-class *SPILLTECH* is positive and significant, suggesting that R&D responds strongly to R&D by firms operating in "upstream" technology fields. This is consistent with the finding in AAK that about half of the patent citations are from outside the technology class. Cross-class spillovers also has a larger impact on market value and patenting than within-class spillovers. However, cross-class spillovers has a smaller impact than within-class spillovers on productivity, since the cross-class citation patterns fail to capture the "production" spillovers.

In the last column, we include cross-class component of both network and Mahalanobis distance measure to see which is a better characterization of the spillovers across technology fields. Not surprisingly, the network measure has the largest coefficient in R&D and patent equations, and the Mahalanobis measure has the largest coefficient in market value and productivity equations. In R&D and patent equations, within-class and cross-class spillovers both have positive and significant impact, and are of similar magnitudes. However, the coefficient on within-class spillovers is negative and significant in market value equation, and is insignificant in productivity equation. One reason is that firms that are close in technology space using Jaffe measure have a lot of overlap with firms that are close in technology space using Mahalanobis measure (correlation between Jaffe and Mahalanobis measure is 0.9), so *SPILLTECH* using Mahalanobis measure is highly correlated with *SPILLTECH* using Jaffe measure even after subtracting the within-class component.

3.6.2 Using patent stock as knowledge stock

So far we have followed BSV and use the R&D stock to approximate knowledge stock k_t . R&D may not measure knowledge stock accurately, for example, some firms may possess a big knowledge stock despite little investment in R&D if they are very productive in research or they benefit from a lot of spillovers from other firms. A more direct measure of knowledge stock would be to use the stock of patents owned by a firm, and spillovers can be calculated as:

$$SPILLTECH_{it}^{N} = \sum_{j \neq i} TECH_{ij}P_{jt}$$
$$SPILLSIC_{it}^{N} = \sum_{i \neq i} SIC_{ij}P_{jt}$$

where P_{jt} is the accumulated unweighted number of patents of firm j at year t, and is calculated using perpetual inventory method with a 15% depreciation rate. The patent stock may not accurately measure the knowledge stock either, as part of knowledge stock (like scientists, management practices) are not captured by number of patents.

The results are presented in Table 6. In Column 1 to Column 3, we calculate *SPILLTECH* using all the three distance measures respectively, and in the last column all three measures are included as regressors. In R&D equation, only *SPILLTECH* using the network distance measure has positive and significant coefficient, suggesting that firms' R&D responds positively to patent stock of firms operating in "upstream" technological fields but not patent stock of firms operating in similar technological fields.

The overall results are very similar to using R&D stock to measure knowledge stock. All three measures of *SPILLTECH* has a positive and significant effect on patenting, market value and productivity. The network measure performs the best in patent equation, while the Mahalanobis measure performs the best in market value and productivity equations.

3.6.3 Persistence of technology spillovers over time

In this subsection we study the effects of technology spillovers over time. Technology diffusion happens gradually, especially if across technology fields. AAK shows that in the first year after invention, 62% of the downstream citations come from the same patent class, and 81% are from the same patent category; after ten years, only 51% of citations are from the same patent class, and 75% from the same category.

In Table 7, we use the measure of R&D spillovers *SPILLTECH* lagged by 1 year, 5 years and 10 years as regressors separately. Each element in the table is a separate OLS regression (regressions using IV yield qualitatively similar results). The effect of *SPILLTECH* on own R&D becomes insignificant after five or ten years. Nevertheless, the impact of *SPILLTECH* on patenting, market value and productivity tend to persist after five or ten years. In patent equations, a one percent increase in R&D spillovers from firms in upstream and similar technology fields is associated with a nearly one percent increase in patenting even after 10 years. This implies that technology diffusion is slow and R&D has a long-lasting impact on future innovation.

In market value equation, the effect of *SPILLTECH* more than doubled after 10 years, suggesting that market value reacts slowly to changes in innovation. In productivity equations, *SPILL-TECH* using the network measure has a smaller coefficient than the other two measures when lagged by one year, but has a larger coefficient than other measures when lagged by ten years. This is consistent with the view that "innovation" spillovers across technology fields takes a longer time to have effects on productivity than "production" spillovers where new technologies can be adopted immediately.

In the last row of each panel, I used the R&D spillovers of five years later as a falsification exercise. In R&D, market value and productivity equations, all the coefficients on *SPILLTECH* become statistically insignificant except for one case (Mahalanobis measure in productivity equation). *SPILLTECH* still has a positive and significant impact on patenting, but the magnitude is less than one third of the coefficients on lags of R&D spillovers. This confirms that the effect of R&D spillovers from technologically close firms on firm outcomes that we found is credible and

not purely driven by common shocks.

3.7 Which Firms Generate and Receive the Largest Spillovers?

The network measure gives us a simple measure of the spillover of a firm's knowledge stock to other firms: the predicted number of times the firm's patents get cited by other patents. From equation (1) we can write it as:

$$CITE_{i} = \sum_{j \neq i} TECH_{ji}^{N} = \sum_{j \neq i} n_{j}F_{j}CF_{i}' \approx \sum n_{j}F_{j}CF_{i}' = \tilde{C}F_{i}'$$
(3.19)

where $\bar{C}_{\tau\tau'} = N_{\tau}C_{\tau\tau'}$. The predicted average citations of a firm's patents is determined only by a firm's distribution of technology classes, and it is larger when the firm innovates in more "upstream" technology classes.

Figure 2 plots the actual average citations per patent along with the predicted citations per patent of each firm. The left panel contains all 796 firms in the sample. The trending line shows that the actual citations per patent increase by 1.5 when the predicted citations per patent increase by one. This specification explains about 34% of the variation in actual citations per patent. The actual citations per patent is below the 45 degree line because the number of citations is truncated by the sample period, and the distribution of number of citations is right skewed. Since the average citations is more volatile for small firms, the right panel of Figure 2 contains 277 firms that have more than 100 patents. The actual average citations is more aligned with predicted citations, and the technology class distribution of a firm accounts for 56% of the variation in average citations per patent.

BSV claims that smaller firms generate less spillovers because they innovate in technological niches where few other firms innovate in. In Table 8 we also divide firms into quartiles by employment size and calculate the mean measures for spillovers within each quartile. In line with BSV's conclusion, the average Jaffe and Mahalanobis measure of *TECH* increases with firm size. Nevertheless, both the network measure and the cross-class component of network measure are largest

for the smallest quartile. This suggests that although smaller firms operate in less technological fields and have less overlap with other firms, they are also more likely to operate in more "up-stream" technological fields, which generates large knowledge spillovers to the other firms. The largest firms also generate more spillovers than medium-sized firms. This is consistent with some literature on reallocation which finds that smaller (and younger) firms are more innovative and an R&D subsidy to entrants and small firms is welfare-improving.

There are some other interesting insights from using the network measure. Using the citation network matrix C, we can rank all the technology classes from "upstream" to "downstream" using the average number of citations each patent in that class gets. For example, the most upstream technology field is "Data Processing: Artificial Intelligence": each patent in this field are cited 5.3 times within 10 years, half from within the field and half from outside the field. Nearly all the top 10 upstream technology fields are in the computer software and data processing category. We can also rank the firms from technologically upstream to downstream based on their technology field distributions. Among the top 100 upstream firms that generates the largest spillovers, more than 70% are from five three-digit (SIC) industries: Surgical, Medical, and Dental Instruments and Supplies (384), Electronic Components and Accessories (367), Computer and Office Equipment (357), Drugs (283), and Computer Programming, Data Processing, and other Computer Related Services (737).

In Table 9 we divided firms into quantiles based on innovation intensity. The innovation intensity is calculated as the total number of patents from from 1970 to 1999 divided by the number of employees. Firms with higher innovation intensity are on average smaller, and generated larger spillovers to other firms. Comparing Column 3 and Column 4, the firms in the highest quantile and second highest quantile have similar nearly the same *TECH* on average when using Jaffe and Mahalanobis measure, but the highest quantile have much larger *TECH* measured by the network measure. This suggests that firms that are most intensive in research and innovation tend to also research more in upstream technological fields.

On the other hand, to study the spillovers a firm receives, consider the knowledge production

function from Section 3:

$$k_i^t = \phi(r_i^t, k_i^{t-1}, k_\tau^{t-1}) = \phi(r_i^t, k_i^{t-1}, T_i \mathbf{k}^{t-1})$$

The spillover term is:

$$T_{i}k^{t-1} = \sum_{j \neq i} \textit{TECH}_{ij}k_{j}^{t-1} \propto \sum_{j \neq i} F_{i}CF_{j}'k_{j}^{t-1} \approx F_{i}C(\sum_{j} F_{j}'k_{j}^{t-1}) = (\sum_{j} k_{j}^{t-1})F_{i}CF_{all}'$$

where F_{all} is the technology class distribution of all the firms.

The term $F_i CF'_{all}$ is the measure of the technology spillovers of all other firms' R&D on firm *i*. We calculated this measure for all firms in the CompuStat sample, and Table 8 and Table 9 presents the results for firm quantiles of employment and innovation intensity respectively. Loosely speaking, the predicted citations per patent measures how "upstream" in the technology space the firm is, and the spillovers from other firms measures how technologically "downstream" the firm is. Since spillovers within technology classes are hard to interpret, we also included measures for only cross-class spillovers.

Last two rows of Table 8 shows that smaller firms receive more spillovers from other firms than large firms. Table 9 suggests that firms with lower innovation intensity receive more spillovers from other firms. This may be explained by endogenous technology choices. If firms could direct their research and choose the technology class distribution F_i , then for small firms and firms with low R&D intensity, spillovers from other firms are more important in the knowledge production, and they benefit more from choosing more "downstream" technology fields.

Table 8 and Table 9 show that small firms are the largest sources and the largest receivers of technology spillovers, since they populate in the most upstream and downstream technological fields. This comes from the asymmetry of the network measure. In contrast, in BSV small firms operate in technological niches, so they would generate and receive the smallest spillovers. Our result is similar to the findings of Manresa (2013), who estimated unknown network relationships between firms using the same data, and found that sources of spillovers are on average small firms

with low employment and market value, and have higher R&D intensity and patent citations.

8. Conclusion

In this paper we develop a new measure of technological distance between firms based on the patent citations network in AAK. Unlike Jaffe and Mahalanobis measure, the network measure is asymmetric: firms doing research in upstream technology classes generate knowledge spillovers to firms doing research in downstream technology classes because new innovations builds on past achievements, but not vice versa.

We then use this measure to estimate the effects of R&D of firms close in technology space or product space on firm's R&D, patenting, market value and productivity. We do not find significant product rivalry effect, but R&D spillovers from firms close in technology space have a positive and significant impact on market value, productivity and patenting. When using the network distance measure we constructed, the R&D spillovers from upstream firms also has a positive and significant impact on R&D. The spillovers using the network measure also have the largest impact on patenting, though the spillovers using the Mahalanobis measure have the largest impact on market value and productivity. This together with our model suggests that the network measure is a more accurate measure of the technology spillovers that future innovations builds on, while Mahalanobis measure better captures technology adoption in production.

We view this as a first step in understanding the micro-foundations of the innovation network. While AAK established the network relationships between technology classes, little is known of how firms innovating in different technology classes interact with each other and how this affects the aggregate innovations in the economy. By using the network measure instead of Jaffe or Mahalanobis measure, we put firms on a directed innovation network rather than a technology space. Firms' R&D decisions form a game over the innovation network, and we already presents some evidence that firm's R&D responds positively to R&D of upstream firms.

Studying firm interactions over the innovation network is important in many ways. First, we can identify which firms generate the largest spillovers to other firms and how large the spillovers

are, which is crucial for designing R&D tax policies and is the main motivation of most studies on R&D spillovers. Second, it can help us understand better the aggregate effect of shocks on innovation by looking at how shocks are transmitted through the innovation network to upstream and downstream firms. For example, if some shocks (for example, Chinese imports competition or financial crisis) affects the R&D and innovation of a subset of firms adversely, then the R&D and innovation of firms operating in downstream technology fields of the affected firms will suffer too.

One future direction would be to refine the measure by backing out the unknown network relationships between firms, like Manresa (2013), since some of the knowledge flows are not captured by patent citations. It would also be interesting to compare the network relationship identified using the firm outcomes and the network measure constructed in this paper and other measures of technological distance.

3.8 Figures and Tables



(b) Network and Mahalanobis

Figure 1: Comparing Jaffe, Mahalanobis and Network Measures



(a) All firms



(b) Firms with more than 100 patents

Figure 2: Actual and Predicted Citations Per Patent

Table 1 R&D Equation										
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)			
Specification	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	2SLS	2SLS	2SLS			
Distance measure	Jaffe	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network	Jaffe	Malahanobis	s network			
In(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}	0.438	0.099	-0.008	0.187	0.192	0.085	0.370			
	(0.029)	(0.068)	(0.087)	(0.076)	(0.105)	(0.113)	(0.104)			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.369	0.084	0.106	0.068	-0.055	-0.008	-0.104			
	(0.013)	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.034)	(0.073)	(0.070)	(0.069)			
					IV 1st stage F-tests					
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}					220.6	795.6	383.4			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}					30.6	40.5	24.4			
Firm fixed effects	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes			
Number of obs	8,579	8,579	8,579	8,579	8,579	8,579	8,579			

			Table 2							
Patent Equation										
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)			
Specification	Neg. Bin.	Neg. Bin.	Neg. Bin.	Neg. Bin.	NB IV	NB IV	NB IV			
Distance measure	Jaffe	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network			
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}	0.548	0.621	0.709	0.841	0.622	0.718	0.848			
	(0.037)	(0.040)	(0.045)	(0.049)	(0.042)	(0.046)	(0.050)			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.069	0.085	0.064	0.037	0.083	0.057	0.029			
	(0.023)	(0.023)	(0.022)	(0.023)	(0.025)	(0.023)	(0.024)			
ln(R&D Stock) _{t-1}	0.048	0.040	0.068	0.050	0.041	0.044	0.072			
	(0.032)	(0.035)	(0.033)	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.035)	(0.034)			
					IV 1st stage F-tests					
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}					229.7	490.2	205.5			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}					58.9	13.8	14.0			
Pre-sample FE	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes			
Number of obs	9,046	9,046	9,046	9,046	9,046	9,046	9,046			
			Table 3							
--------------------------------------	----------------------	---------	-------------	---------	---------	-------------	---------			
Market Value Equation										
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)			
Specification	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	2SLS	2SLS	2SLS			
Distance measure	Jaffe	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network			
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}	0.061	0.171	0.510	0.204	0.547	0.722	0.523			
	(0.017)	(0.082)	(0.105)	(0.090)	(0.129)	(0.128)	(0.132)			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.062	-0.024	-0.036	-0.025	-0.039	-0.028	-0.030			
	(0.006)	(0.026)	(0.025)	(0.026)	(0.071)	(0.068)	(0.071)			
In(R&D Stock/Capital) _{t-1}	0.644	0.323	0.330	0.312	0.316	0.336	0.294			
	(0.138)	(0.174)	(0.174)	(0.174)	(0.174)	(0.174)	(0.174)			
	IV 1st stage F-tests									
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}					195.3	946.2	411.6			
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}					40.9	41.3	35.9			
Firm fixed effects	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes			
Number of obs	12,561	12,561	12,561	12,561	12,561	12,561	12,561			

			Table 4				
Productivity Equation							
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Specification	OLS	OLS	OLS	OLS	2SLS	2SLS	2SLS
Distance measure	Jaffe	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network	Jaffe	Malahanobis	network
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}	-0.026	0.141	0.237	0.116	0.128	0.185	0.031
	(0.009)	(0.041)	(0.053)	(0.045)	(0.074)	(0.072)	(0.066)
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	-0.015	-0.006	-0.006	-0.002	0.025	0.019	0.064
	(0.004)	(0.012)	(0.011)	(0.012)	(0.056)	(0.055)	(0.054)
In(R&D Stock) _{t-1}	0.061	0.043	0.042	0.044	0.042	0.042	0.043
	(0.005)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)
	IV 1st stage F-tests						
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1}					84.8	1082.9	440.9
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}					17.2	61.9	54.5
Firm fixed effects	no	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Number of obs	9,949	9,949	9,949	9,949	9,949	9,949	9,949

Comparing within and	Cross Class	Technology :	spillovers	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
A. R&D Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.099		0.017	0.278
	(0.068)		(0.116)	(0.126)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network cross		0.152	0.135	0.358
		(0.087)	(0.147)	(0.155)
In(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Mahalanobis cross				-0.661
				(0.154)
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.084	0.081	0.080	0.071
	(0.035)	(0.034)	(0.035)	(0.035)
B. Patent Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.621		0.370	0.269
	(0.040)		(0.052)	(0.101)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network cross		0.757	0.426	0.363
		(0.048)	(0.064)	(0.082)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Mahalanobis cross				0.163
				(0.144)
In(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.085	0.078	0.048	0.047
	(0.023)	(0.024)	(0.022)	(0.022)
C. Market Value Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.171		-0.063	-0.422
	(0.082)		(0.125)	(0.161)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network cross		0.356	0.411	0.080
		(0.106)	(0.160)	(0.167)
In(SPILLTECH), -Mahalanobis cross				0.990
				(0.209)
ln(SPILLSIC).	-0.024	-0.029	-0.026	-0.013
	(0.026)	(0.025)	(0.026)	(0.027)
D. Productivity Equation			· · · ·	,
In(SPILLTECH), 1-Jaffe	0.141		0.132	0.027
	(0.041)		(0.057)	(0.076)
In(SPILLTECH)network cross	· · ·	0.135	0.015	-0.140
		(0.052)	(0.072)	(0.076)
In(SPILLTECH) Mahalanobis cross		(,	(111-)	0.354
				(0.108)
ln(SPILLSIC)	-0.006	0.0004	-0.006	-0.003
$\prod_{j=1}^{n} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \prod_{j$	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)
	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)	(0.012)

Table 5 Comparing Within and Cross Class Technology Spillovers

	Table 6			
Using Paten	t Stock as Kno	wledge Stock	<u> </u>	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
A. R&D Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	-0.001			-0.194
	(0.038)			(0.089)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Mahalanobis		0.017		-0.005
		(0.051)		(0.112)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network			0.065	0.252
			(0.041)	(0.071)
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.026	0.023	0.014	0.020
	(0.018)	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.017)
B. Patent Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.599			0.247
	(0.041)			(0.124)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Mahalanobis		0.663		-0.013
		(0.045)		(0.159)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network			0.836	0.599
			(0.050)	(0.092)
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.111	0.089	0.043	0.035
	(0.025)	(0.024)	(0.024)	(0.023)
C. Market Value Equation				
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.077			-0.549
	(0.071)			(0.189)
In(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Mahalanobis		0.251		0.630
		(0.105)		(0.242)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network			0.175	0.280
			(0.082)	(0.182)
ln(SPILLSIC) _{t-1}	0.017	0.009	0.008	0.018
	(0.022)	(0.021)	(0.022)	(0.022)
D. Productivity Equation	. ,			. ,
In(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -Jaffe	0.129			0.030
	(0.037)			(0.099)
ln(SPILLTECH), 1-Mahalanobis	```	0.181		0.118
		(0.050)		(0.119)
ln(SPILLTECH) _{t-1} -network		· · /	0.138	0.026
			(0.041)	(0.073)
ln(SPILLSIC).	0.014	0.016	0.015	0.014
	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.013)	(0.013)

	Eff	rable /	Over Time		
			Patent	Market Value	Productivity
A Network				Warket varae	Troductivity
In(SPIL	LTECH).	0.187	0.841	0.204	0.116
		(0.076)	(0.049)	(0.090)	(0.045)
In(SPIL	LTECH).	0.093	0.980	0.331	0.069
		(0.083)	(0.059)	(0.111)	(0.054)
ln(SPILI	LTECH).	0.147	0.945	0.696	0.171
	1-10	(0.142)	(0.075)	(0.282)	(0.098)
ln(SPILI	LTECH) ₁₊₅	0.169	0.237	-0.022	-0.120
X	705	(0.159)	(0.025)	(0.088)	(0.175)
B. Jaffe		· · · · ·			. ,
ln(SPIL	LTECH) _{t-1}	0.099	0.621	0.171	0.141
		(0.068)	(0.040)	(0.082)	(0.041)
ln(SPIL	LTECH) _{t-5}	0.039	0.724	0.424	0.110
		(0.074)	(0.051)	(0.101)	(0.050)
ln(SPILI	LTECH) _{t-10}	0.107	0.662	0.753	0.166
		(0.127)	(0.068)	(0.270)	(0.097)
ln(SPILI	LTECH) _{t+5}	0.202	0.251	-0.082	0.090
		(0.181)	(0.024)	(0.080)	(0.187)
C. Mahalanobis					
ln(SPIL	LTECH) _{t-1}	-0.008	0.709	0.510	0.237
		(0.087)	(0.045)	(0.105)	(0.053)
ln(SPIL	LTECH) _{t-5}	-0.018	0.825	0.735	0.109
		(0.090)	(0.055)	(0.123)	(0.062)
ln(SPIL1	LTECH) _{t-10}	0.050	0.760	1.036	0.124
		(0.161)	(0.074)	(0.230)	(0.119)
ln(SPILI	LTECH) _{t+5}	0.123	0.252	-0.061	0.387
		(0.219)	(0.024)	(0.127)	(0.198)

Table 7

	Table 8			
Average Measures of	f Spillovers in	Firm Size Qu	artiles	
Quartile	1	2	3	4
Median number of employees	685	3,398	10,442	50,000
Avg. Jaffe TECH	0.027	0.031	0.035	0.050
Avg. Malahanobis TECH	0.105	0.121	0.143	0.213
Avg. Predicted average citations per patent (Network TECH)	1.054	1.000	0.994	1.010
Avg. Cross-class network TECH	5.393	5.104	5.143	5.269
Avg. spillovers from all other firms	1.183	1.110	1.107	1.088
Avg. cross-class spillovers from all other firms	0.577	0.534	0.54	0.515

Note: the number of employees is measured at the year with the maximum number of employees.

Average Measures of Spillo	vers in Quarti	les of Innovat	ion Intensity	
Quartile (by innovation intensity)	1	2	3	4
Median number of patents	5	25	110	191
Median number of employees	11,029	4,791	5,700	2,727
Avg. Jaffe TECH	0.026	0.033	0.042	0.042
Avg. Malahanobis TECH	0.096	0.131	0.174	0.180
Avg. Predicted average citations per patent (Network <i>TECH</i> normalized)	0.97	0.993	1.010	1.085
Avg. Cross-class network TECH	4.993	5.044	5.201	5.674
Avg. spillovers from all other firms	1.153	1.111	1.099	1.126
Avg. cross-class spillovers from all other firms	0.597	0.537	0.520	0.512

T-1-1-0
lable 9
Mangurag of Spillovars in Quartilas of Innovatio

Note: innovation intensity is measured by the number of patents divided by the number of employees.

Bibliography

- [1] Acemoglu, Daron, Ufuk Akcigit, and William R. Kerr. 2014a. "The Innovation Network." *Working paper*.
- [2] Acemoglu, Daron, Camilo Garcia-Jimeno, and James A. Robinson. (2014b). "State Capacity and Economic Development: A Network Approach", *MIT Working Paper*.
- [3] Bartelsman, Eric, Randy Becker, and Wayne Gray. (2000). NBER Productivity Database.
- [4] Bloom, Nicholas, Mark Schankerman, and John Van Reenen. (2013). "Identifying Technology Spillovers and Product Market Rivalry", *Econometrica*, 81(4), 1347–1393.
- [5] Blundell, Richard, Rachel Griffith, and John Van Reenen. (1999). "Market Shares, Market Value and Innovation in a Panel of British Manufacturing Firms", *Review of Economic Studies*, 66, 529–554.
- [6] Ellison, Glenn, Edward L. Glaeser, and William R. Kerr. (2010). "What Causes Industry Agglomeration? Evidence from Coagglomeration Patterns", *American Economic Review*, 100, 1195–1213.
- [7] Griliches, Zvi. (1979). "Issues in Assessing the Contribution of Research and Development Expenditures to Productivity Growth", *Bell Journal of Economics*, 10 (1), 92–116.
- [8] Griliches, Zvi. (1981). "Market Value, R&D and Patents", Economic Letters, 7, 183–187.

- [9] Hall, Bronwyn, Adam Jaffe, and Manuel Trajtenberg. (2001). "The NBER Patent Citation Data File: Lessons, Insights and Methodological Tools", NBER Working Paper 8498.
- [10] Hausman, Jerry, Bronwyn Hall, and Zvi Griliches. (1984). "Econometric Models for Count Data and an Application to the Patents – R&D Relationship", *Econometrica*, 52, 909–938.
- [11] Jaffe, Adam. (1986). "Technological Opportunity and Spillovers of R&D: Evidence From Firms' Patents, Profits and Market Value", *American Economic Review*, 76, 984–1001.
- [12] Manresa, Elena. (2013). "Estimating the Structure of Social Interactions Using Panel Data", Working Paper.
- [13] Syverson, Chad. (2011). "What determines productivity at the micro level?", *Journal of Economic Literature*, 49:2, 326–365.